

DERA Rohstoffinformationen





Certifying Natural Resources – A Comparative Study on Global Standards and Certification Schemes for Sustainability

Part II – Empirical Assessment of Case Studies





DERA Rohstoffinformationen

Certifying Natural Resources – A Comparative Study on Global Standards and Certification Schemes for Sustainability

Part II - Empirical Assessment of Case Studies

Editor: Deutsche Rohstoffagentur (DERA)

in der Bundesanstalt für Geowissenschaften und Rohstoffe (BGR)

Wilhelmstr. 25 – 30

13593 Berlin

Telephone: +49 (0)30 36993 226 Telefax: +49 (0)30 36993 100 kontaktbuero-rohstoffe@bgr.de

Authors: Anna Stetter, M.A.

Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München Münchner Zentrum für Governance-Forschung

Lehrstuhl für Global Governance

Schönfeldstr. 13a 80539 München

anna.stetter@mcg.lmu.de

Bernhard Zangl, Prof. Dr.

Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München

Geschwister-Scholl-Institut für Politikwissenschaft

Lehrstuhl für Global Governance

Oettingenstr. 67 80538 München

bernhard.zangl@gsi.uni-muenchen.de

Contact BGR: Gudrun Franken, Dr.

Arbeitsbereich Bergbau und Nachhaltigkeit B1.2 Geologie der Mineralischen Rohstoffe

Bundesanstalt für Geowissenschaften und Rohstoffe

Stilleweg 2 30655 Hannover gudrun.franken@bgr.de

Layout: Elke Westphale

Images: Dr. Gudrun Franken, Dr. Philip Schütte, Dr. Dieter Rammlmair

Edition dated: March 2012 ISSN: 2193-5319

Download: www.bgr.bund.de/DERA_Rohstoffinformationen

Further information: www.bgr.bund.de/mineral-certification

Disclaimer:

This report entails raw data mirroring the state of research as of the date of the report issue. Evaluation and Analysis of the raw data are not subject to this report. The information provided are made as of the date of the report issue and are subject to change without notice.

BACKGROUND

Mineral certification has been proposed as a lever to single out "clean" production from conflict-related minerals or unacceptable mining conditions.

Taking up the call for transparency in mineral production by the United Nations' Panel of Experts on the Illegal Exploitation of Natural Resources in the Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC), BGR elaborated a chain of custody assurance system, based on the establishment of transparent, traceable and ethical trading chains. This concept of Certified Trading Chains (CTC) found entry to the preparatory discussions for the G-8 summit in Heiligendamm in 2007 and has been further developed and implemented with partners in Rwanda and DRC.

Commissioned by the German government, the BGR continues to support efforts towards a regional certification system of the International Conference of the Great Lakes Region (ICGLR). In the context of further developing and putting into practice the certification system the BGR is intent to install structures most likely warranting its long-term effectiveness.

Therefore, the BGR has commissioned the Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München (LMU Munich) with a research project which aims at identifying the institutional characteristics of successful Global Standards and Certification Schemes (GSCSs). By studying GSCSs such as the Forest Stewardship Council (FSC) or the Kimberley Process Certification Scheme (KPSC) the project seeks to single out the institutional characteristics that are associated with their success or failure.

In order to identify the institutional characteristics for success the research project 1) assesses the institutional setup of existing Global Standards and Certification Schemes engaging in social and environmental sustainability issues, 2) evaluates their performance in terms of success and finally 3) singles out the institutional types that are related to success respectively failure. This first report below provides a comprehensive empirical assessment of the institutional setup of seven GSCSs. In a next report the schemes will be evaluated with respect to their relative success. In the final report, institutional characteristics will be related to GSCS success.

The seven case studies assessed in the report at hand are the FSC for sustainable forestry, the Fairtrade Labeling Organizations International (FLO) in fair trade, the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) for sustainability reporting, the Marine Stewardship Council (MSC) for sustainable ocean-caught fishing, the KPSC for trade regulation in the context of conflict diamonds, the Extractive Industries Transparency Initaitive (EITI) for disclosure of financial flows in primarily oil and gas, and the International Standardization Organization's Standard 14001 for Environmental Management (ISO14). These Global Standards and Certification Schemes were chosen for study because they all engage in sustainability governance by means of standards and can therefore convey insights relevant for mineral certification schemes such as CTC. A further central criterion for the case selection is that the case studies have been active for some time enabling a sound assessment of their success or failure in the next project stage. The empirical assessment was carried out on the basis of an analytical framework prior developed for the cause (Part I: forthcoming). The framework encompasses a number of institutional features and patterns that can be designed differently in different schemes. They exceed mere organizational structures by far and concern also mechanisms of financing, procedures relating to developing the standard such as modes of decision-making, rules and procedures regarding members and members' representation, the nature of the system of conformity assessment, the scheme's financing and many more. The institutional approach was chosen for two reasons. One, only an institutional approach with the main focus on the GSCS itself can generate results potentially generalizable across sectors despite diversity in sector, resource or country characteristics. Two, as institutions are dynamic implying that they can change and be changed over time only an institutional approach makes sense in the wider context of the further development of a mineral certification scheme. Because, once we have arrived at significant correlations between distinct institutional types of GSCSs and their respective level of success in the final stage of the project, these insights can be converted to the institutional design of a mineral certification system.

The results thus can point out challenges and ways forward with regards to certification and due diligence efforts in the mineral sector currently under development.

ACRONYMS

AFP Analytical Fingerprint

ASM Artisanal and Small-scale Mining

BGR Bundesanstalt für Geowissenschaften und Rohstoffe (Federal Institute for Geosciences and Natural Resources)

CSR Corporate Social Responsibility

CTC Certified Trading Chains

EITI Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative
FLO Fairtrade Labeling Organizations International

FSC Forest Stewardship Council
GRI Global Reporting Initiative

GSCS Global Standards and Certification Scheme

ICGLR International Conference on the Great Lakes Region

ISO International Standards Organization

ISO/TC 207 International Organization for Standardization's Technical Committee 207

KPCS Kimberley Process Certification Scheme

MSC Marine Stewardship Council

OECD Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development

UNEP United Nations Environment Programme

CONTENTS

Backgr	round			5	
Acronyms					
1	The Fo	The Forest Stewardship Council (FSC) 1.1 General aspects of the FSC			
	1.1				
		1.1.1	Actors involved in founding the FSC	19	
		1.1.2	Membership structure of the FSC	21	
		1.1.3	Members' representation in the FSC	21	
		1.1.4	Congruence among rule-makers and rule-takers in the FSC	22	
		1.1.5	Mode of installing the FSC board of directors	23	
		1.1.6	The FSC secretariat	24	
		1.1.7	The FSC's relation to other GSCSs	24	
		1.1.8	The FSC's relation to (inter-)governmental bodies	25	
		1.1.9	Financing of the FSC's activities	26	
		1.1.10	FSC scheme evaluation	27	
	1.2	Charac	teristics of the FSC global standard	28	
		1.2.1	Subject of the FSC global standard	28	
		1.2.2	Chain of custody certification in the FSC	28	
		1.2.3	Precision of the FSC global standard	29	
		1.2.4	Context sensitivity of the FSC global standard	30	
		1.2.5	Minimum or maximum standard in the FSC	30	
		1.2.6	Incentives for client participation of the FSC global standard	31	
		1.2.7	Industry scale of the FSC global standard	32	
	1.3	Develo	ping the FSC global standard	33	

		1.3.1	Procedures for evaluating the FSC global standard	33
		1.3.2	Actors responsible for initiating revision of the FSC global standard	34
		1.3.3	Actors responsible for preparing the FSC global standard	35
		1.3.4	Stakeholder consultation on the FSC global standard	35
		1.3.5	Final decision-making on the FSC global standard	36
	1.4	Conform	mity assessment in the FSC	37
		1.4.1	Auditing in the FSC	37
		1.4.2	Monitoring actors in the FSC	38
		1.4.3	Modes of monitoring in the FSC	38
		1.4.4	Accreditation in the FSC	39
		1.4.5	Dispute-settlement in the FSC	39
		1.4.6	Means of enforcement in the FSC	40
2	The Fai	irtrade La	abeling Organizations International (FLO)	42
	2.1	General	l aspects of the FLO	42
		2.1.1	Actors involved in founding the FLO	42
		2.1.2	Membership structure of the FLO	43
		2.1.3	Members' representation in the FLO	44
		2.1.4	Congruence among rule-makers and rule-takers in the FLO	44
		2.1.5	Mode of installing the FLO board of directors	45
		2.1.6	The FLO secretariat	46
		2.1.7	The FLO's relation to other GSCSs	46
		2.1.8	The FLO's relation to (inter-)governmental organizations	47
		2.1.9	Financing of the FLO's activities	47
		2.1.10	FLO scheme evaluation	48
	2.2	Charact	teristics of the FLO global standard	48

48

		2.2.2	Chain of custody certification in the FLO	49
		2.2.3	Precision of the FLO global standard	50
		2.2.4	Context sensitivity of the FLO global standard	51
		2.2.5	Minimum or maximum standard in the FLO	51
		2.2.6	Incentives for client participation of the FLO global standard	52
		2.2.7	Industry scale of the FLO global standard	53
	2.3	Develo	ping the FLO global standard	54
		2.3.1	Procedures for evaluating the FLO global standard	54
		2.3.2	Actors responsible for initiating revision of the FLO global standard	54
		2.3.3	Actors responsible for preparing the FLO global standard	55
		2.3.4	Stakeholder consultation on the FLO global standard	55
		2.3.5	Final decision-making on the FLO global standard	56
	2.4	Confor	mity assessment in the FLO	57
		2.4.1	Auditing in the FLO	57
		2.4.2	Monitoring actors in the FLO	57
		2.4.3	Modes of monitoring in the FLO	58
		2.4.4	Accreditation in the FLO	58
		2.4.5	Dispute-settlement in the FLO	59
		2.4.6	Means of enforcement in the FLO	60
3	The Glo	obal Rep	porting Initiative (GRI)	61
	3.1	Genera	l aspects of the GRI	61
		3.1.1	Actors involved in founding the GRI	61
		3.1.2	Membership structure of the GRI	62
		3.1.3	Members' representation in the GRI	63

Subject of the FLO global standard

2.2.1

3.1.4

	3.1.5	Mode of installing the GRI board of directors	64
	3.1.6	The GRI secretariat	65
	3.1.7	The GRI's relation to other GSCSs	65
	3.1.8	The GRI's relation to (inter-)governmental organizations	66
	3.1.9	Financing of the GRI's activities	66
	3.1.10	GRI scheme evaluation	67
3.2	Charact	teristics of the GRI global standard	68
	3.2.1	Subject of the GRI global standard	68
	3.2.2	Chain of custody certification in the GRI	68
	3.2.3	Precision of the GRI global standard	69
	3.2.4	Context sensitivity of the GRI global standard	70
	3.2.5	Minimum or maximum standard in the GRI	71
	3.2.6	Incentives for client participation of the GRI global standard	72
	3.2.7	Industry scale of the GRI global standard	72
3.3	Develo	ping the GRI global standard	73
	3.3.1	Procedures for evaluating the GRI global standard	73
	3.3.2	Actors responsible for initiating revision of the GRI global standard	74
	3.3.3	Actors responsible for preparing the GRI global standard	74
	3.3.4	Stakeholder consultation on the GRI global standard	75
	3.3.5	Final decision-making on the GRI global standard	75
3.4	Confor	mity assessment in the GRI	76
	3.4.1	Auditing in the GRI	76
	3.4.2	Monitoring actors in the GRI	77
	3.4.3	Modes of monitoring in the GRI	77

Congruence among rule-makers and rule-takers in the GRI

63

		3.4.4	Accreditation in the GRI	/ /
		3.4.5	Dispute-settlement in the GRI	78
		3.4.6	Means of enforcement in the GRI	78
4	The Ma	arine Ste	wardship Council (MSC)	79
	4.1	Genera	l aspects of the MSC	79
		4.1.1	Actors involved in founding the MSC	79
		4.1.2	Membership structure of the MSC	80
		4.1.3	Members' representation in the MSC	80
		4.1.4	Congruence among rule-makers and rule-takers in the MSC	81
		4.1.5	Mode of installing the MSC board of directors	82
		4.1.6	The MSC secretariat	82
		4.1.7	The MSC's relation to other GSCSs	83
		4.1.8	The MSC's relation to (inter-)governmental organizations	84
		4.1.9	Financing of the MSC's activities	84
		4.1.10	MSC scheme evaluation	84
	4.2	Charact	teristics of the MSC global standard	85
		4.2.1	Subject of the MSC global standard	85
		4.2.2	Chain of custody certification in the MSC	86
		4.2.3	Precision of the MSC global standard	86
		4.2.4	Context sensitivity of the MSC global standard	87
		4.2.5	Minimum or maximum standard in the MSC	88
		4.2.6	Incentives for client participation of the MSC global standard	88
		4.2.7	Industry scale of the MSC global standard	89
	4.3	Develo	ping the MSC global standard	9(
		4.3.1	Procedures for evaluating the MSC global standard	90

		4.3.2	Actors responsible for initiating revision of the MSC global standard	91
		4.3.3	Actors responsible for preparing the MSC global standard	91
		4.3.4	Stakeholder consultation on the MSC global standard	92
		4.3.5	Final decision-making on the MSC global standard	93
	4.4	Conform	mity assessment in the MSC	93
		4.4.1	Auditing in the MSC	93
		4.4.2	Monitoring actors in the MSC	94
		4.4.3	Modes of monitoring in the MSC	94
		4.4.4	Accreditation in the MSC	95
		4.4.5	Dispute-settlement in the MSC	95
		4.4.6	Means of enforcement in the MSC	96
5	The Kii	mberley !	Process Certification Scheme (KPCS)	97
	5.1	General	l aspects of the KPCS	97
		5.1.1	Actors involved in founding the KPCS	97
		5.1.2	Membership structure of the KPCS	98
		5.1.3	Members' representation in the KPCS	99
		5.1.4	Congruence among rule-makers and rule-takers in the KPCS	100
		5.1.5	Mode of installing the KPCS board of directors	100
		5.1.6	The KPCS secretariat	101
		5.1.7	The KPCS' relation to other GSCSs	101
		5.1.8	The KPCS' relation to (inter-)governmental bodies	102
		5.1.9	Financing of the KPCS's activities	102
		5.1.10	KPC scheme evaluation	103
	5.2	Charact	teristics of the KPCS global standard	103
		5.2.1	Subject of the KPCS global standard	103

104

		5.2.3	Precision of the KPCS global standard	104
		5.2.4	Context sensitivity of the KPCS global standard	105
		5.2.5	Minimum or maximum standard in the KPCS	106
		5.2.6	Incentives for client participation of the KPCS global standard	106
		5.2.7	Industry scale of the KPCS global standard	107
	5.3	Develo	ping the KPCS global standard	108
		5.3.1	Procedures for evaluating the KPCS global standard	108
		5.3.2	Actors responsible for initiating revision of the KPCS global standard	108
		5.3.3	Actors responsible for preparing the KPCS global standard	109
		5.3.4	Stakeholder consultation on the KPCS global standard	109
		5.3.5	Final decision-making on the KPCS global standard	110
	5.4	Confor	mity assessment in the KPCS	110
		5.4.1	Auditing in the KPCS	110
		5.4.2	Monitoring actors in the KPCS	111
		5.4.3	Modes of monitoring in the KPCS	112
		5.4.4	Accreditation in the KPCS	113
		5.4.5	Dispute-settlement in the KPCS	113
		5.4.6	Means of enforcement in the KPCS	114
6	The Ex	tractive 1	Industries Transparency Initiative (EITI)	115
	6.1	Genera	l aspects of the EITI	115
		6.1.1	Actors involved in founding the EITI	115
		6.1.2	Membership structure of the EITI	117
		6.1.3	Members' representation in the EITI	117
		6.1.4	Congruence among rule-makers and rule-takers in the EITI	118

Chain of custody certification in the KPCS

5.2.2

	6.1.5	Mode of installing the EITI board of directors	118
	6.1.6	The EITI secretariat	120
	6.1.7	The EITI's relation to other GSCSs	120
	6.1.8	The EITI's relation to (inter-)governmental bodies	121
	6.1.9	Financing of the EITI's activities	122
	6.1.10	EITI scheme evaluation	122
6.2	Charac	teristics of the EITI global standard	123
	6.2.1	Subject of the EITI global standard	123
	6.2.2	Chain of custody certification in the EITI	124
	6.2.3	Precision of the EITI global standard	124
	6.2.4	Context sensitivity of the EITI global standard	125
	6.2.5	Minimum or maximum standard in the EITI	126
	6.2.6	Incentives for client participation of the EITI global standard	127
	6.2.7	Industry scale of the EITI global standard	128
6.3	Develo	ping the EITI global standard	129
	6.3.1	Procedures for evaluating the EITI global standard	129
	6.3.2	Actors responsible for initiating revision of the EITI global standard	130
	6.3.3	Actors responsible for preparing the EITI global standard	130
	6.3.4	Stakeholder consultation on the EITI global standard	131
	6.3.5	Final decision-making on the EITI global standard	132
6.4	Confor	mity assessment in the EITI	132
	6.4.1	Auditing in the EITI	132
	6.4.2	Monitoring actors in the EITI	133
	6.4.3	Modes of monitoring in the EITI	134
	6.4.4	Accreditation in the EITI	135

		6.4.5	Dispute-settlement in the EITI	135
		6.4.6	Means of enforcement in the EITI	136
7	The Inte	ernationa	al Organization for Standardization's Technical Committee 207 (ISO/TC 207)	137
	7.1	General	l aspects of the ISO/TC 207	137
		7.1.1	Actors involved in founding the ISO/TC 207	137
		7.1.2	Membership structure of the ISO/TC 207	138
		7.1.3	Members' representation in the ISO/TC 207	139
		7.1.4	Congruence among rule-makers and rule-takers in the context of the ISO/TC 207	141
		7.1.5	Mode of installing the ISO/TC 207 board of directors	141
		7.1.6	The ISO/TC 207 secretariat	142
		7.1.7	The ISO/TC 207's relation to other GSCSs	143
		7.1.8	The ISO/TC 207's relation to (inter-)governmental organizations	144
		7.1.9	Financing of the ISO/TC 207's activities	144
		7.1.10	ISO/TC 207 scheme evaluation	145
	7.2	Charact	teristics of the ISO/TC 207 global standard	145
		7.2.1	Subject of the ISO/TC 207 global standard	145
		7.2.2	Chain of custody certification in the ISO/TC 207	146
		7.2.3	Precision of the ISO/TC 207 global standard	147
		7.2.4	Context sensitivity of the ISO/TC 207 global standard	147
		7.2.5	Minimum or maximum standard in the context of the ISO/TC 207	148
		7.2.6	Incentives for client participation of the ISO/TC 207 global standard	148
		7.2.7	Industry scale of the ISO/TC 207 global standard	149
	7.3	Develo	ping the ISO/TC 207 global standard	150
		7.3.1	Procedures for evaluating the ISO/TC 207 global standard	150

		7.3.2	Actors responsible for initiating revision of the ISO/TC 207 global standard	151
		7.3.3	Actors responsible for preparing the ISO/TC 207 global standard	152
		7.3.4	Stakeholder consultation on the ISO/TC 207 global standard	153
		7.3.5	Final decision-making on the ISO/TC 207 global standard	154
	7.4	Conform	mity assessment in the context of the ISO/TC 207 global standard	155
		7.4.1	Auditing in the context of the ISO/TC 207 global standard	155
		7.4.2	Monitoring actors in the context of the ISO/TC 207 global standard	156
		7.4.3	Modes of monitoring in the context of the ISO/TC 207 global standard	156
		7.4.4	Accreditation in the context of the ISO/TC 207 global standard	156
		7.4.5	Dispute-settlement in the context of the ISO/TC 207 global standard	157
		7.4.6	Means of enforcement in the context of the ISO/TC 207 global standard	158
8	References			159

1 THE FOREST STEWARDSHIP COUNCIL (FSC)

Tropical deforestation and degradation of biological diversity in global forests nurtured public debate in the 1980s. Despite several attempts at introducing effective intergovernmental regulation to the problem, a binding solution among governments proved difficult to achieve. As a response, in the 1990s a purely private governance scheme, the Forest Stewardship Council (FSC) was launched by leading nongovernmental organizations such as the World Wildlife Fund for Nature in collaboration with private sector representatives. Following the example of the FSC, today, several schemes compete in standard setting and certification in forestry management. The FSC scheme has also served as a blueprint for the development of other GSCSs operating outside the forestry sector such as the Marine Stewardship Council for ocean-caught seafood. In turn, the FSC drew on the International Federation of Organic Agricultural Movements when designing its own scheme¹. The FSC came into effect in 1993.

As the first of the existent private standard setting and certification schemes in forestry, the FSC has been subject to abundant scholarly research. On the one hand, it has been praised as "the most significant endeavor ever undertaken as a partnership between non-governmental organizations and private industry". On the other hand it is considered "only partially capable of resolving all the tension between actors concerned by forest issues". Academia has focused on an array of issues concerning the FSC – ranging from understanding conditions and circumstances for the emergence of the FSC⁴ to gradually comprehending the impacts of its activities, as well as detecting its limitations. Finally, the conceptualization of FSC as "an experiment in democratically run private rule-making schemes" (emphasis added) has by far attracted the highest scholarly attention. Points of interest are e.g. questions regarding the legitimacy of Private Transnational Governance in general or in specific, the potential for enhancing participation of southern actors in Global Governance inherent in FSC's complex three chamber governance system alongside with its multi-level organizational dimensions.

1.1 General aspects of the FSC

1.1.1 Actors involved in founding the FSC

Civil society actors and private businesses were involved in founding the FSC. Public authorities were excluded from the process.

In the 1980s concerns of tropical deforestation, forest degradation and the maintenance of biological diversity took foothold in public discourse¹⁰. A civil society campaign led by Friends of the Earth, the Rainforest Action Network, Greenpeace and the World Wildlife Fund for Nature engaged in raising awareness of the public for grievances in tropical deforestation. The campaign targeted timber producers and retailers directly and finally pressured them into engaging in the making of a standards and certification scheme in collaboration

¹ Dingwerth et al. 2009: 723

² Domask 2003: 158

³ Guenéau 2009: 403

⁴ Bartley 2003; 2007b; Dingwerth et al. 2009

⁵ Auld et al. 2008

⁶ Guenéau 2009; Klooster 2006; 2010

⁷ Overdevest 2010: 53

⁸ Bernstein et al. 2004; Dingwerth 2007; Schepers 2010

⁹ Dingwerth 2008a; 2008b; Pattberg 2006

¹⁰ Bartley 2003: 442; 2007a: 238 – 239

with civil society¹¹. Before deciding on launching the FSC together with private business, nongovernmental organizations such as Friends of the Earth in the United Kingdom and the Rainforest Action Network in the United States had called for boycotting tropical timber. As a consequence, companies reacted to the boycott strategies by attesting self-proclaimed sustainable forestry management practices with unverifiable methods¹². As boycotts failed to bring about the desired outcomes, the nongovernmental organization, Friends of the Earth, in turn tried to develop a tracking mechanism for timber on its own but "discovered that tracking wood products through complex supply chains was beyond their capacity¹³. Subsequently, civil society recognized the need to cooperate with timber traders and foresters in the creation of an adequate governance instrument for credible sustainable forestry management and began spawning partnerships with respective companies¹⁴.

Civil society and private business decided not to include public authorities in the process due to disappointing outcomes of (inter-)governmental negotiations on sustainable forestry in the past. "[T]he WWF explicitly framed the emerging FSC as an alternative to failed intergovernmental programs¹⁵. This stance was backed e.g. by the failure of administering an inter-governmental certification system under the auspices of the International Tropical Timber Organization, a preexisting international trade organization, with governments as members¹⁶. Finally, the vague outcome of the United Nations Conference on Environment and Development, known as the Earth Summit in Rio de Janeiro 1992, in form of a "Non-legally Binding Authoritative Statement of Principles for a Global Consensus on the Management, Conservation and Sustainable Development of all Types of Forests¹⁷, also known as the Forest Principles¹⁸, further supported the option of a private governance scheme for sustainable forestry rather than an (inter-)governmental agreement¹⁹.

Once the decision for a private instrument had been made, the WWF actively engaged in launching the FSC in the aftermath of the United Nations Conference. "WWF was front and center for all effective purposes. It was the incubator and the surrogate mother²⁰. The official founding assembly of the FSC took place in Toronto, Canada, October 1993 with 134 participants from 24 countries, including 56 people from countries with tropical forests²¹. Other key proponents besides the WWF were the Rainforest Alliance, the Woodworkers Alliance for Rainforest Protection, several U.S. foundations, and several forest product retailers including IKEA and Europe's largest do-it-yourself home furnishing chain B&Q²².

Which actors were involved in founding the FSC?

- ✓ civil society actors
- ✓ private businesses
- public authorities

¹¹ Bartley 2003: 443 – 444

¹² Bartley 2003: 443f

¹³ Bartley 2003: 444

¹⁴ Bartley 2003: 443 – 445

¹⁵ Bartley 2003: 452

¹⁶ Bartley 2003: 451f

¹⁷ Hens Nath 2005: 6

¹⁸ Bartley 2003: 452

¹⁹ Cashore et al. 2007: 158

²⁰ Bartley 2003: 453

²¹ Conroy 2007: 6322 Klooster 2006: 546

1.1.2 Membership structure of the FSC

Civil society and private business constitute the FSC membership structure.

Public authorities were explicitly excluded from membership at the outset of the FSC's operation and still are today. This restriction also applied to state companies operating in the forest sector but has been slightly repealed since the FSC opened its membership to government-owned and -led companies in the economic chamber in 2002^{23} . In the context of its membership limitation regarding public authorities the FSC explains diplomatically "FSC is however a non-governmental organization and therefore welcomes governmental bodies to support FSC through other means²⁴. Governments can only become members on a national level by participating in the FSC national initiatives and multi-stakeholder working groups²⁵. The respective paragraph in the FSC statutes holds "[g]overnment owned legal entities or entities with governmental participation will not be admitted as members of the association except for government owned or controlled companies which can be admitted under specific conditions²⁶.

Membership is open to both organizations as well as individuals. As of August 2009, the FSC membership list counted 833 members²⁷. The FSC scheme incorporates three levels of decision-making. The FSC general assembly of members convening every three years is situated on the highest level of decision-making followed by the FSC board of directors and the FSC director general. Together the three bodies constitute the basic governance structure of the FSC²⁸. The overall FSC *Global Network* comprises the FSC Asociación Civil, which is the overarching membership association, with its three subsidiary companies, the FSC International Center GmbH, the FSC Global Development GmbH, and the ASI – Accreditation Services International GmbH. FSC regional and national offices and the FSC endorsed national initiatives are also constituent part of the FSC global network²⁹.

Which actors constitute the FSC membership?

- √ civil society actors
- ✓ private businesses
- public authorities

1.1.3 Members' representation in the FSC

Members in the FSC are represented in a corporatist and federal structure.

On the FSC's own account, the general assembly of FSC members constitutes the highest decision-making body in the scheme³⁰. The FSC membership base is structured in three chambers – environmental, social and economic mirroring a corporatist structure. Each chamber is further divided into north and south sub-chambers

²³ Auld et al. 2008: 190

^{24 &}lt;a href="http://www.fsc.org/membership.html">http://www.fsc.org/membership.html January 24, 2011

²⁵ Guéneau 2009: 400

²⁶ FSC Statutes 2009: 3

²⁷ FSC Membership List 2009

^{28 &}lt;a href="http://www.fsc.org/governance.html">http://www.fsc.org/governance.html April 15, 2011

²⁹ FSC Glossary of Terms 2009: 4

³⁰ http://www.fsc.org/governance.html April 14, 2011

mirroring a federal structure. The vote of all six sub-chambers is equally weighted providing for equal representation irrespective of the number of members in the three issue chambers and northern or southern belonging³¹.

However, FSC's definition of *south* encompassing low, middle and upper-middle income countries has the practical implication that European Union member countries such as Croatia, Estonia, Hungary and Poland are included in southern chambers falsifying actual geographies and diluting the southern vote. Thus, weighted voting effectively means that the voting power of the upper 15% of world population is equal to the voting power of the lower 85%³². The FSC also distinguishes between organizations and individuals within the respective six sub-chambers. The vote of the organization is weighted 90% and that of individuals 10%³³. This provision further weakens southern representation in the FSC and constitutes an inequality in practice because southern members are generally represented by individuals rather than by institutions. Northern members, contrarily, are represented by organizations³⁴.

No provisions are in place for equal representation within the group *south* on a global level. Membership in the FSC varies strongly in this respect. In 2005, the geographical regions of Europe North America and Latin America dominated in terms of membership strength in the FSC. African and Asian countries only constituted roughly 6% and were thus comparatively low³⁵. Today, members' representation in the FSC is more balanced along regional lines. In 2009, out of a total of 833 members, ca 30% represented Latin America whereas the percentage of African members in the FSC had risen to ca 20%. The imbalance persists in regards to Asian representation which grew slightly from 6% to about 8.5% in the respective time period³⁶. On a sub-global level, the FSC operates national initiatives in more than 50 countries³⁷ and has established regional offices in Africa, Asia, Europe and Latin America³⁸.

How are member groups represented in the FSC?

- ✓ federal structure
- ✓ corporatist structure
- no special interest representation

1.1.4 Congruence among rule-makers and rule-takers in the FSC

The group of rule-makers and rule-takers in the FSC is close to congruent.

As for the rule-takers, the FSC standard addresses foresters all over the world with no restrictions relating to geographies or belonging to a certain group. Public authorities are excluded from standard development processes since they are not allowed to become members in the FSC. But this does not affect the congruence among rule-makers and rule-takers in the FSC because public authorities while not being rule-makers are per se also not rule-takers. Contrarily, state companies can be among rule-takers and they have been allowed to become FSC members since 2002 thus representing the group making the FSC standard. The group of

³¹ http://www.fsc.org/membership_chambers.html September 22, 2010

³² Dingwerth 2008 b: 620f

³³ http://www.fsc.org/fileadmin/web-data/public/document_center/membership_documents/FSC_weighting_of_chambers.pdf January 24, 2011

³⁴ Guéneau 2009: 391

³⁵ Dingwerth 2008 a: 62

³⁶ FSC Membership List 2009

^{37 &}lt;a href="http://www.fsc.org/worldwide_locations.html">http://www.fsc.org/worldwide_locations.html January 10, 2011

³⁸ Dingwerth 2007: 179; 2008 a: 65 – 66; Pattberg 2006: 584

rule-makers is slightly more comprehensive than the group of rule-takers due to the social and environmental advocacy groups represented in the scheme and not constituting rule-takers.

Are the groups of rule-makers and rule-takers congruent in the FSC?

- √ congruent
- partial overlap
- no overlap

1.1.5 Mode of installing the FSC board of directors

The FSC board of directors is elected by the chambers constituting the general assembly of FSC members.

The board of directors is elected by each of the three chambers for a three-year term mirroring the corporatist and federal mode of members' representation in the FSC. Subsequently the FSC board of directors has nine members in total. Six members represent respectively the sub-chambers; economic north, the economic south, social north, social south, environmental north and environmental south. Board members can serve two consecutive terms by re-election³⁹. One of the board members holds the function of treasurer. Additionally, the board comprises a chair and two vice-chairpersons. Currently, the chair represents a Dutch foundation. One of the two vice-chairs represents the World Wildlife Fund for Nature Switzerland. The other does not belong to an organization but constitutes an individual from Chile. The board members representing southern chambers come from Brazil, Ecuador and China, those representing northern chambers from Sweden and the United States⁴⁰. Neither northern nor southern members may account for more than five board members at any given time⁴¹.

The board convenes three or four times a year and is responsible for overseeing organizational activities of the FSC, providing strategic guidance to the secretariat, and approving the accreditation of certification bodies and of approving national standards prepared by the FSC national initiatives⁴².

The FSC board of directors appoints a director general for running day-to-day FSC operations and managing the FSC international center⁴³.

How is the FSC board of directors put in place?

- self-appointment
- ✓ appointment by membership groups (corporatist/federal)
- election by members

³⁹ FSC Statutes 2009: 8

⁴⁰ http://www.fsc.org/bod.html April 14, 2011

⁴¹ Dingwerth 2007: 150

⁴² Dingwerth 2007: 150

⁴³ FSC Annual Report 2009: 20; http://www.fsc.org/fileadmin/web-data/public/website-images/International_center_org/Organigram.html April 15, 2011

1.1.6 The FSC secretariat

The FSC secretariat carries out substantive tasks for the scheme.

The FSC secretariat opened 1994 in Oaxaca, Mexico and moved to Bonn, Germany in 2003. 2005, the FSC secretariat comprised 25 employees. Today, the FSC *international center* has replaced the secretariat and is a subsidiary to the overall FSC membership association next to the FSC *global development* and the ASI – Accreditation Services International. The FSC international center is administered by the managing director supported by an executive assistant. In addition to a director's office with a staff of five, the center comprises four divisions on policy and standards, communications, network and respectively finance and administration. The staff of the international center totals 33 members⁴⁴. Its tasks include setting international standards, approving national standards and ensuring the protection of the FSC *trademarks*. The international center is also responsible for approving national initiatives, coordinating the activities of the national and regional offices and ensuring consistent practices with regard to *policy* and standards development, network and *stakeholder* relations, and communication in the FSC⁴⁵.

Like the board of directors the FSC secretariat is entrusted with day-to-day business but also plays an important role when interpreting the FSC principles and criteria. The policy and standards unit of the FSC international center have also authored standards⁴⁶.

What is the capacity of the FSC secretariat?

- no permanent secretariat
- secretariat with administrative tasks
- ✓ secretariat with substantive tasks

1.1.7 The FSC's relation to other GSCSs

On the one hand, the FSC operates in open competition with other GSCSs within the sector of forestry management. On the other hand, in other sectors, the FSC cooperates closely with other GSCSs.

Since the foundation of FSC, competition over forestry management systems has led to the emergence of several initiatives certifying forestry practices⁴⁷. Just to name the most widespread, the industry led certifier Program for the Endorsement for Forest Certification emerged in Europe, whereas in the USA the Sustainable Forestry Initiative was launched and in Canada the Canadian Standards Association⁴⁸. The European Program claims to be the "world's largest forest certification organization"⁴⁹ whereas the FSC claims to be "widely regarded as one of the most important initiatives of the last decade to promote responsible forest management worldwide"⁵⁰. Both statements are more than mere advertisement, since in terms of hectares PEFC certified areas are larger than FSC certified ones⁵¹. At the same time, the FSC standard is considered to be the most

⁴⁴ http://www.fsc.org/fileadmin/web-data/public/website-images/International_center_org/Organigram.html April 15, 2011

⁴⁵ http://www.fsc.org/910.html April 15, 2011

⁴⁶ Dingwerth 2007: 150

⁴⁷ Conroy, 2007: 244 – 250

⁴⁸ Bartley 2007a: 234; Correia 2010: 66

^{49 &}lt;u>http://www.pefc.org</u> September 22, 2010

^{50 &}lt;u>http://www.fsc.org/about-fsc.html</u> September 22, 2010

⁵¹ Freer-Smith et al. 2008: 260

demanding, subsequently, it is regarded as the most desirable in terms of sustainability⁵². As a downside of stringency, FSC certification is regarded as highly costly and thus deterrent to small-scale foresters⁵³. Although a number of schemes now compete over certifying forestry practices, the differences among them are declining⁵⁴, most of them gradually become more similar to the FSC standard⁵⁵.

Contrarily to open completion, several examples of close cooperation can also be observed in the context of the FSC's activities. E.g., in 2009, the FSC and the Fairtrade Labeling Organizations International collaborated in initiating a dual certification pilot project primarily addressing smallholder and community-based forest enterprises in developing countries⁵⁶. To name another example, in June 2010, the FSC and the Lembaga Ekolabel Indonesia launched an 18-month collaboration to explore potential areas of cooperation regarding *certification* of sustainable forestry in Indonesia. Like the Fairtrade Labeling Organizations International or the Marine Stewardship Council, the FSC is a founding member of the ISEAL Alliance, an association offering guidance for GSCSs engaging in the field of social and environmental sustainability⁵⁷.

How does the FSC interrelate with other GSCSs?

- no relations (monopoly)
- ✓ nested cooperation
- ✓ open competition

1.1.8 The FSC's relation to (inter-)governmental bodies

FSC relations to (inter-)governmental bodies are characterised by orchestration.

Just a few years ago an expert on the FSC stated as "a societal response to the failures of international policy processes [...] the organization's ties to the latter are weak, if not entirely absent". Notwithstanding this, the past years have shown a few FSC projects carried out in partnership with (inter-)governmental bodies. Since 2006 the FSC, the German *Gesellschaft für Technische Zusammenarbeit*, now German *Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit* and IKEA are jointly executing a "Public and Private Partnership project to strengthen FSC National Initiatives". The FSC is also currently carrying out the project *Ecosystem Services* in partnership with the SNV Netherlands Development Organization, an organization similar to the German GIZ60. The *GEF project* currently executed in partnership between the FSC and the Global Environmental Facility through the United Nations Environment Program is a further example61. The European Ecolabel program managed by the European Commission also endorses the FSC62.

Another form of partnership between FSC and governmental bodies constitute the incorporation of the FSC scheme in donor programs of developed countries. German development cooperation is e.g. supporting FSC

⁵² Freer-Smith et al. 2008: 257

⁵³ Klooster 2006: 548

⁵⁴ Bartley 2007: 235

⁵⁵ Conroy 2007: 244 - 250

⁵⁶ FSC Annual Report 2009: 15

^{57 &}lt;a href="http://www.isealalliance.org/content/about-us">http://www.isealalliance.org/content/about-us April 15, 2011

⁵⁸ Dingwerth 2007: 153

⁵⁹ FSC Annual Report 2009: 24

^{60 &}lt;u>http://www.snvworld.org/en/aboutus/Pages/history.aspx</u> April 15, 2011

^{61 &}lt;u>http://www.fsc.org/gef.html</u> April 15, 2011

^{62 &}lt;u>http://www.fsc.org/chainofcustody.html</u> April 16, 2011

certification of a multinational wood exploitation and timber processing company in the Congo basin of the Republic of Congo⁶³.

The FSC upholds relations to domestic governmental bodies through its national initiatives. As opposed to the FSC global scheme, membership in the FSC national initiatives is also open to public authorities. The Environmental Protection Agency Hamburg and the Ministry for Environment, and Forestry Schleswig-Holstein were the first public authorities to enter the FSC Germany in 1997⁶⁴.

How does the FSC interrelate with (inter-)governmental bodies?

- no relations
- ✓ orchestration
- delegated authority

1.1.9 Financing of the FSC's activities

Voluntary donations, regular contributions and marketing of activities have all constituted constant pillars in the FSC's financing structure.

Throughout its history, the balance among the three pillars has varied. Just recently, marketing of the FSC's activities, comprising evaluation fees paid by certification bodies to cover the costs of the accreditation process, accreditation fees charged to accredited certification bodies and fees for use of the FSC trademarks⁶⁵ began generating more income than the FSC donation program.

The FSC experienced a structural change in its funding base from 2008 to 2009. While voluntary donations contributed 33% to the FSC's overall funding base by the end of 2008, a year later this percentage had dropped to only 6%. At the same time, revenues generated by the FSC accreditation program, i.e. marketing of its activities, increased from 53 to 88%66. In this timeframe the FSC obviously made a substantive step towards reducing the scheme's dependence on governmental and foundational support as a main pillar of financing. The FSC had previously been criticized for still failing to achieve economic sustainability in pure market terms by 200767. The large membership base in FSC of a total of 833 in 2009 grants a stable income generator through fees. Yet, currently, the membership program only constitutes 3% of the FSC's overall financing68 although revenues from membership fees have been increasing continuously from 1996 to date69. Income through membership fees more than doubled within one year from 1995 – 1996 and from 2003 – 2004. Income through the FSC accreditation program has also been growing steadily to date and almost multiplied eightfold from 1996 – 199770. Voluntary donations exceeded accreditation revenues from the outset and first fell back in 200771.

⁶³ Thies et al. 2006: 173

⁶⁴ http://www.fsc-deutschland.de/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=162&Itemid=113 April 15, 2011

⁶⁵ FSC By-Laws 2009: 2

⁶⁶ FSC Annual Report 2009: 28

⁶⁷ Conroy 2007: 294

⁶⁸ FSC Annual Report 2009: 28

⁶⁹ FSC Financial Report 2003

⁷⁰ FSC Financial Report 2004

⁷¹ FSC Annual Report 2007: 28

In the first two years of the FSC's existence governments were heavily involved in making the scheme work by contributing substantive initial funding⁷². The World Wildlife Fund for Nature also provided crucial funding in the early years of the FSC's activities⁷³.

How are the FSC's activities financed?

- ✓ voluntary donations
- ✓ regular contributions
- ✓ marketing of activities

1.1.10 FSC scheme evaluation

The core components of the FSC scheme are evaluated on a regular basis within the institution of the three year FSC general assembly.

"[R]eview the plans, workplans and the principles and criteria of the Association" is listed first among the matters to be dealt with in the meetings of the general assembly every three years Amendments to the statutes are also to be dealt with there. In case an amendment of the FSC by-laws is proposed the board of directors shall decide upon forwarding the proposal to a vote by the FSC general assembly.

2002 was a year of restructuration of the FSC system. A process of decentralizing the FSC governance structure began by creating national initiatives, regional offices, and the FSC international center. The FSC general assembly also initiated a review and revision of the FSC accreditation requirements. As a result, the FSC separated the entities of standard setting and conformity assessment in the FSC scheme by creating a separate, for-profit legal entity, the ASI – Accreditation Services International. The ASI began operating the FSC accreditation program in 2006⁷⁵.

Has the FSC institutionalized procedures for evaluating the scheme?

- no institutionalized evaluation
- ✓ institutionalized scheme evaluation by management, members and/or stakeholders
- institutionalized scheme evaluation by an autonomous body

⁷² Bartley 2003: 448

⁷³ Dingwerth 2007: 148

⁷⁴ FSC Statutes 2009: 6

⁷⁵ FSC Annual Report 2005: 5

1.2 Characteristics of the FSC global standard

1.2.1 Subject of the FSC global standard

The FSC standard entails procedural requirements.

The FSC principles and criteria are the FSC global standard. They include managerial aspects as well as social and environmental requirements and form the basis for all FSC management standards⁷⁶.

FSC offers three types of certification; forest management certification, chain of custody certification, and controlled wood certification. All three types are management standards requiring procedural changes in forestry management. In contrast to other certification schemes for forestry management such as the Program for the Endorsement for Forest Certification the FSC also specifies required *levels of performance* resulting from the changes in procedures. Whereas the requirements entailed in the Program for the Endorsement for Forest Certification only relate to procedures.

The origin of the wood product is disclosed in all three types of FSC certification. The FSC forest management and controlled wood certification specify the precise forest or plantation area. However, disclosure of origin can be considered as a byproduct of the FSC management standard secondary to managerial aspects. The primary objective relates to procedural changes in the forestry management followed by higher performance levels regarding sustainable forestry management. The same applies to FSC chain of custody certification. FSC chain of custody certification verifies that the wood product sold at the sales desk has been logged against sustainable forestry management practices and that the origin of the wood product can be traced throughout the trading chain to an FSC certified forest area. Disclosing the origin of the wood product is only significant in that respect that this information verifies if the wood product origins from a forest area certified against an FSC responsible forestry management standard.

What is subject to the FSC global standard?

- ✓ procedures (production/process management)
- results (product/performance)
- origin of product

1.2.2 Chain of custody certification in the FSC

The FSC chain of custody certification program makes the FSC system visible to end consumers. The FSC program is also incorporated in other sustainability certificates which are visible to end consumers.

Chain of custody certification constitutes a core element in the FSC scheme. Only the FSC chain of custody certification program can make FSC certified wood products visible to the end consumer. Foresters, traders and retailers are only allowed to use the FSC label on the wood products they sell if their wood products have been certified against the FSC chain of custody standard⁷⁹. Chain of custody is defined by the FSC as "[t]

^{76 &}lt;u>http://www.fsc.org/pc.html</u> April 16, 2011

^{77 &}lt;u>http://www.fsc.org/types-of-certification0.html</u> April 16, 2011

⁷⁸ Guéneau 2009: 397

^{79 &}lt;u>http://www.fsc.org/chainofcustody.html</u> April 16, 2011

he channel through which products are distributed from their origin in the forest to their end-use"⁸⁰. Just to name a few prominent examples, in Germany, the FSC is visible to consumers buying train tickets issued by the *Deutsche Bahn* which has been using FSC certified paper for tickets since 2005⁸¹. Tetra Pak uses the FSC label on juice and milk cartons in the markets of the United Kingdom, Brazil and other countries. The Dutch newspaper "Het Financieele Dagblad" prints its daily newspapers on FSC certified paper and Telecom Italia uses FSC certified paper for its bills⁸².

The FSC certificate is also included in the *U.S. Green Building Council's Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design* program which issues certification in the construction sector against environmental standards as the only scheme for wood certification integrated in the program⁸³. The FSC label is also included in the European Eco-label scheme⁸⁴.

Not all types of FSC certification are visible to the end consumer. The FSC forestry management certification only applies to the individual forestry management operation and is not sufficient for selling FSC certified wood products carrying the FSC irrespective. In order to trade the products originating from the FSC certified forest management unit the forest owner or manager must obtain FSC chain of custody certification.

At which stage in the chain of custody does FSC certification apply?

- ✓ certificate visible for end consumer
- ✓ certificate included in other end consumer visible certificate
- business to business certificate not visible to end consumer

1.2.3 Precision of the FSC global standard

The FSC standard incorporates several levels of precision from the most general exemplified in the ten FSC principles down to most precise in the form of the means of verification.

The FSC standard entails a hierarchy of requirements⁸⁵ beginning with means of verification at the most specific level equaling *measurable rules*. An example of a means of verification: "Annually updated lists of species of concern as presented in the plan or associated documents". Within the FSC standard hierarchy the indicators are slightly less specific than the means of verification, e.g. "[a] list of the species at risk, (as identified by federal, provincial, and regional legislation/lists) known or believed to exist within the forest is presented in the (management) plan or associated documents and is updated annually". The next level towards the top of the standard hierarchy hosts the 56 criteria which accompany the overarching ten principles in up to ten points, e.g. the second criterion 6.2 out of ten accompanying principle six states "[s]afeguards shall exist which protect rare, threatened and endangered species and their habitats (e.g. nesting and feeding areas). ...". In terms of precision the criteria are like *specific norms*. The ten principles can be understood as *general principles* and lie at the very top of FSC's standard hierarchy, e.g. principle 6 "[f]orest management shall conserve biological diversity and its associated values, water resources, soils, and unique fragile ecosystems and landscapes, and, by so doing, maintain the ecological functions and the integrity of the forest" 6.

⁸⁰ FSC Glossary of Terms 2009: 5

^{81 &}lt;a href="http://www.fsc-deutschland.de/newsletter/92/628">http://www.fsc-deutschland.de/newsletter/92/628 April 16, 2011

⁸² FSC Annual Report 2009: 16

⁸³ FSC Annual Report 2007: 15

 $^{84 \}quad \underline{\text{http://ec.europa.eu/environment/gpp/pdf/toolkit/module1_factsheet_ecolabels.pdf} \ April \ 16, 2011$

⁸⁵ ISEAL Setting Standards 2007: 14

⁸⁶ FSC Principles and Criteria 1996: 6

The FSC has also further rules, in FSC jargon *polices and standards*, which define and explain specific requirements on the basis of the FSC principles and criteria⁸⁷. "During the 13 years of its existence, the FSC has developed detailed procedural rules for sustainable forestry" 88.

To which degree of precision is the FSC global standard formulated?

- only general principles
- also specific norms
- ✓ also measurable rules

1.2.4 Context sensitivity of the FSC global standard

The FSC global standard serves as a framework for local, national or regional standards.

The national and regional FSC standards are developed on the basis of the FSC principles and criteria. "The FSC is organized in several operational layers" comprising the FSC international center and the FSC global network as a whole, regional offices and national initiatives. National initiatives develop national FSC standards based on the global principles and criteria.

In 2009, national FSC standards were proposed or were under development in Australia, Bulgaria, Chile, China, Congo Basin Region (covering Cameroon, Democratic Republic of Congo, Gabon, and the Republic of Congo), Croatia, Estonia, Fiji, France, Germany, Ghana, Honduras, Italy, Ivory Coast, Kenya, Kosovo, Latvia, Madagascar, Mexico, New Zealand, Portugal, Slovakia, South Africa, Sweden, Switzerland, Ukraine and the United States⁹¹. Also in the context of a dispute, "[s]ome flexibility will be allowed to cope with local circumstances"⁹².

Is the FSC global standard context sensitive?

- only global standard
- global standard takes regional/national specifics into consideration
- ✓ global standard as framework for local/national/regional standard

1.2.5 Minimum or maximum standard in the FSC

Certification in the FSC scheme can take place against a progressively demanding standard reflected in the FSC mixed sources policy and against an FSC maximum, i.e. "gold" standard in forestry management.

The FSC standard is considered as the most stringent among certification schemes in forestry management⁹³. The FSC offers products entailing varying percentages of FSC certified wood such as *FSC pure* or *FSC*

^{87 &}lt;u>http://www.fsc.org/pc.html</u> April 16, 2011

⁸⁸ Pattberg 2006: 583

⁸⁹ Patttberg 2006: 584

⁹⁰ Freer-Smith et al. 2008: 259; Dingwerth 2007: 163

⁹¹ FSC Annual Report 2009: 11

⁹² FSC Principles and Criteria 1996: 3

⁹³ Freer-Smith et al. 2008: 257

mixed⁹⁴. FSC pure resembles wood products originating only from FSC-certified forests or plantations not mixed with material of another material category throughout the supply chain. FSC mixed products contain a percentage of FSC pure and a percentage of FSC controlled and/or reclaimed sources95. The non-FSC Pure parts are called FSC controlled wood and are also FSC certified, albeit against less demanding requirements than the general FSC forestry management standards. The FSC controlled wood standard still demands higher managerial quality in social and ecological respect than other certification schemes. The FSC mixed sources products encompass twofold certification of a different standard, the FSC forest management certification mirroring a maximum "gold" standard and the FSC controlled wood certificate functioning as a stepping stone or here, a progressively demanding standard, on the way to the maximum standard⁹⁶. FSC controlled wood standard assures that the wood product has not been illegally harvested, nor has it been harvested in violation of traditional and civil rights, nor in forests where high conservation values are threatened by management activities, nor in forests being converted from natural and semi natural forest to plantations or non-forest use, nor from forests where genetically modified trees are planted⁹⁷. FSC mixed sources can also entail reclaimed sources next to FSC certified wood and FSC controlled wood. Reclaimed material is used as input material in FSC mixed sources because it would otherwise have been disposed of as waste or used for energy recovery and thus does not require any other kind of certification98.

How ambitious is the FSC global standard?

- minimum standard
- ✓ progressively demanding standard
- ✓ maximum ("gold") standard

1.2.6 Incentives for client participation of the FSC global standard

Price premiums can serve as an incentive for attaining FSC certification. Reputational and legal incentives can also play a role for clients choosing FSC certification.

The FSC is a market-driven instrument relying on a market niche for certified wood products⁹⁹ which in turn are expected to attain price premiums enhancing profitability for the certified firm and subsequently providing it with the financial means to also stem the costs of certification. Cases in which firms gain price premiums for certified wood products are known, native tropical woods exported from Brazil carrying an FSC logo typically received 20 – 50% price premiums¹⁰⁰. In an FSC survey, 59% of those surveyed agreed that FSC certification brings increased sales to existing clients, and 65% agreed or that FSC certification brings access to new markets¹⁰¹. Yet, in contrast to Fairtrade certification the FSC does not generally include a mandatory price premium in the standard. Cases which have not been able to profit from certification, and where certification itself is too costly even calculating potential market advantage, have also been demonstrated¹⁰². However, the FSC/FLO dual certification project, launched in 2009 specifically promotes the objective to "bring smallholders

⁹⁴ FSC Standard for Chain of Custody Certification 2004: 6

⁹⁵ FSC Standard for Chain of Custody Certification 2004: 9

⁹⁶ http://www.fsc.org/cw.html April 16, 2011

⁹⁷ FSC Glossary of Terms 2009: 8

⁹⁸ FSC Glossary of Terms 2009: 12

⁹⁹ Freer-Smith et al. 2008: 25

¹⁰⁰ Auld et al. 2008: 194 – 195

¹⁰¹ FSC Annual Report 2008: 18

¹⁰² Klooster 2006: 548 – 549

and communities benefits including increased market access, minimum prices and guaranteed premiums"¹⁰³. FSC certification includes fees for procedural aspects such as evaluations and audits, as well as requirements in improving actual performance of forest management conditional to achieving certification, and finally also the actual certification fees¹⁰⁴.

In addition to price premiums, economic incentives can also be detected in issues relating to trade. E.g., companies exporting to Europe felt FSC certification was becoming a criterion for market access¹⁰⁵. The reason for tropical producers to obtain certification is essentially to maintain their access to American and Northern European Markets¹⁰⁶. "Consequently, FSC certification is seen by some as an obstacle to market access for tropical wood"¹⁰⁷. The balance between certified forests in the global north and the global south is unequal. As of January 2006, 82.3% of the FSC-certified area was in Europe and in North America while Africa, Asia, Oceania and Latin America accounted for only 17.7%¹⁰⁸ demonstrating that incentives for certification are significantly more embraced by highly industrialized regions than rural developing countries. Large timber retailers such as B&Q, IKEA or Home Depot can stem the costs of forestry certification without even having to increase prices on end products and thus further strengthening their market position in a twofold manner, one through reputational benefits through certification and two, through a competitive advantage¹⁰⁹. For these enterprises, FSC certification is chosen for reputational reasons.

As to the legal dimension, some southern states require FSC certification by public authorities in exchange for long-term forest concessions. Cases in which FSC holders are granted exemptions from government inspections have also been identified¹¹⁰. A few southern governments accept FSC certification in the place of domestic forestry law¹¹¹. Subsequently, signing up for FSC can also be motivated by a legal incentive.

What are clients' incentives to participate in certification against the FSC global standard?

- ✓ reputational incentive
- ✓ price premium
- ✓ legal incentive

1.2.7 Industry scale of the FSC global standard

The FSC global standard has been more attainable for large scale forest companies but has increasingly introduced programs specifically addressing small scale foresters.

Although the FSC standard does not explicitly address a certain scale of industry on paper, on the ground, FSC certification has been more attainable to large-scale forestry than small-scale forestry. Because large-scale industry in highly industrialized countries often already operates with high standards, it is often less of a challenge for large-scale industry to comply with the FSC scheme than small-scale industry in developing countries. "The broader the gap between a company's forestry practices and the practices needed to obtain

¹⁰³ FSC Annual Report 2010: 19

¹⁰⁴ Klooster 2006: 548

¹⁰⁵ Auld et al. 1008: 195

¹⁰⁶ Guéneau: 2009: 388

¹⁰⁷ Dingwerth 2007: 154

¹⁰⁸ Pattberg 2006: 585

¹⁰⁹ Klooster 2006: 557

¹¹⁰ Dingwerth 2008 a: 59

¹¹¹ Dingwerth 2007: 153

FSC certification, the lower the incentives to become certified"112. It has even been argued that "[c]ertification costs penalize small-scale operations"¹¹³. This is explained by fixed costs of certification disproportionate to the size of the forest operation in the total price of the certified product. Especially the most successful of community forestry enterprises can afford FSC certification compromising the basic designated effect of certification¹¹⁴. However, the FSC acknowledges this deficit and states in its annual report for 2010 "[m]aking certification more accessible, beneficial and credible for small and low-intensity managed forests (SLIMFs), communities, forest workers and indigenous people continues to be a priority for FSC"115. As a consequence, the FSC has introduced several programs addressing this problem. In 2004 e.g. the FSC adopted new standards for small and low-intensity managed forests for so called smallholders in order to make FSC certification better attainable for small-scale forestry¹¹⁶. As a further means to reduce per capita auditing and certification costs for smallholders, the FSC has promoted "group certification" through the intermediaries, e.g. forest cooperatives, companies or consultants¹¹⁷. Following the FSC/FLO dual certification pilot project, launched in 2009, the FSC continued to work together with the FLO in 2010 picking up on FLO's derivative objective of ameliorating the working conditions of small scale producers¹¹⁸. Furthermore, also in 2009, the FSC startet the project "Certification of Forest Contractors" (CeFCo) also in order "to facilitate certification of small private forests through [...] the certification of forestry contractors" 119. By 2006, 3% of FSC certified forests were community-owned, 60% publicly owned and 35% privately owned¹²⁰.

Which scale of industry does the FSC address?

- ✓ large-scale (state) companies
- ✓ small-scale and artisanal producers
- no specification in industry scale

1.3 Developing the FSC global standard

1.3.1 Procedures for evaluating the FSC global standard

In the FSC, evaluation of the FSC global standard is institutionalized and is carried out by a subunit of the FSC administrative management.

Generally, policy and standards unit, part of the FSC international center, is responsible for matters relating to the development of FSC standards and policies¹²¹. The FSC policy and standards program is also the main actor within the FSC in the context of reviewing and revising approved FSC standards. It "collates and reviews all comments on the standard, as well take into account external circumstances and the continued relevance of the standard, and prepare a report proposing what if any steps should be taken to revise the standard" 122. This procedure is institutionalized for "no later than three years after the approval date of the most recently

```
112 Guenéau 2009: 395
```

¹¹³ Guéneau 2009: 389

¹¹⁴ Klooster 2006: 558

¹¹⁵ FSC Annual Report 2010: 16

¹¹⁶ http://www.fsc.org/smallholders.html April 19, 2011

¹¹⁷ Guéneau 2009:391

¹¹⁸ FSC Annual Report 2010: 18

¹¹⁹ FSC Annual Report 2010: 16

¹²⁰ Klooster 2006:549

^{121 &}lt;a href="http://www.fsc.org/fileadmin/web-data/public/website-images/International_center_org/Organigram.html">http://www.fsc.org/fileadmin/web-data/public/website-images/International_center_org/Organigram.html April 21, 2011

¹²² FSC Development and Approval of FSC Social and Environmental International Standards 2006: 18

approved version of the social and environmental international standard"¹²³. In 2009, the FSC national standard in Germany, Sweden and the United States was undergoing revision¹²⁴.

The claim "FSC develops new and revises existing standards on a regular basis" is generally valid for all FSC standards. Only the FSC principles and criteria, at the heart of the FSC global standard, had been widely excluded from this stipulation. The FSC principles and criteria had not remained entirely unchanged since their adoption at the FSC founding assembly 1993. But amendments and revision in their context had not been institutionalized on a regular basis and the documented examples of revisions didn't relate to the entire document but only to individual principles. In 1996, the FSC principles and standards were amended by principle number 10 on forest plantations. Revisions on individual FSC principles had been carried out once in the context of principle 9 on the maintenance of high conservation value forests in 1998 – 1999 and once in the context of principle 10 on forest plantations in 2005 – 2006¹²⁶. In 2008 a full review of the FSC global standard was initiated and its revision is currently being carried out¹²⁷.

What are the evaluation procedures for the FSC global standard?

- only "spontaneous" evaluation through management, members and stakeholders
- ✓ institutionalized evaluation through management, members and/or stakeholders
- institutionalized evaluation through autonomous body

1.3.2 Actors responsible for initiating revision of the FSC global standard

The right to initiate revision of an FSC global standard is primarily but not exclusively reserved to scheme members and management. Stakeholders also have the opportunity to participate in the exercise.

The FSC board of directors, the FSC general assembly, FSC members, FSC accredited national initiatives, members of FSC staff, described here under *FSC secretariat*, or staff of the ASI – Accreditation Services International may propose a new standard for development in the FSC¹²⁸. The FSC has a relatively broad membership base comprising 833 individuals and institutions providing for widespread representation of interested stakeholders. Other than by means of the FSC members or the FSC national and regional offices stakeholders cannot initiate the development of new standards in the FSC scheme. In the context of standard review, in line with the ISEAL code of good practice for setting social and environmental standards, stakeholders can provide comments or feedback to an FSC standard at any time not just during a formal revision process. At regular intervals of 3 – 5 years the comments are reviewed by the FSC standards and policy unit.

In the context of FSC national standards, prior to 2009, only FSC accredited national initiatives could develop and submit a national standard to FSC for approval. By passing the FSC document *Process requirements* for the development and maintenance of Forest Stewardship Standards, the FSC opened this process also to national and regional initiatives that are not accredited as an FSC national initiative¹²⁹.

¹²³ FSC Development and Approval of FSC Social and Environmental International Standards 2006: 18

¹²⁴ FSC Annual Report 2009: 11

¹²⁵ http://www.fsc.org/development.html April 21, 2011

¹²⁶ Dingwerth 2007: 148

^{127 &}lt;a href="http://www.fsc.org/pcreview.html">http://www.fsc.org/pcreview.html April 21, 2011

¹²⁸ FSC Development and Approval of FSC Social and Environmental International Standards: 5

¹²⁹ FSC Annual Report 2009: 11

Who can initiate revisions of the FSC global standard?

- only scheme management
- also members
- √ also stakeholders

1.3.3 Actors responsible for preparing the FSC global standard

The working group responsible for preparing the FSC global standard is made up of only FSC members.

Once the revision or the development of a new FSC standard has been initiated a working group is installed for the cause led by a facilitator. The working group consists exclusively of FSC members balanced in terms of the six FSC sub-chambers. Scheme management or members of FSC staff are not allowed formal membership in the group¹³⁰. Generally, the facilitator is a member of one of the FSC staff bodies and not of an FSC governing body, such as the board or general assembly. Additionally, a steering committee for supervising the process of standard development is put up by the FSC executive director and the newly appointed facilitator¹³¹. The facilitator is furthermore "responsible for setting up and supporting a Working Group for each FSC social and environmental international standard"132. The FSC board of directors is responsible for informing FSC members on the establishment of a working group giving them the opportunity to either participate as a member in the working group or to comment on the composition of the group within a period of at least 30 days. The FSC board of directors is also responsible for proposing and approving the working group membership, supported by the steering committee¹³³. The working group members are selected on the basis of their expert knowledge or experience of the issue under consideration and of FSC's systems and procedures. They should also be representative of the respective sub-chamber they stem from and of the scale of industry affected by the standard in development. Further criteria for working group member selection are an understanding of standard impacts on stakeholders, of the FSC ideology and skills in the working language. In the FSC, expertise is broadly defined encompassing both scientific training as well as practical experience as expertise, drawing on experts from universities, nongovernmental organizations, business, social associations and regulators¹³⁴.

Who is preparing the content of the standard?

- technical bodies of external experts
- scheme management
- ✓ members (and stakeholders)

1.3.4 Stakeholder consultation on the FSC global standard

The process of stakeholder consultation is open to all interested stakeholders in the FSC.

In the preparatory stage of introducing a new FSC standard, a proposal is written identifying "the key stakeholder groups that will be affected by the new standard and the potential impacts upon them" among other

¹³⁰ FSC Development and Approval of FSC Social and Environmental International Standards: 9

¹³¹ FSC Development and Approval of FSC Social and Environmental International Standards: 7

¹³² FSC Development and Approval of FSC Social and Environmental International Standards: 9

¹³³ FSC Development and Approval of FSC Social and Environmental International Standards: 9

¹³⁴ Eden et al. 2010: 98

points¹³⁵. In parallel to the establishment of each working group for an FSC standard, a *consultative forum* is also established within the FSC standard development process. Membership in the consultative forum is neither limited by numbers nor by status and is open to all interested stakeholders irrespective of FSC membership. The consultative forum addresses "stakeholders who may be affected by the implementation of a specific FSC social and environmental international standard"¹³⁶.

Consultation procedures in the FSC standard development process include public consultation and technical consultation. FSC standard drafts for public consultation are officially announced in e.g. the FSC newsletter and are also published on the FSC website. All steps constituting current revision of e.g. the FSC principles and criteria are documented on the FSC homepage in English and Spanish¹³⁷. The FSC website also offers a formal comment form for free download. The draft shall be circulated to the FSC board of directors, all members of the working group, all members of the consultative forum, all FSC national initiatives and national and regional offices, all FSC-accredited certification bodies, all key stakeholder groups identified for the cause and all supervisors of FSC core programs¹³⁸.

In line with the ISEAL Code of Good Practice for Setting Social and Environmental Standards, public review of a standard shall include at least two rounds of comment submissions by interested parties. Each round shall include a period of at least 60 days for the submission of comments¹³⁹. The FSC Bylaws include further provisions for enabling wide stakeholder inclusion in consultation processes such as funding to hold technical working group meetings in southern countries where appropriate, opportunities to meet with southern stakeholders in association with other meetings, pilot testing/field testing in at least some southern countries, including southern, and in particular regional representation in technical working groups, working with national initiatives in southern countries to hold telephone conferences with southern stakeholders; and funding to facilitate consultation by southern national initiatives¹⁴⁰.

How is the process of stakeholder consultation organized?

- ad hoc; not institutionalized
- institutionalized, open to selected stakeholders
- ✓ institutionalized, open to all interested stakeholders

1.3.5 Final decision-making on the FSC global standard

Final decisions on the FSC global standard are made by voting in the FSC general assembly of members.

Procedures of final decision-making differ depending on the issue to be decided upon. Changes on the FSC global standard, i.e. the FSC principles and criteria and on the FSC statutes are reserved to decision by the FSC general assembly of members, "at least on paper, the supreme authority of the Association" In the special case of the FSC Principles and Criteria for Forest Stewardship (published as FSC-STD-01-001) a duly proposed and approved motion of the FSC General Assembly is a requirement in order to approve any modification of

¹³⁵ FSC Development and Approval of FSC Social and Environmental International Standards: 6

¹³⁶ FSC Development and Approval of FSC Social and Environmental International Standards: 10

^{137 &}lt;a href="http://www.fsc.org/pcreview.html">http://www.fsc.org/pcreview.html April 21, 2011

¹³⁸ FSC Development and Approval of FSC Social and Environmental International Standards: 11

¹³⁹ ISEAL Engaging Stakeholders 2007: 20

¹⁴⁰ ISEAL Engaging Stakeholders 2007: 19

¹⁴¹ Dingwerth 2007: 150

the standard"¹⁴². Valid decisions at the general assembly require the quorum of at least 50% and are taken by a weighted majority. Each of the six chambers has equal weight and must approve by a simple majority, in addition to an overall approval of 66%¹⁴³. The FSC board of directors makes all formal decisions not reserved for the FSC general assembly. The FSC board is e.g. responsible for approving national standards developed by the FSC national initiatives but not for the global standard¹⁴⁴. Board decisions aim to achieve consensus but in the case of a vote, decisions are required to achieve support from six out of nine board members¹⁴⁵.

In the context of developing a new FSC standard the FSC executive director, head of the FSC international center, makes the formal decision after consulting "approved strategic planning documentation, work plans and other instructions of the FSC board of directors" After development of a new standard has been decided upon and the respective standard has been designed, the board of directors gives its final approval on the draft standard with the exception of standards relating to the FSC principles and criteria, i.e. the FSC global standard. The FSC board of director may also delegate the task of approving an FSC draft standard to a formal committee!

How are final decisions on the FSC global standard made?

- near consensus among members
- ✓ voting among members
- decision by scheme management (board decision)

1.4 Conformity assessment in the FSC

1.4.1 Auditing in the FSC

FSC certification and respectively auditing is carried out by independent third party certification bodies.

The FSC has developed a series of mandatory standards for its accredited certification bodies based on the framework standard *General requirements for FSC accredited certification bodies – application of ISO/IEC Guide 65:1996*. In the document the FSC defines certification as "third-party attestation related to products, processes, [...]"¹⁴⁸. Almost all provisions relating to the certification body as an organization provide for assuring the certification body's third party independence. E.g. 3.1 "[t]he certification body shall comply with FSC requirements for the avoidance of specific and institutional conflicts of interest" or [t]he certification body shall record any real, perceived and potential conflicts of interest and the actions taken to neutralize or avoid them"¹⁴⁹. In line with ISEAL recommendations, both the FSC and the Fairtrade International lean on the ISO Guide 65 in their conformity assessment schemes. The ISO 65 standard entails general criteria which "may have to be amplified when specific industrial or other sectors make use of them"¹⁵⁰. "[I]n order to address the technical challenges of assessing large areas of land which may provide homes and livelihoods for a wide variety of people, habitat for rare and endangered plants and animals, and basic environmental services in the

¹⁴² FSC Development and Approval of FSC Social and Environmental International Standards: 18

¹⁴³ ISEAL Setting Standards 2007: 28

¹⁴⁴ Dingwerth 2007: 150

¹⁴⁵ ISEAL Setting Standards 2007: 28; ISEAL Models of Governance: 11

¹⁴⁶ FSC Development and Approval of FSC Social and Environmental International Standards 2006: 5

¹⁴⁷ FSC Development and Approval of FSC Social and Environmental International Standards 2006: 5

¹⁴⁸ FSC General requirements for FSC accredited certification bodies – application of ISO/IEC Guide 65: 1996: 6

¹⁴⁹ FSC General requirements for FSC accredited certification bodies – application of ISO/IEC Guide 65: 1996: 10 – 11

¹⁵⁰ FSC General requirements for FSC accredited certification bodies – application of ISO/IEC Guide 65: 1996: 3

surrounding area" and for assuring "the credibility of the scheme and consumer confidence" in the context of the FSC chain of custody certification the FSC has developed additional FSC standards covering the details of evaluation, monitoring, report writing, the publication of public certification summaries etc.¹⁵¹. The FSC standard on general requirements addresses all bodies issuing FSC certification and has the objective of ensuring consistency and credibility in their operations¹⁵².

Which actor carries out the auditing in the FSC?

- standard setting body on global level (centralized structure)
- standard setting body on regional or national level (federal structure)
- independent third party

1.4.2 Monitoring actors in the FSC

Monitoring in the FSC is also carried out by an independent third party.

Following certification, again an independent third party, i.e. the FSC accredited certification body, conducts annual surveillance audits to verify continued compliance with the certification requirements¹⁵³. Surveillance equals monitoring as understood here and is defined as "systematic iteration of conformity assessment activities as a basis for maintaining the validity of FSC certification"¹⁵⁴. The same provisions relating to the third party independence of the body carrying out FSC certification also apply to the body responsible for monitoring in the FSC.

Which actor monitors compliance with the FSC global standard?

- standard setting body on global level (centralized structure)
- standard setting body on regional or national level (federal structure)
- ✓ independent third party

1.4.3 Modes of monitoring in the FSC

The annual surveillance audits by the FSC accredited certification body equal police patrol.

An FSC certificate is valid for no longer than five years. Certificates are issued or reissued when the FSC client has undergone annual surveillance audits including "the certification body's right to carry out unannounced or short notice surveillance evaluations"¹⁵⁵. The same applies to certificate holders wishing to maintain their FSC certificate. Reporting is also a central feature of FSC certification but is also carried out by the certification body, thus part of *police patrol*.

¹⁵¹ ISEAL Models of Verification 2007: 12

¹⁵² FSC General requirements for FSC accredited certification bodies – application of ISO/IEC Guide 65: 1996: 3

^{153 &}lt;u>http://www.fsc.org/5-steps-certification.html</u> January 24, 2011

¹⁵⁴ FSC General requirements for FSC accredited certification bodies – application of ISO/IEC Guide 65: 1996: 7

¹⁵⁵ FSC General requirements for FSC accredited certification bodies – application of ISO/IEC Guide 65: 1996: 14

Which mode of monitoring is institutionalized in the FSC?

- fire alarm
- ✓ police patrol
- company reporting

1.4.4 Accreditation in the FSC

Certification bodies in the FSC are accredited by an independent third party body closely affiliated with the FSC.

The FSC accreditation program is operated and managed by the FSC subsidiary, the ASI – Accreditation Services International. ASI is an independent accreditation body legally separate from FSC. ASI delivers accreditation and other services to FSC and other certification schemes, such as the Marine Stewardship Council. ASI is a limited liability company (GmbH) registered under German law, with FSC as its sole shareholder. The director of ASI makes recommendations on accreditation to an ASI Accreditation and Appeals Committee which is responsible for the decisions on accreditations to an ASI Accreditation and Appeals Committee which is responsible for the decisions on accreditation with ASI, the FSC is still criticized for a lack of credibility because it is "itself responsible for accrediting independent certification bodies" The entity responsible for auditing functions within the conformity assessment process has been organizationally separated from the entity of the standard setting body since 2002 "to preclude conflict-of-interest challenges" The ASI began operating for the FSC and other GSCSs in 2006. All FSC certification bodies are accredited at the ASI – Accreditation Services International in order to ensure that they maintain consistent standards of implementation as developed by FSC¹⁵⁹. Certification of the certification bodies against the ISO Guide 65: 1996 is also meant to ensure impartiality in the FSC certification bodies' operations and also resembles independent third party accreditation.

Who is responsible for accreditation in the FSC?

- standard setting body on global level (centralized structure)
- standard setting body on regional or national level (federal structure)
- ✓ independent third party

1.4.5 Dispute-settlement in the FSC

Binding arbitration, i.e. adjudication by an independent judicial body is envisaged as a final step in a dispute in the FSC.

As a principle, FSC encourages stakeholders to take a stepwise approach, first addressing the dispute at the lowest level possible, i.e. among the disputants. First after discussion and negotiation among disputants at the lowest level have failed, formal procedures should be adopted. The elements of "an appeals body made of relevant technical expertise, including expertise in dispute resolution" as well as "binding arbitration accor-

¹⁵⁶ ISEAL Models of Governance: 12 – 13

¹⁵⁷ Guéneau 2009: 398

¹⁵⁸ FSC Annual Report 2005: 5

¹⁵⁹ ISEAL Models of Verification 2007: 15

ding to internationally accepted rules as a final step"¹⁶⁰ are designated in the advanced stages of a dispute yet to be resolved. "The FSC Dispute Resolution System is not intended to substitute or override the legal rights of any party to use the appropriate judicial system"¹⁶¹. Furthermore, stated among the basic principles, the person making the decision cannot be one of the parties or have an interest in the outcome indicating some kind of mediation¹⁶². "Disputes arising from FSC certification or accreditation decisions shall be resolved by the Secretariat under guidelines developed by the Board"¹⁶³.

The term dispute in the FSC comprises appeals and complaints. The FSC distinguishes between informal and formal complaints ¹⁶⁴. A dispute in the FSC can relate to informal complaints, formal complaints and appeals within the FSC Certification Scheme, including the FSC Accreditation Program ¹⁶⁵.

Late 2009, the FSC issued its first comprehensive *Dispute Resolution System* replacing the *Interim Disputes Resolution Protocol* published in 1998. "The new system will enable a consistent and timely evaluation of complaints and appeals raised by stakeholders against decisions, performances or any other issues within the FSC scheme¹⁶⁶. An *online dispute resolution center* is also installed for facilitating submission and tracking of complaints and appeals in the context of the FSC dispute resolution system¹⁶⁷. The website provides five FSC documents relevant for an FSC dispute¹⁶⁸, a form for submitting complaints¹⁶⁹, and an overview of all submissions currently being addressed within the FSC dispute resolution system.

How is dispute-settlement organized in the FSC?

- only bargaining between disputants
- also mediation by "political" body
- ✓ also adjudication by independent judicial body

1.4.6 Means of enforcement in the FSC

The FSC encounters non-compliance among FSC clients with withdrawal of privileges.

In the case of non-compliance of FSC clients, the FSC system envisages three kinds of means of enforcement all resembling *withdrawal of privileges*; suspension defined as the "temporary invalidation of the FSC certification for all or part of the specified scope of attestation", termination defined as the "revocation or cancellation of the certification contract by the certification body or the client according to contractual agreements", and withdrawal simply defined as "the revocation or cancellation of the FSC certification"¹⁷⁰. Sanctions are not envisaged.

¹⁶⁰ FSC Statutes 2009: 14

¹⁶¹ FSC Dispute Resolution System 2009: 4

¹⁶² FSC Dispute Resolution System 2009: 8

¹⁶³ FSC Statutes 2009: 14

¹⁶⁴ FSC Glossary of Terms 2009: 6

¹⁶⁵ FSC Dispute Resolution System 2009: 5; Additional documents on the FSC Dispute Resolution System are ISO/PAS 17003:2004 Conformity assessment – Complaints and appeals – Principles and requirements; FSC Processing Appeals 2009; FSC Processing Complaints 2009; FSC Processing Formal Complaints 2009; and ASI Appeals Procedure 2010

¹⁶⁶ FSC Annual Report 2009: 6

^{167 &}lt;a href="http://www.fsc.org/dispute-resolution.html">http://www.fsc.org/dispute-resolution.html April 22, 2011

^{168 &}lt;u>http://www.fsc.org/706.html</u> April 22, 2011

^{169 &}lt;a href="http://www.fsc.org/dispute-resolution-form.html">http://www.fsc.org/dispute-resolution-form.html April 22, 2011

¹⁷⁰ FSC General requirements for FSC accredited certification bodies – application of ISO/IEC Guide 65: 1996: 7

Generally, five steps are described in order to achieve certification against the FSC standards. In the final step, the eventuality of having entered the certification process but not fulfilling all requirements necessary for certification is outlined. In this case, the forestry manager must fulfill the requirements entailed in the audit report and then undergo further audits in order to acquire certification¹⁷¹. FSC differentiates between major and minor non-compliances, where a major non-compliance represents systemic or long-term failure to meet one or more of the requirements of the standard, while a minor non-compliance mirrors failure that is limited in scope and time. Enterprises which have no major non-compliances are considered compliant and a short-term action plan is in place to address all minor non-compliances¹⁷². The absence of a valid *License Agreement for the FSC Certification Scheme* is an example of formal major nonconformity in the FSC leading to the suspension of the FSC certificate¹⁷³.

How is non-compliance dealt with in the FSC?

- no means of enforcement
- ✓ withdrawal of privileges
- sanctions

^{171 &}lt;a href="http://www.fsc.org/5-steps-certification.html">http://www.fsc.org/5-steps-certification.html January 21, 2011

¹⁷² ISEAL Setting Standards 2007: 18

¹⁷³ FSC General requirements for FSC accredited certification bodies – application of ISO/IEC Guide 65: 1996: 15

2 THE FAIRTRADE LABELING ORGANIZATIONS INTERNATIONAL (FLO)

2.1 General aspects of the FLO

The Fairtrade label is probably the best-known social label on the market. The leading organization in the field is the international consortium, the Fairtrade Labeling Organizations International (FLO)¹⁷⁴. Established 1997 in Bonn, Germany, today FLO combines 19 fair trade certification programs under one umbrella and one common label¹⁷⁵. The Fairtrade International is solely responsible for processes related to standard development and commissions the FLO subsidiary FLO-Cert with certification on the basis of their Fairtrade standard. FLO markets products across an array of sectors, mainly agricultural commodities such as bananas, cocoa, coffee, cotton or tea, but also the mineral gold¹⁷⁶. Fair trade labeling in general has had its main focus on coffee¹⁷⁷. Yet, the notion of "fair trade" emerged long before the label. In Europe fair trade movements date back to activities of the British nongovernmental organization Oxfam in the 1950s. Kindred developments in the Netherlands and in Germany in the 1960s and 1970s resulted in the creation of the Dutch organization Fair trade Organisatic importing the first "fairly traded" coffee 1973 and Germany's Gepa, founded 1975 by five Catholic and Protestant missionary groups. From a historical perspective the charitable activities of the Christian churches were the most notable for developing the concept of fair trade¹⁷⁸. The first labeling of a fair trade commodity related to coffee and was introduced within a Dutch development cooperation program with Guatemala, 1988.

Due to the project's interest on certification in mining, the FLO characteristics will primarily be exemplified on the model of the Fairtrade gold standard.

2.1.1 Actors involved in founding the FLO

National Fairtrade labeling organizations representing civil society created the Fairtrade Labeling Organizations International.

1997, 17 existing national labeling initiatives from Europe, North America and Japan created an umbrella organization for national certification programs, the Fairtrade Labeling Organizations International – FLO – headquartered in Bonn¹⁷⁹. Many of the 19 current members in FLO were among the founding actors. They were Fairtrade initiatives emerging in domestic markets. Early examples are the Netherlands' Max Havelaar which had been issuing a seal for Mexican coffee sold on European markets since 1988¹⁸⁰ and the TransFair certification programs of Germany, Austria, Switzerland and the Fairtrade Foundation of the United Kingdom, all established 1992¹⁸¹. National Fairtrade labeling initiatives have always been private non-profit organiza-

¹⁷⁴ Vogel 2005: 103

¹⁷⁵ http://www.Fairtrade.net/about_us.0.html March 21, 2011

¹⁷⁶ http://www.Fairtrade.net/products.0.html March 21, 2011

¹⁷⁷ Vogel 2005: 103

¹⁷⁸ Conroy 2007: 99

¹⁷⁹ Vogel 2005: 103

¹⁸⁰ Conroy 2007: 101

¹⁸¹ http://www.transfair.org/ueber-Fairtrade/was-ist-Fairtrade/chronik-des-fairen-handels.html; http://www.fairtrade.org.uk/what_is_fairtrade/fairtrade_foundation.aspx March 21, 2011

tions representing civil society actors. The historical importance of the churches is now balanced by political foundations and other social advocacy groups.

Which actors were involved in founding the FLO?

- ✓ civil society actors
- private businesses
- public authorities

2.1.2 Membership structure of the FLO

FLO's membership consists first and foremost of not-for-profit private organizations representing civil society groups. Private businesses from the south are also represented in the producer networks.

FLO is an umbrella organization with membership roughly structured among the two main groups, national labeling organizations and producer networks. In total, FLO has 24 members, 19 are national labeling initiatives from the global north, three are producer networks from the global south and two are associate members¹⁸².

On its own account, "Fairtrade [FLO] is one of the largest and most diverse multi-stakeholder initiatives in the world" This multi-stakeholder structure is far from evident in the members of the national labelling initiatives although the multi-stakeholder base has been widened with the formal incorporation of the producer networks as full members representing small-scale private business organizations, 2007¹⁸⁴. Till then, in terms of full membership, the FLO solely consisted of national certification schemes representing highly industrialized states across Europe, Japan and North America traditionally comprising civil society actors. The German member in FLO e.g., TransFair Germany consists of 36 members all representing nongovernmental organizations, such as Brot für die Welt or Misereor. Party political foundations such as the Friedrich-Ebert-Stiftung and the Konrad Adenauer Stiftung are also members in FLO¹⁸⁵. Public authorities are not represented through membership.

The difference between the first two is that only the national labelling initiatives license certification in their countries. The Fairtrade marketing organizations only promote Fairtrade certification in their countries, while licensing for certification is carried out by the international body, FLO itself. The bulk of the national labeling initiatives are based in Europe, two come from North America and one represents both Australia and New Zealand and one Japan. The two fair trade marketing organizations are from South Africa and respectively from the Czech Republic. The South African fair trade marketing organization, Fairtrade Label South Africa is also listed as one of two associate members. The other associate member is Comercio Justo Mexico¹⁸⁶.

The second group of membership comprises the three producer networks, Fairtrade Africa, Coordinator of Fairtrade Latin America and the Caribbean, and the network of Asian Producers. The producer networks are regional associations covering Africa, Latin America and the Caribbean, and Asia respectively. In turn, Fairtrade certified producer organizations constitute the membership of the producer networks representing small

^{182 &}lt;a href="http://www.transfair.org/ueber-Fairtrade/was-ist-Fairtrade/struktur-und-organisationen.html">http://www.transfair.org/ueber-Fairtrade/was-ist-Fairtrade/struktur-und-organisationen.html March 21, 2011

¹⁸³ FLO Annual Report 2009/2010: 6

¹⁸⁴ FLO Annual Report 2006/2007

¹⁸⁵ http://www.transfair.org/ueber-Fairtrade/was-macht-transfair/mitgliedsorganisationen.html March 21, 2011

¹⁸⁶ http://www.Fairtrade.net/labeling_initiatives1.0.html March 21, 2011

scale producers, workers and other producer stakeholders¹⁸⁷. The individual producer stakeholders are private businesses and are subsequently marked as such here. Yet, it could be subject to debate if the cooperative structure of the producer networks qualify them as civil society.

Which actors constitute the FLO membership?

- ✓ civil society actors
- ✓ private businesses
- public authorities

2.1.3 Members' representation in the FLO

Member groups in FLO are represented in a corporatist structure.

The national Fairtrade labeling initiatives and the producer networks are full members of FLO and have the right to vote at the annual general assembly. There are also two associate members, Fairtrade Label South Africa and Comercio Justo México. All members and certified producer organizations participate in FLO's decision-making through the general assembly and their respective assemblies: the labeling initiatives' assembly or relevant producer network assemblies¹⁸⁸. The twofold division between national certification programs from the North and producer networks representing the south mirrors a corporatist structure of representation.

How are member groups represented in the FLO?

- federal structure
- ✓ corporatist structure
- no special interest representation

2.1.4 Congruence among rule-makers and rule-takers in the FLO

There is a partial overlap among members as rule-makers and clients as rule-takers in the FLO.

In the first ten years of FLO's existence there was no overlap among rule-makers and rule-takers whatsoever. Rule-makers were solely national labeling organizations representing highly industrialized states from Europe, North America or Japan. And rule-takers were solely producers in developing countries. This situation changed when the FLO integrated the three producer networks as full members, 2007. Since then, there is a partial overlap among the two main member groups, national labeling organizations and producers. Both groups can now engage in the process of rule-making, i.e. standard setting, as full members. As for the rule-takers, the standard's application remains limited to producers and traders operating in Africa, Asia, Latin America and the Caribbean, and Oceania¹⁸⁹.

^{187 &}lt;a href="http://www.Fairtrade.net/producer_networks.0.html">http://www.Fairtrade.net/producer_networks.0.html March 21, 2011

^{188 &}lt;a href="http://www.Fairtrade.net/how_we_are_run.0.html">http://www.Fairtrade.net/how_we_are_run.0.html March 21, 2011

¹⁸⁹ FLO Geographical Scope 2009

Given the process of stakeholder consultation has been as open for all interested stakeholders throughout the history of the Faitrade International, producers and traders could also contribute to the process of rule-making in the respective institutionalized channels in the past, albeit from a less prominent stance. Looking at the history of Fairtrade, offers an explanation for this phenomenon, as it started as an activity motivated by charity organizations, first and foremost the churches¹⁹⁰. The adoption of a label accompanied by the rise of inclusive participation as a global norm brought with it the necessity for including the targets of the standard in the standard-setting process. Yet, the original underlying concept of Fairtrade somewhat counteracts the possibility for complete congruence among the groups of rule-makers and rule-takers in the FLO because producers in highly industrialized countries arguably already attain *fair* prices for their labor.

Are the groups of rule-makers and rule-takers congruent in the FLO?

- congruent
- ✓ partial overlap
- no overap

2.1.5 Mode of installing the FLO board of directors

The majority of the FLO board members are appointed by the membership groups of the organization. Other board members are recommended by the FLO nominations committee.

In total, the FLO board consists of 14 members. In order to ensure equal representation among the two main member groups, the national Fairtrade labeling initiatives elect five representatives and the Fairtrade certified producer organizations elect four representatives, at least one from each of the three regional producer networks for the FLO Board. The remaining five board members are installed on recommendations from the nominations committee responsible for reviewing appointments to the board and the committees¹⁹¹. Of these five, nominees from Fairtrade certified traders make up two and external independent experts make up three board members¹⁹². The board is ratified at the annual general assemblies¹⁹³.

The board is responsible for the organization's long term strategic direction, financial and risk management, and employment of the executive chief of the association¹⁹⁴. The board also appoints three sub-committees on standards, finances and nominations.

In addition to the board, the FLO has a leadership team which provides operational services and Fairtrade's strategic direction. FLO is led by a chief executive officer, a chief operating officer and FLO's Unit Directors and Heads from: Finance and Central Services, Producer Services and Relations, Strategy and Policy, Standards, Global Account Management, Global Product Management, Market Development, Communications and Human Resources¹⁹⁵.

¹⁹⁰ Conroy 2007: 99 – 101

¹⁹¹ http://www.fairtrade.net/how_we_are_run.0.html March 23, 2011

¹⁹² FLO Annual Report 2009/2010: 7

^{193 &}lt;a href="http://www.fairtrade.net/how_we_are_run.0.html">http://www.fairtrade.net/how_we_are_run.0.html March 21, 2011

¹⁹⁴ FLO Annual Report 2006/2007: 7

¹⁹⁵ FLO Annual Report 2009/2010: 7

How is the FLO board of directors put in place?

- self-appointment
- ✓ appointment by membership groups (federal/corporatist)
- election by members

2.1.6 The FLO secretariat

The FLO secretariat carries out substantive tasks for the scheme.

Similar to the context of the Forest Stewardship Council's *experts and staff* and the Marine Stewardship Council's *offices and staff* a secretary per se is not mentioned as part of the FLO governance structure. The FLO headquarters are located in offices in Bonn, Germany with a staff of ca 70 members. In addition to the offices in Germany, the FLO engages liaison officers via its *producer services and relations unit* in the regions represented by the producer networks in order to support producers locally¹⁹⁶. Other departments of the FLO are the standards unit, the strategy and policy unit, global resources unit, global product management unit, global account management unit and the communications unit¹⁹⁷. These manifold units resemble a secretariat with substantive tasks crucial to the functioning of the overall scheme as outlined in their titles.

What is the capacity of the FLO secretariat?

- no permanent secretariat
- secretariat with administrative tasks
- ✓ secretariat with substantive tasks

2.1.7 The FLO's relation to other GSCSs

FLO operates in nested cooperation with several other GSCSs engaging in Fairtrade.

2009, FLO launched two dual-certification partnerships, one, in artisanal and small-scale gold mining together with the Alliance for Responsible Mining and two, a pilot project for jointly labeled FSC/FLO timber products focusing on small-scale community-based foresters¹⁹⁸. Collaboration in general is also brought up in conjunction with the Fair Trade Advocacy Office, the World Fair Trade Organization, the European Fair Trade Association, the International Social and Environmental Accreditation and Labeling Alliance (ISEAL) and the International Federation of Organic Agricultural Movements¹⁹⁹.

The most evident example of nested cooperation lies in the structure of the FLO per se. As an umbrella organization the FLO comprises national certification programs that in turn use the Fairtrade International standard and label in their national schemes.

^{196 &}lt;a href="http://www.fairtrade.net/how_we_are_run.0.html">http://www.fairtrade.net/how_we_are_run.0.html March 23, 2011

^{197 &}lt;a href="http://www.fairtrade.net/how_we_are_run.0.html">http://www.fairtrade.net/how_we_are_run.0.html March 23, 2011

¹⁹⁸ FLO Annual Report 2009/2010: 5

¹⁹⁹ FLO Annual Report 2009/2010: 26

How does the FLO interrelate with other GSCSs?

- no relations (monopoly)
- ✓ nested cooperation
- open competition

2.1.8 The FLO's relation to (inter-)governmental organizations

Governmental bodies are supportive of the Fairtrade International activities.

The FLO is partnering with the German KfW Development Bank. As part of the KfW Africa Trade Enhancement Programme to improve access to finance for Fairtrade certified producers in Africa the FLO is compiling a comprehensive survey of the financing needs of Fairtrade-certified producers in Africa with the focus on core products and developing appropriate data management systems to facilitate producer access to financial services²⁰⁰.

The Fairtrade International is also currently involved in the *Certification Capacity Enhancement program* in partnership with the Rainforest Alliance and Utz Certified, as well as private sector representatives, and development agencies such as the German governmental organization *Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit* and cocoa stakeholders. The program is a joint pilot program with the objective to increase sustainability in West African cocoa producing countries²⁰¹.

No intergovernmental organizations are mentioned amongst FLO's list of partners²⁰².

How does the FLO interrelate with international organizations?

- no relations
- ✓ orchestration
- delegated authority

2.1.9 Financing of the FLO's activities

FLO recruits its financing by regular contributions in the form of membership fees, voluntary donations and marketing of its activities.

One result of the 2007 strategic review was the instalment of the *Strategic Fairtrade Funding Programme*. Within this program strategic partnerships for funding Fairtrade activities have been created in collaboration with governmental ministries responsible for development cooperation such as the United Kingdom Department for International Development or the Norwegian Agency for Development Cooperation. Additionally, partnerships with organizations such as the German Friedrich-Ebert-Stiftung or Misereor for the funding of specific projects are part of the program²⁰³.

²⁰⁰ http://www.fairtrade.net/885.0.html April 17, 2011

²⁰¹ http://www.fairtrade.net/885.0.html April 17, 2011

²⁰² FLO Annual Report 2009/2010: 26

²⁰³ FLO Annual Report 2009/2010: 8

In 2009, voluntary donations through grants surpassed the amount of financing generated through membership fees by the national labelling initiatives. The membership fees are calculated as a percentage of the licence fee income of the labelling initiative²⁰⁴. Subsequently, the licence fee must be categorized as *marketing of activities* although the Fairtrade International neither lists it among the pillars of FLO's financial income nor elsewhere. Financial support has been provided by Belgium, Denmark, France, the Netherlands, Switzerland, and more recently the EU²⁰⁵.

How are the FLO's activities financed?

- ✓ voluntary donations
- ✓ regular contributions
- ✓ marketing of the GSCS's activities

2.1.10 FLO scheme evaluation

The GSCS FLO does not have institutionalized procedures for evaluating the scheme.

The role of the general assembly "is to maintain the constitution and membership systems of the association and to approve the annual accounts" implying also eventual evaluation of the scheme²⁰⁶. A strategic review of FLO as an organization was carried out 2007 and first implemented as a new strategy in 2009 after approval by the general assembly, December 2008²⁰⁷. Despite the procedure for evaluation of the overall scheme not being institutionalized in the FLO, the organization has undergone structural changes since its making. One of the major structural changes in FLO's history was the formal incorporation of producer networks as full members, 2007, constituting a new governance structure of the scheme. This change required a revision of FLO's constitution approved by FLO's meeting of members, 2006²⁰⁸.

Has the FLO institutionalized procedures for evaluating the scheme?

- ✓ no institutionalized evaluation
- institutionalized scheme evaluation by management, members and/or stakeholders
- institutionalized scheme evaluation by an autonomous body

2.2 Characteristics of the FLO global standard

2.2.1 Subject of the FLO global standard

The FLO standard entails procedural requirements as well as requirements on product characteristics.

The Fairtrade International's standards are classified in the three groups; generic standards, product standards, and the group of standards comprising Fairtrade minimum prices and Fairtrade premiums. Generic standards

²⁰⁴ FLO Annual Report 2009/2010: 25

²⁰⁵ Vogel 2005: 104

²⁰⁶ FLO Annual Report 2009/2010: 7

²⁰⁷ FLO Annual Report 2009 - 2010: 3, FLO Annual Report 2008/2009: 5

²⁰⁸ FLO Annual Report 2006/2007: 7

entail requirements on procedures by prescribing conditions of production and terms of trade respectively addressing all producers and traders²⁰⁹. Additionally, the product standards take product specifics into account²¹⁰. Currently, five generic standards apply respectively to small producers' organizations, hired labor situations, contract production, trade standards, and FLO prohibited materials list. The lion part of products dealt with in the Fairtrade product standards apply to agricultural food products. The most prominent agricultural Fairtrade product is coffee. Other Fairtrade products are tea, cocoa, fruits, vegetables, soybeans and others, adding up to a total of 16 product categories. Each product specific standard is accompanied by the scope of certification which relates back to the generic standards. In the sectors bananas, fresh fruit, fresh vegetables, fruit juices, tea and wine grapes e.g., the scope of certification applies to small producers' organizations and hired labor. Besides foods, Fairtrade product standards also apply to non-food commodities such as gold, cotton, flowers and timber. Sport balls comprise the only Fairtrade product standard for a manufactured product²¹¹.

Taking an example of the Fairtrade gold standard, one procedural requirement states 1.1.3 "The ASMO [Artisanal and Small-Scale Miners' Organization] has membership criteria as defined in its own stated rules and regulations"²¹². Requirements relating to the product composition also constitute a chapter in the Fairtrade gold standard, e.g. 8.1.4 "The minimum caratage of gold (Au) in labeled consumer products is 9 carats"²¹³.

All Fairtrade standards comprise a chapter *traceability* with the objective of disclosing the origin of the Fairtrade certified product. In the Fairtrade gold standard, chapter 7 is dedicated to traceability and opens under *intent*: "The objective is to trace the gold back to the producer by check of documentation, as well as ensuring that the product is also physically separate and identifiable from non-Fairtrade products" Nevertheless, this does not justify for also marking the category *origin* here because origin is secondary to procedures and product characteristics. Similar to the case of the Forest Stewardship Council, the FLO certificate discloses origin indeed but this aspect of certification is merely a byproduct of the main objective of Fairtrade certification, which is production and product quality, here.

What is subject to the FLO global standard?

- ✓ procedures (production/process management)
- ✓ results (product/performance)
- origin of product

2.2.2 Chain of custody certification in the FLO

The Fairtrade is highly visible to end consumers.

The Fairtrade label is one of the most visible social labels globally. The visibility of the Fairtrade mark is underscored by the nature of its products. Besides the one exception of sport balls, Fairtrade products are all not further manufactured and appear at the sales counter in the same form as they are extracted or harvested in the first place like coffee, tea or flowers. Fairtrade gold is generally manufactured to jewelry still allowing for

²⁰⁹ http://www.fairtrade.net/generic_standards.0.html March 24, 2011

^{210 &}lt;a href="http://www.fairtrade.net/standards.0.html?&L=title">http://www.fairtrade.net/standards.0.html?&L=title March 24, 2011

²¹¹ FLO List of all FLO Standards 2011

²¹² FLO Fairtrade and Fairmined Standard for Gold 2010: 17

²¹³ FLO Fairtrade and Fairmined Standard for Gold 2010: 41

²¹⁴ FLO Fairtrade and Fairmined Standard for Gold 2010: 39

recognition of the primary commodity²¹⁵. FLO issues different seals for the European market and respectively the Northern European market, both conspicuous on the packaging²¹⁶.

At which stage in the chain of custody does certification apply?

- ✓ certificate visible for end consumer
- certificate included in other end consumer visible certificate
- business to business certificate not visible to end consumer

2.2.3 Precision of the FLO global standard

The Fairtrade standards consist of general principles as well as specific norms. Measurable rules are developed by the Fairtrade certification body, FLO-Cert on the basis of the Fairtrade standard.

The Fairtrade gold standard is structured in two sections. Section a) entails the standard for artisanal and small-scale gold mining and is sub-structured in six chapters. Section b) outlines standards for trading and processing. The standard for artisanal and small-scale gold mining opens with general requirements and guidance also comprising nine general principles. The principles deal with issues such as legality, human rights, decent work, environmental stewardship or gender equity²¹⁷. The further parts of the standard are social development, economic development, environmental development, standards for labor conditions, and concluding with a supplement for small-scale mining organizations. Each part has 2 – 8 paragraphs, in part 1 social development, the paragraphs relate in turn to 1.1 "members of the organization are community based artisanal and small-scale miners", 1.2 "Fairtrade adds to development", 1.3 "democracy, participation and transparency", and 1.4 "non-discrimination". These paragraphs are further sub-divided in minimum and progress requirements. Minimum requirement 1.1.1 e.g. holds, "artisanal miners can participate in Fairtrade if an ASMO (Artisanal and Small-scale Miners' Organization) is in place" or 1.1.2 "[t]he majority of the miners working under the umbrella of an ASMO is comprised by community based artisanal or small-scale miners including artisanal mining entrepreneurs with contracted workers"²¹⁸.

Another illustrative example in regards to the standard's precision relates to the Fairtrade gold standard requirement concerning a grievance procedure for human rights and environment. Within this procedure the management of the miners' organization must nominate one responsible person. The grievances as well as corrective measures are to be documented. First, bargaining among the disputes sets in. In case, the dispute cannot be settled between the miners' organization and the disputant, a competent environment respectively human rights body, recognized by the national federation of the affected producers, steps in to investigate the issue. If no agreement on such a body can be achieved, the FLO and Alliance for Responsible Mining reserve the right of decision within 30 days. The gold standard stipulates that the investigation and decision on the grievance is to be taken within 90 days after the receipt of the grievance. Further terms of references of the investigation must be approved by the certification body. The miners' organization must then take measures following the decision by the environment respectively human rights body²¹⁹.

²¹⁵ http://www.fairtrade.org.uk/gold/about-us/where-to-buy.html April 19, 2011

²¹⁶ Conroy 2007: 102 – 103

²¹⁷ FLO Fairtrade and Fairmined Standard for Gold 2010: 8-9

²¹⁸ FLO Fairtrade and Fairmined Standard for Gold 2010: 17

²¹⁹ FLO Fairtrade and Fairmined Standard for Gold 2010: 11

Despite these extensive and detailed procedures, technical compliance criteria, i.e. measurable rules are explicitly not part of the Fairtrade gold standard but developed by the Fairtrade International's certifying body. The FLO-Cert is delegated the task "to translate Fairtrade standard requirements and FLO-CERT certification policies into verifiable control points that are evaluated during the certification process to determine compliance with the Fairtrade standard"²²⁰.

To which degree of precision is the FLO global standard formulated?

- also measurable rules
- ✓ also specific norms
- only general principles

2.2.4 Context sensitivity of the FLO global standard

Fairtrade standards are context sensitive and take regional, national and local specifics into consideration.

In philosophy, the underlying ideology of the notion of fair trade is the global framework for the development of the individual context specific Fairtrade standards. The Fairtrade standards are drafted for certain countries or regions, acknowledging local and national specifics. The standard is only applicable to producers respectively traders operating in the countries it was made for²²¹. The Fairtrade gold standard e.g. is applicable only to gold mining activities in Latin America. In the case of the Fairtrade gold standard the region of Latin America serves as a pilot for testing the young standard and then further developing it for specific application in Africa and Asia²²². In the context of universality of the Fairtrade gold standard Fairtrade International states "[t]he STANDARD needs to be internationally accepted, but must have local, regional or national application, to ensure it is applicable at all levels'²²³. Due to the gold standard's exclusive application to the mining areas of artisanal and small-scale miners' organizations, it is by far more context specific than applying to a continent, i.e. Latin America. The gold standard only applies to the mining areas operated by the respective mining groups²²⁴.

Is the FLO global standard context sensitive?

- only global standard
- ✓ global standard takes regional/national specifics into consideration
- global standard as framework for local/national/regional standard

2.2.5 Minimum or maximum standard in the FLO

The FLO standards comprise both minimum standards and progress requirements.

²²⁰ FLO-Cert Certification 2011: 4

^{221 &}lt;a href="http://www.fairtrade.net/all_standards.0.html">http://www.fairtrade.net/all_standards.0.html March 24, 2011

²²² FLO Fairtrade and Fairmined Standard for Gold 2010: 7 – 8

 $^{\,}$ 223 $\,$ FLO Fairtrade and Fairmined Standard for Gold 2010: 8

²²⁴ FLO Fairtrade and Fairmined Standard for Gold 2010: 4

The Fairtrade standards for producers have both minimum requirements as well as progress requirements. In the context of the Fairtrade gold standard e.g., chapter 1.3 democracy, participation and transparency e.g., one minimum requirement 1.3.2 stipulates "[the] ASMO [Artisanal and Small-scale Miners' Organization] holds a General Assembly at least once a year". In the respective chapter, four progress requirements complement four minimum requirements.—Example of progress requirements are 1.3.5 "[t]he ASMO [Artisanal and Small-scale Miners' Organization] works towards transparent planning of the business" or "[t]he ASMO [Artisanal and Small-scale Miners' Organization] establishes or improves internal mechanisms for members' control over the administration"²²⁵. Fairtrade standards for producers include only minimum requirements because no development is expected of the Fairtrade trader²²⁶.

Additionally, the Fairtrade certification body, FLO-Cert develops compliance criteria each assigned to a specific timeframe. They can be valid from the start or after a time period of three respectively six years. Conformity with the compliance criteria is required within the stipulated timeframe for each criterion for issuance or renewal of a certificate. During regular inspections, FLO-Cert provides a gap analysis in order to identify the areas with potential compliance problems at an early stage before the relevant compliance criteria become valid²²⁷.

How ambitious is the FLO global standard?

- ✓ minimum standard
- √ progressively demanding standard
- maximum ("gold") standard

2.2.6 Incentives for client participation of the FLO global standard

FLO's pivotal incentive for attracting clients, i.e. producers to certify their products on the basis of a Fairtrade standard is the fair price respectively price premium. In regards to Northern retailers, the reputational incentive is decisive for engaging in Fairtrade.

The *Fairtrade minimum prices* and *Fairtrade premiums* constitute their own group of standards among the FLO's Fairtrade standards portfolio²²⁸. "Increasing the income of small [coffee] farmers is the primary purpose of Fairtrade"²²⁹. For small scale producers, the price premium offered by Fair Trade "can represent the difference between destitution and survival"²³⁰. On principle, the fair trade label certifies that products have been paid above world market prices for their products²³¹. In the case of coffee, in addition to the requirement of a "floor price", the commodity must be purchased directly from farm co-operatives which must be offered credit by importers²³². In parallel, gold must be purchased by the Artisanal and Small-scale Miners' Organization²³³. Fairtrade certified products should also be less environmentally damaging because environmental aspects such as shade growth in the case of coffee or detoxification of cyanide solutions in the case of gold are included in the standard²³⁴.

²²⁵ FLO Fairtrade and Fairmined Standard for Gold 2010: 18

²²⁶ FLO-Cert Certification 2011: 4

²²⁷ FLO-Cert Certification 2011: 4, 6

²²⁸ FLO Development of Fairtrade Standards 2011: 3

²²⁹ Vogel 2005: 103

²³⁰ Vogel 2005: 105

²³¹ Vogel 2005: 49

²³² Vogel 2005: 103

²³³ FLO Fairtrade and Fairmined Standard for Gold 2010: 4

²³⁴ Vogel 2005: 105; FLO Fairtrade and Fairmined Standard for Gold 2010: 22

For major retailers like Starbucks the rationale behind entering the fair trade market for coffee was first and foremost grounded on a reputational incentive²³⁵. Paying the price premium required by FLO standards constitutes an additional cost for retailers although this price difference can be next to insignificant. Starbucks for example paid only six cent less for high quality coffee by conventional producers than the Fairtrade International demanded²³⁶. For retailers – often located in the global north – to choose Fairtrade certified suppliers when purchasing commodities the reputational incentive is prevalent.

What are clients' incentives to participate in certification against the FLO global standard?

- ✓ reputational incentive
- ✓ price premium
- legal incentive

2.2.7 Industry scale of the FLO global standard

The FLO global standard addresses solely small producers and farmers working primarily in developing countries.

The Fairtrade gold standard, e.g. only applies to artisanal and small-scale miners' organizations defined as a "member organization comprised of self-employed miners who are members or shareholders" The *FLO producer services and relations unit* manages a producer certification fund with the objective of assisting small scale farmers to stem the costs of Fairtrade certification²³⁸.

The historical roots of *fair trade* dating back to the 1950s in Europe and North America only addressed small-scale producers in the developing world. The foundation of the FLO in 1997 reflects a new development in the fair trade movement opening its scheme to major retailers. Some large scale industry, such as large coffee suppliers are precluded from Fair Trade certification because they are not cooperatives²³⁹. But other transnational corporations such as Starbucks, Procter and Gamble, Green Mountain and Dunkin' Donuts have also used the Fairtrade label on their products.

Which scale of industry does the FLO global standard address?

- large-scale state companies
- √ small-scale and artisanal producers
- no specification in industry scale

²³⁵ Vogel 2005: 104

²³⁶ Vogel 2005: 104

²³⁷ FLO Fairtrade and Fairmined Standard for Gold 2010: 10

²³⁸ http://www.fairtrade.net/producer_certification_fund.0.html March 23, 2011

²³⁹ Vogel 2005: 105

2.3 Developing the FLO global standard

2.3.1 Procedures for evaluating the FLO global standard

Fairtrade International has institutionalized procedures for evaluation of the global standard by management, members and stakeholders.

In FLO, first and foremost, comments by internal and external stakeholders constitute the main pillars in the evaluation process of a standard. All comments submitted to the FLO contact point for a certain standard or to the Fairtrade International as a whole via its homepage are recorded in a *standard logbook* and taken into account during a process formally established for the cause. Once a critical mass of comments has been collected on one standard, a project to review the standard is initiated²⁴⁰.

Besides evaluation through stakeholder comments, a regular review of the Fairtrade standards is carried out by the standards unit every three years including a formal comment period of stakeholder consultation²⁴¹. The provisions for the formal comment period are in line with the ISEAL Alliance Code of Good Practice for Setting Social and Environmental Standards²⁴². Evaluation can also follow complaints as described below in the point on dispute settlement²⁴³.

What are the FLO evaluation procedures for the global standard?

- only "spontaneous" evaluation through management, members and stakeholders
- ✓ institutionalized evaluation through management, members and/or stakeholders
- institutionalized evaluation through autonomous body

2.3.2 Actors responsible for initiating revision of the FLO global standard

In the Fairtrade International, any interested stakeholder can propose revision of a standard. Approval of the standards unit is necessary for kicking off a process of revision.

Fairtrade International provides the form *standards project requests* on its homepage for initiating the development of a new standard and/or revising an existing standard. Another form, the *price request form* is accessible for recommending the introduction of a new product for certification. Any stakeholder can voice its proposal for e.g. revision of a standard by filling in the respective form and then submitting it to the standards unit. Submitting proposals for new standards is not limited to the numerous bodies of FLO; the FLO board, the FLO standards committee, the national labeling initiatives, the producer and trader networks, the producer services and relations unit and the Fairtrade International's certification body, FLO-Cert²⁴⁴. The requests are assessed by the standards unit and will first be included in the work plan once the director of the standards unit or the head of standards approves the proposal.

²⁴⁰ FLO Development of Fairtrade Standards 2011: 10

²⁴¹ FLO Development of Fairtrade Standards 2011: 3

²⁴² ISEAL Standard-Setting Code 2010

²⁴³ FLO Development of Fairtrade Standards 2011: 10 – 11

²⁴⁴ FLO Development of Fairtrade Standards 2011: 4

Who can initiate revisions of the FLO global standard?

- only scheme management
- also members
- ✓ also stakeholders

2.3.3 Actors responsible for preparing the FLO global standard

In the Fairtrade International, the standards unit is primarily responsible for preparing the Fairtrade standards and resembles a technical body of external experts.

The FLO standards unit manages the standard-setting process in its details. It "is responsible for developing (i.e. preparing, amending, adapting) and revising Fairtrade standards"²⁴⁵. The standards unit encompasses the subdivisions standards subunit and pricing subunit responsible for developing the standards on prices. The standards subunit develops and revises generic standards as well as product standards²⁴⁶. The standards committee rather supervises the standard development process by providing guidance and is also involved in decisions relating to the FLO standards²⁴⁷.

In the context of the Fairtrade gold standard, the right to amend the standard is reserved to the joint gold standards sub-committee comprising members of the technical committee of the partnering GSCS, the Alliance for Responsible Mining, and delegates of the FLO standards committee²⁴⁸. In the context of the generic Fairtrade trade standard e.g. it is the FLO in general who has the reserved right to amend the standard²⁴⁹.

Who is preparing the content of the FLO global standard?

- ✓ technical bodies of external experts
- scheme management
- members and stakeholders

2.3.4 Stakeholder consultation on the FLO global standard

Stakeholder consultation in the Fairtrade International is open to all interested stakeholders.

In the FLO, stakeholders can issue comments at any stage in the standard-setting process. The standard-setting process begins with a description of the proposed project with background information on the scope and objective of the new or revised standard. The next stage in the process relates to the draft period when comments can be made on specific questions and proposed content. Finally, the standard-setting process concludes with an official comment period setting in after publication of the standard. The time frame for the comment period is set in line with the ISEAL Alliance code of good practice on standard-setting²⁵⁰. Accordingly, the ISEAL code recommends a public comment period of at least two rounds, each round allowing for feedback

²⁴⁵ FLO Development of Fairtrade Standards 2011: 3

²⁴⁶ FLO Development of Fairtrade Standards 2011: 3

²⁴⁷ FLO Development of Fairtrade Standards 2011: 4

²⁴⁸ FLO Fairtrade and Fairmined Standard for Gold 2010: 15

²⁴⁹ FLO Development of Fairtrade Standards 2011: 4

²⁵⁰ http://www.isealalliance.org/content/standard-setting-code March 23, 2011

for at least 60 days. These recommendations may be adjusted following written justification. The minimum time frame for formal consultation after publication of a draft standard is 30 days²⁵¹. FLO normally applies approximately 60 days for each round. In case the revision merely relates to administrative corrections like mistakes in spelling and the like, the standards unit can decide not to open the process for formal stakeholder consultation²⁵². After the end of the formal comment period, stakeholders can still submit their comments at any time to the standards unit via the forms permanently accessible on the FLO homepage²⁵³.

The FLO producer services and relations unit is also involved in the process of stakeholder consultation through its task of identifying the needs of respective stakeholders and furthering them to the standard unit. When developing a new standard or revising an approved standard the standard unit appoints one prominent contact person²⁵⁴. The degree of stakeholder inclusion in the standard-setting process is determined by the standards unit by carrying out the task of identifying the relevant stakeholders. Stakeholders identified as key to the development of the standard in question are contacted directly and encouraged to give feedback on the draft standard. Stakeholders can be both internal and external stakeholders to the FLO²⁵⁵. The draft standard is also posted on the FLO homepage for public comments. In certain cases, the standards unit specifies its request for comments by stressing certain aspects of the standard or pose open questions for determining the opinions of the key stakeholders. Additionally, the standards unit may also arrange workshops with the relevant stakeholders²⁵⁶. The process of stakeholder consultation, in specific the formal comment period, is published on the FLO homepage under the *consultation results synopsis*.

Annual assemblies provide an institutionalized forum for stakeholder consultation on general topics. This is the case both for the general assemblies for the FLO as a whole and for the member assemblies of the national Fairtrade labeling organizations and respectively the producer networks, also convening on an annual basis²⁵⁷.

How is the process of stakeholder consultation organized?

- ad hoc; not institutionalized
- institutionalized, open to selected stakeholders
- ✓ institutionalized, open to all interested stakeholders

2.3.5 Final decision-making on the FLO global standard

In the final decision-making on a draft standard near consensus among the members of the standards committee is pursued.

For finally issuing an official Fairtrade standard the draft standard requires formal approval. The process of formal approval of a draft standard in FLO depends on the priority status given to the standard. For major projects the standards unit passes the draft standard on to the FLO standards committee for making the final decision. The standards committee strives for a consensual decision. In case consensus cannot be achieved procedures set in as outlined in the standards committee's terms of references²⁵⁸. The standards committee is

²⁵¹ ISEAL Standard-Setting Code 2010: 9

²⁵² FLO Development of Fairtrade Standards 2011: 8

²⁵³ http://www.fairtrade.net/setting_the_standards.0.html March 23, 2011

²⁵⁴ FLO Development of Fairtrade Standards 2011: 6

²⁵⁵ FLO Development of Fairtrade Standards 2011: 6-7

²⁵⁶ FLO Development of Fairtrade Standards 2011: 8

^{257 &}lt;a href="http://www.fairtrade.net/how_we_are_run.0.html">http://www.fairtrade.net/how_we_are_run.0.html March 23, 2011

²⁵⁸ FLO Development of Fairtrade Standards 2011: 9

made up of representatives of FLO's major stakeholder groups, producers, national Fairtrade labeling organizations and traders also including external experts²⁵⁹. If a standard is defined as of minor priority the director of the standards unit makes the final decision on the standard within 30 days after submission of the draft. The standard enters into force after publication²⁶⁰.

How are final decisions on the FLO global standard made?

- ✓ near consensus among members
- voting among members
- decision by scheme management (board decision)

2.4 Conformity assessment in the FLO

2.4.1 Auditing in the FLO

In the Fairtrade International, the independent third party FLO-Cert is responsible for the audits, for issuing certification and for monitoring.

2002, the Fairtrade International introduced the Fairtrade mark, i.e. certification. Two years later, the FLO delegated the responsibility of the entire process of conformity assessment to an external organization, FLO-Cert²⁶¹. The Fairtrade International's responsibility is now limited to standard-setting activities and producer services. FLO-Cert is a separate company owned by FLO. The FLO-Cert operates a "group certification" model in order to stem the challenge of certifying large cooperatives with hundreds or even thousands of producer members. This model includes an audit of the organization itself and random on-sight checks of individual farms. On the basis of the inspection the auditor issues a report to FLO-Cert for evaluation. The decision on certification is furthered to "a specialized certifier, who is supervised by an independent certification committee" 262.

Which actor carries out the auditing against the FLO global standard?

- standard setting body on global level (centralized structure)
- standard setting body on regional or national level (federal structure)
- ✓ independent third party

2.4.2 Monitoring actors in the FLO

The independent third party FLO-Cert is also responsible for monitoring in the FLO.

After initial certification further compliance with the Fairtrade International standard is monitored also by FLO-Cert. The conformity assessment process carried out by the FLO subsidiary FLO-Cert is itself subject to monitoring. A management review is institutionalized for annual evaluation of the FLO-Cert certification system.

^{259 &}lt;a href="http://www.fairtrade.net/how_we_are_run.0.html">http://www.fairtrade.net/how_we_are_run.0.html March 23, 2011

²⁶⁰ FLO Development of Fairtrade Standards 2011: 10

 $[\]underline{261\ \underline{http://www.fairtrade.net/history_of_fairtrade.0.html}\ March\ 25,\ 2011}$

²⁶² http://www.fairtrade.net/certifying_fairtrade.0.html March 25, 2011

Which actor monitors compliance with the FLO global standard?

- standard setting body on global level (centralized structure)
- standard setting body on regional or national level (federal structure)
- ✓ independent third party

2.4.3 Modes of monitoring in the FLO

The Fairtrade International employs an institutionalized mode of monitoring on a regular basis equal to police patrol. A system of fire alarm is equally institutionalized in the FLO.

After initial certification, the FLO conducts monitoring on an annual basis. In general, certification of the Fair-trade standards is not on point but constitutes two three year certification cycles with progressive requirements by year. *Renewal audits* are required for renewing certification after three years of initial certification, carried out at least five months before expiry of the certification²⁶³. In individual cases of companies that have been Fairtrade certified for several years and inspections never have detected signs of non-compliance, monitoring can be conducted first every three years and not annually²⁶⁴.

The mode of monitoring traders differs somewhat from the described mode regarding primarily producers. Depending on the trader's classification in the FLO-Cert audit categories, the trader can be subject to either *onsite surveillance* as described here or also offsite implying a desktop review based on reports²⁶⁵. Yet, the element of police patrol outweighs reporting in the conformity assessment process.

Fire alarm by a third party can be sounded within the FLO-Cert quality management *allegation* procedure. FLO-Cert tries to forestall allegations by e.g. encouraging workers of Fairtrade certified operations to approach FLO-Cert before issuing a complaint in order for the complaint to be dealt with within the normal audit routine²⁶⁶. Thus, a system of fire alarm is institutionalized in the FLO scheme through the FLO allegation procedure.

Which mode of monitoring is institutionalized in the FLO?

- ✓ fire alarm
- ✓ police patrol
- company reporting

2.4.4 Accreditation in the FLO

The FLO-Cert itself is certified against the ISO Guide 65 accreditation and is thus accredited by an independent third party.

The International Organic Accreditation Service offers ISO Guide 65 accreditation "for those certification bodies who require to demonstrate their competence to certain regulatory authorities". The ISO Guide 65 is known as EN45011 in its European version. It is the ISO's guideline "General requirements for bodies

²⁶³ FLO-Cert Certification 2011: 6

^{264 &}lt;a href="http://www.fairtrade.net/certifying_fairtrade.0.html">http://www.fairtrade.net/certifying_fairtrade.0.html March 25, 2011

²⁶⁵ FLO-Cert Certification 2011: 5

²⁶⁶ FLO-Cert Certification 2011: 3

operating product certification systems" and "has been referenced or used as a base for most organic norms and regulations" ²⁶⁷.

The FLO-Cert is ISO 65 certified asserting a system of quality management, transparency and full independence in operations²⁶⁸. As a subsidiary and contractor to FLO, FLO-Cert naturally carries out certification, in the form of auditing and monitoring against the Faitrade standard as developed by FLO. In terms of content FLO-Cert must adhere to the standard as developed by FLO but in terms of procedures it operates in adherence to the ISO Guide 65.

Who is responsible for accreditation?

- standard setting body on global level (centralized structure)
- standard setting body on regional or national level (federal structure)
- ✓ independent third party

2.4.5 Dispute-settlement in the FLO

The Fairtrade International involves a political body for mediation in its procedures of dispute-settlement.

The FLO distinguishes dispute-settlement in *complaints* and *appeal and review*. Two sets of terms of references, here *standard operating procedures* are in place respectively.

Any stakeholder has the right to make a complaint on a FLO-Cert activity. The complaint must be directed to the FLO-Cert quality management team in writing. A quality management officer is responsible for dealing with and responding to the complaint within 30 days. In case the complaint concerns a quality management officer or representative the technical services director respectively the managing director steps in as a quasi political body to manage the complaint²⁶⁹.

FLO operators can appeal against any FLO-Cert certification or evaluation decision and request a review of the decision upon good cause shown within 30 days after receipt of the respective decision by submitting the completed form to FLO-Cert's quality management representative. The quality management representative undertakes an initial evaluation of the complaint. If the initial evaluation results in a demand further handling of the appeals, the appeals and review committee is drawn upon. The appeals committee consists of internal members of the organization and the review committee consists of four regional managers²⁷⁰.

How is dispute-settlement organized in the FLO?

- only bargaining between disputants
- ✓ also mediation by "political" body
- also adjudication by independent judicial body

²⁶⁷ http://www.ioas.org/iso65.htm April 21, 2011

^{268 &}lt;a href="http://www.fairtrade.net/certifying_fairtrade.0.html">http://www.fairtrade.net/certifying_fairtrade.0.html March 25, 2011

²⁶⁹ FLO-Cert Complaints 2010: 3

²⁷⁰ FLO-Cert Appeal and Review 2010: 3 – 4

2.4.6 Means of enforcement in the FLO

Earnest non-compliance with the FLO standard is met with the withdrawal of privileges.

Means of enforcement in the framework of the FLO differ depending on the classification of the compliance criteria as major or regular. Non-compliance with major compliance criteria is considered a threat to the integrity of the Fairtrade mark and can lead to the suspension of the certificate and subsequently decertification. Non-compliance with a regular compliance criterion is considered as a less severe offence and does not invoke means of enforcement but rather suggestions for corrective measures²⁷¹. In the case of suspension, the suspension period is no longer than five months. A consequence of suspension for the operators is that they are no longer allowed to sign new Fairtrade contracts. They may continue to trade within existing contracts for a period of six months from the date of suspension. If the operator fails to introduce respective corrective measures for gradually achieving compliance, decertification sets in. In this case, the withdrawal of privileges resembles sanctions because the operator can neither sign new Fairtrade contracts nor fulfill existing contracts²⁷².

The FLO means of enforcement only equal sanctions in the case that the Fairtrade producer's livelihood or at least his business operations are fully dependent on the contracts it has with Fairtrade International. The Fairtrade producer is free to agree contracts with any other buyer outside of the framework of the Fairtrade International. Yet, buyers not adhering to Fairtrade principles may not be willing to pay the same price as stipulated by the Faitrade price premium.

How is non-compliance dealt with in the FLO?

- no means of enforcement
- ✓ withdrawal of privileges
- sanctions

3 THE GLOBAL REPORTING INITIATIVE (GRI)

The Global Reporting Initiative grew out of the Coalition of Environmentally Responsible Economies, founded 1989 and based in Boston, United States. In 1992 the United Nations Conference on Environment and Development uttered the appeal, "business and industry should be encouraged to report annually on their environmental records, as well as on their use of energy and natural resources" Together with the Tellus Institute, the Coalition of Environmentally Responsible Economies picked up on the appeal by launching the Global Reporting Initiative as an internal project division in 1997²⁷⁴. The Global Reporting Initiative was designed after the model of "the system of standardized financial accounting that emerged in collaboration between public and private actors in the United States and is controlled and monitored by the Financial Accounting Standards Board". The objective behind the GRI was and still is to provide a global framework for existing non-financial reporting schemes²⁷⁵ as "a response to the *proliferation* of different reporting standards that inhibited a comparison between sustainability reports of individual companies²⁷⁶. GRI finally replaced its founding organization and expanded the scope of disclosure requirement from purely environmental issues to the wider concept of sustainability reporting. In parallel the GRI evolved from a US-centered to a global organization.

The GRI is the only non-state policy process explicitly referenced in a formal document at the Johannesburg World Summit on Sustainable Development in 2002. Partnering with the United Nations' Global Compact as well as with the United Nations Environment Program (UNEP) further enhance the GRI's global prominence²⁷⁷. The GRI has been the most successful among efforts proliferating sustainability reporting²⁷⁸.

3.1 General aspects of the GRI

3.1.1 Actors involved in founding the GRI

Civil society actors and private businesses were involved in founding the GRI. Public authorities have been widely absent in the GRI from its founding to date.

The Global Reporting Initiative evolved out of the Coalition of Environmentally Responsible Economies in 1997 – 1998 in a joint project with the Tellus Institute, a major North American think tank in the field of sustainability. The Coalition of Environmentally Responsible Economies comprised members of "socially responsible investors", large and medium-sized corporations and environmental groups such as the Sierra Club or the Natural Resources Defense Council. Renowned brands such as Coca-Cola or General Motors supported the GRI. The *Green Metrics* study by the Tellus researchers drafted a design model for the GRI on the basis of a comparative study of existing reporting schemes²⁷⁹. Public authorities are not mentioned in the context of founding the GRI.

²⁷³ Dingwerth 2007: 100

²⁷⁴ Dingwerth 2007: 102

²⁷⁵ Dingwerth et al. 2009: 723 - 5

²⁷⁶ Dingwerth 2008 b: 615

²⁷⁷ Dingwerth 2007: 99

²⁷⁸ Dingwerth 2007: 102

²⁷⁹ Dingwerth 2007: 102 – 3

Which actors were involved in founding the GRI?

- ✓ civil society actors
- ✓ private businesses
- public authorities

3.1.2 Membership structure of the GRI

Membership in the GRI stakeholder council is open to civil society, private businesses and public authorities. Public authorities' representatives are in the minority compared to civil society and private business representatives.

In opposition to the Forest Stewardship Council and the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative organized as *members associations* with a formal membership base, members and stakeholders are not clearly distinguished in the GRI. Rather like the Marine Stewardship Council, the GRI also operates a stakeholder council which represents "GRI's formal stakeholder policy forum (similar to a parliament)"²⁸⁰. The GRI stakeholder council in its current form was introduced in 2003 and resembles a body of formal members. Before the stakeholder council was established the GRI was governed only by a Steering Committee. Today, a board of directors, the stakeholder council and a technical advisory committee make up the three GRI governance bodies²⁸¹.

The stakeholder council consists of up to 60 members and is structured in four constituent categories. Civil society groups and private businesses constitute their own categories in the GRI²⁸². The other two constituent categories are *mediating institutions* and labour²⁸³. Public authorities are not accrued an own constituency. However, the GRI stakeholder council is open to public authorities, as well. Currently, a GTZ representative from the German *Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit* represents a public authority in the GRI stakeholder council²⁸⁴.

In addition to the stakeholder council the GRI also employs a body of *organizational stakeholders*, "a mechanism through which any organization can identify itself as supportive of the GRI mission"²⁸⁵. There are no limits to the number of organizational stakeholders. Organizational stakeholders also play a role in GRI governance matters by their right to annually elect 60% of the stakeholder council, of which one third of the seats rotate each year.

Which actors constitute the GRI membership?

- √ civil society actors
- ✓ private businesses
- ✓ public authorities

²⁸⁰ http://www.globalreporting.org/AboutGRI/WhoWeAre/GovernanceBodies/StakeholderCouncil April 17, 2011

²⁸¹ http://www.globalreporting.org/AboutGRI/WhoWeAre/GovernanceBodies April 4, 2011

http://www.globalreporting.org/AboutGRI/WhatIsGRI/History/OurHistory.htm March 31, 2011

²⁸³ GRI Rules and Procedures for the GRI Stakeholder Council 2009: 1

²⁸⁴ http://www.globalreporting.org/AboutGRI/WhoWeAre/GovernanceBodies/StakeholderCouncil April 18, 2011

²⁸⁵ GRI Sustainability Report 2008/2009: 22

3.1.3 Members' representation in the GRI

Members' representation in the GRI reflects both a federal as well as a corporatist structure.

The GRI stakeholder council seats are "allocated in a way intended to ensure balance between geographical regions and stakeholder groups"286. GRI membership in the stakeholder council is organized along five regional groups based on the United Nations system of geographic distribution; Africa, Asia Pacific/Oceania, Latin America/Caribbean, North America/Europe/Commonwealth of Independent States and West Asia. In total, the stakeholder council encompasses 60 seats. Currently, 50 are taken²⁸⁷. Membership in the respective regional groups currently differs in terms of numbers and range from four members representing Africa to 17 members representing the geographically dispersed region encompassing North America, Europe and the Commonwealth of Independent States. The GRI also seeks to maintain balance among different stakeholder groups and thus allocates seats also according to the four constituencies. The most comprehensive GRI stakeholder constituency relates to business with up to 22 seats. Up to 16 seats are ascribed to each of the constituency categories civil society advocacy organizations and respectively mediating institutions. The remaining six seats are attributed to the constituency labor²⁸⁸. The mandatory mode of representation in the GRI stakeholder council is at minimum one representative from each geographic region from within each constituent category²⁸⁹. In practice, only the constituent category Africa currently fails to fully meet this requirement because it has no private business representatives. West Asia e.g. is represented by four representatives from business, one from a civil society advocacy organization and two from mediating institutions. The constituency labor is not structured along the geographical categories²⁹⁰.

How are member groups represented in the GRI?

- ✓ federal structure
- ✓ corporatist structure
- no special interest representation

3.1.4 Congruence among rule-makers and rule-takers in the GRI

The groups of rule-makers and rule-takers are congruent in the GRI.

In the GRI, the rule-takers can be any organization interested in reporting against sustainability guidelines. The GRI addresses likewise private businesses operating e.g. in the extractive industries, public agencies and nongovernmental organizations. The broad scope of the GRI in terms of its potential clients is also reflected in its numerous sector supplements. On the one hand, some sector supplements may have been developed for sectors primarily dominated by private businesses like financial services, food processing or construction and real estate. On the other hand, many GRI supplements deal with sectors traditionally characterized by relatively high degrees of state involvement such as oil and gas, mining and metals, airport operations or telecommunications. Additionally, the GRI has developed an own sector supplement for public agencies only as well as one for nongovernmental organizations only²⁹¹. All of these actor groups are also represented in

²⁸⁶ Dingwerth 2007: 106

²⁸⁷ GRI Rotation of Stakeholder Council Members 2011: 2

 $^{288\;}$ GRI Rules and Procedures for the GRI Stakeholder Council 2009: 1

²⁸⁹ http://www.globalreporting.org/AboutGRI/WhoWeAre/GovernanceBodies/StakeholderCouncil April 1, 2011

²⁹⁰ GRI Rotation of Stakeholder Council Members 2011: 2

²⁹¹ http://www.globalreporting.org/ReportingFramework/SectorSupplements April 18, 2011

rule-making in the GRI by means of the GRI stakeholder council. Additional inclusive consultation procedures also aim at involving rule-takers in the standard development process e.g. through practitioner networks, regional workshops and the GRI multi-stakeholder governance bodies²⁹².

Are the groups of rule-makers and rule-takers congruent in the GRI?

- √ congruent
- partial overlap
- no overlap

3.1.5 Mode of installing the GRI board of directors

The GRI board of directors is installed through appointment by membership groups.

16 members constitute the board of directors. two seats are currently vacant. The GRI stakeholder council appoints the board members along their geographical constituencies. The composition of the GRI board of directors is quite diverse in terms of geographical representation. Currently five members represent European countries, two North America, one India, one Hong Kong, one South Africa, one Brazil and one Australia. *International* is attributed to two members not representing a nation-state²⁹³. The task to "[a]ppoint all the Board members except the Chief Executive, based on a slate of nominations received from the GRI Nominating Committee" is listed first among the key responsibilities of the stakeholder council. Responsibilities of the stakeholder council also include appointing two members to the GRI Nominating Committee further enhancing its influence in regards to setting up the composition of the GRI board²⁹⁵. Board members were previously appointed for three year terms and could be reappointed in sequence once²⁹⁶. The term has now been reduced to two years²⁹⁷.

In the early years, the GRI was an institutionalized partnership between the Coalition of Environmentally Responsible Economies and the United Nations Environment Program led by a joint steering committee. The steering committee served as an interim board until 2002 when the GRI became an independent organization, now run by a board of directors. The first GRI board of directors took office in 2002 and was established by the GRI nominating committee²⁹⁸. The GRI board is responsible for the scheme's strategic outlook and makes overall policy decisions for the GRI²⁹⁹.

How is the GRI board of directors put in place?

- self-appointment
- ✓ appointment by membership groups (federal/corporatist)
- election by members

^{292 &}lt;a href="http://www.globalreporting.org/ReportingFramework/ReportingFrameworkOverview/DevelopmentProcess">http://www.globalreporting.org/ReportingFramework/ReportingFramework/ReportingFrameworkOverview/DevelopmentProcess April 4, 2011

http://www.globalreporting.org/AboutGRI/WhoWeAre/GovernanceBodies/Board April 4, 2011

²⁹⁴ GRI Rules and Procedures for the GRI Stakeholder Council 2009: 1

²⁹⁵ GRI Rules and Procedures for the GRI Stakeholder Council 2009: 1

²⁹⁶ GRI Sustainability Report 2008/2009: 21

²⁹⁷ GRI Sustainability Report 2008/2009: 15

²⁹⁸ GRI Board Resolutions 2002: 1

²⁹⁹ Dingwerth 2007: 105 – 6

3.1.6 The GRI secretariat

The GRI secretariat is commissioned with carrying out substantive tasks for the scheme.

The GRI secretariat plays a central role in developing new scheme strategies and serves as the link between the GRI board and stakeholder base³⁰⁰. Implementing the technical work plan, managing communications, financial administration, supporting the operations of the GRI governance bodies are also listed among the coordinative functions of the GRI secretariat. It is structured in the four departments operations, sustainability reporting framework development, learning services and marketing, communications and network relations³⁰¹. The GRI secretariat is based in Amsterdam, the Netherlands. The GRI secretariat staff doubled from 20 to 40 members from 2006 to 2009³⁰².

What is the capacity of the GRI secretariat?

- no permanent secretariat
- secretariat with administrative tasks
- ✓ secretariat with substantive tasks

3.1.7 The GRI's relation to other GSCSs

The GRI operates in nested cooperation with other GSCSs in the field of sustainability reporting.

The GRI strives to coordinate its guidelines with other GSCSs' standards and institutionalized nested cooperation with e.g. the Earth Charter Initiative in 2008, or the International Standardizing Organization³⁰³. The GRI also integrates the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative into its framework³⁰⁴. In the GRI indicator protocol compilation series, the mining and metals commentary reads: "report countries of operation that are subscribers to the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative", The GRI collaborated with the International Council on Mining and Metals when designing the GRI sector supplement mining and metals of Mack, chairman of the Forest Stewardship Council Board of directors also has a seat on the GRI board of directors of the GRI secretariat has one division solely responsible for "engaging in strategic external relationships with businesses, governments, civil society and other stakeholders".

Notwithstanding that the GRI offensively engages with other GSCS standards "to ensure technical compatibility with the GRI standards" the scheme nevertheless strives to "maintain and improve GRI's position as the leading sustainability reporting standard setter globally" as its first stated objective in its current strategy³⁰⁹. This also indicates competition among GSCSs engaging in reporting. Still, examples of nested cooperation dominate here.

³⁰⁰ Dingwerth 2007: 106

³⁰¹ GRI Sustainability Report 2008/2009: 22

³⁰² Dingwerth 106; GRI Sustainability Report 2008/2009: 15

^{303 &}lt;a href="http://www.globalreporting.org/AboutGRI/Alliances">http://www.globalreporting.org/AboutGRI/Alliances April 4, 2011

³⁰⁴ Haufler 2010: 67

³⁰⁵ EITI 2009: 43

³⁰⁶ GRI Annual Report 2008/2009: 22

^{307 &}lt;a href="http://www.globalreporting.org/AboutGRI/WhoWeAre/GovernanceBodies/Board">http://www.globalreporting.org/AboutGRI/WhoWeAre/GovernanceBodies/Board April 18, 2011

³⁰⁸ http://www.globalreporting.org/AboutGRI/WhoWeAre/Secretariat/GIDATeam.htm April 4, 2011

³⁰⁹ GRI Sustainability Report 2008/2009: 4, 7

How does the GRI interrelate with other GSCSs?

- no relations (monopoly)
- ✓ nested cooperation
- open competition

3.1.8 The GRI's relation to (inter-)governmental organizations

International organizations such as the OECD and the UNEP are strongly supportive of the GRI activities.

Just shortly after its launching, the GRI partnered with the United Nations Environment Program in 1999³¹⁰. 2002, the GRI was formally inaugurated at the United Nations as a collaborating centre of UNEP. Today, in addition to the United Nations Environment Program, the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) as well as the United Nations Global Compact have entered global strategic partnerships with the GRI³¹¹. The OECD invited the GRI to help update the OECD guidelines for multinational enterprises. 2010, the GRI and the OECD issued a joint memorandum "to promote understanding and use of the two instruments, to exploit their synergies, and to develop cooperation in areas of mutual interest"³¹². All three GRI governance bodies include UNEP representatives. The GRI *financial services sector supplement* is a joint product of the GRI and the UNEP³¹³. May 2010, the GRI signed a similar agreement with the United Nations Global to align the work of the two organizations"³¹⁴.

GRI has also created a Governmental Advisory Group with members representing the governments of Argentina, Denmark, the European Parliament, France, Germany, The Netherlands, Spain, Sweden and Norway. The group initiated an inaugural meeting in 2008 and discussed the GRI as part of a global sustainability agenda. On a global level, the GRI was attributed a central role in developing a standard on sustainability disclosures for the European Commission. Sweden enhanced its support for the GRI by requiring all of its state-owned companies to engage in reporting based on the guidance from the GRI³¹⁵.

How does the GRI interrelate with international organizations?

- no relations
- ✓ orchestration
- delegated authority

3.1.9 Financing of the GRI's activities

The GRI finances its operations primarily by voluntary donations. Minor income is generated through the GRI's marketing activities.

³¹⁰ Dingwerth et al. 2009: 725

^{311 &}lt;a href="http://www.globalreporting.org/AboutGRI/Alliances">http://www.globalreporting.org/AboutGRI/Alliances April 4, 2011

 $[\]underline{\text{http://www.globalreporting.org/AboutGRI/Alliances/OECD.htm}}\ April\ 4,\ 2011$

^{313 &}lt;u>http://www.globalreporting.org/AboutGRI/Alliances/UNEP.htm</u> April 4, 2011

^{314 &}lt;a href="http://www.globalreporting.org/AboutGRI/Alliances/UNGC.htm">http://www.globalreporting.org/AboutGRI/Alliances/UNGC.htm April 4, 2011

³¹⁵ GRI Annual Report 2008/2009: 18

Today, contributions through *organizational stakeholders*, institutional grants by governments, foundations and international organizations, corporate and governmental sponsorship and support on a project basis, and services constitute the financing pillars of the GRI. The GRI organizational stakeholders program provides a fundamental funding base³¹⁶. The government of the Netherlands constituted the largest GRI funder for the latest budget period by far sponsoring specific projects. The governments of Sweden and Norway are also listed as funders for unrestricted donations. There is no governmental representation in the governance structure of the GRI but the scheme receives significant financial assistance from governments in form of tax reliefs and credits as well as grants³¹⁷. The GRI is a not-for profit organization like all cases under study here. In the early years of the GRI operations the partnership with the United Nations Environment Program proved vital for securing its financing³¹⁸. The latest UNEP contribution is dated to the budget period 2006/2007. For the following two budget periods to date UNEP issued no further donations³¹⁹.

In 2005, the GRI began offering revenue-generating services in order to broaden its income base and now also generates income through its marketing activities. The five main revenue-generating elements to GRI's operations are the *GRI Biennial Amsterdam Conference on Sustainability and Transparency, Application Level Checks* (formerly in *Accordance Checks*), *Learning Publication Series*, *Certified Local Training Programs* and the *Organizational Stakeholder Program*³²⁰. The GRI guidelines and frameworks are available "as a free public good" Membership fees do not apply to the GRI stakeholder council resembling GRI membership.

How are the GRI's activities financed?

- ✓ voluntary donations
- regular contributions
- ✓ marketing of the GSCS's activities

3.1.10 GRI scheme evaluation

The GRI has no institutionalized procedures for evaluating the GRI.

Throughout the GRI's history, several fundamental changes in its governance and operations can be observed. Major alterations concern the updating of the guidelines and the installment of several additional sector supplements on an irregular basis, dealt with under standard evaluation in point 4.3.1. An adjustment relating to the GRI scheme as such is e.g. the institutionalization of the biennial conference in 2006, which has convened three times to date. In the latest GRI sustainability report, "no changes in the legal arrangement of GRI as a foundation"³²² are listed. Minor amendments mentioned relate to e.g. shortening terms of the GRI board of directors and chair of the stakeholder council from three to two years or establishing new sub-committees to the board.

No information on the GRI homepage and its own publications reveal a mode of institutionalized procedures for evaluation leading to these changes. At the end of the day, the GRI board of directors is "the final decision-

³¹⁶ http://www.globalreporting.org/AboutGRI/Funding April 4, 2011

³¹⁷ GRI Sustainability Report 2008/2009: 30 – 32

³¹⁸ Dingwerth et al. 2009: 725

³¹⁹ GRI Sustainability Report 2008/2009: 30

³²⁰ GRI Sustainability Report 2008/2009: 10

³²¹ GRI Sustainability Report 2008/2009: 10

³²² GRI Sustainability Report 2008/2009: 15

making authority on Framework developments and organizational strategy"³²³. The GRI stakeholder council provides strategic and policy-related advice and the technical advisory committee provides technical advice.

Has the GRI institutionalized procedures for evaluating the scheme?

- ✓ no institutionalized evaluation
- institutionalized scheme evaluation by management, members and/or stakeholders
- institutionalized scheme evaluation by an autonomous body

3.2 Characteristics of the GRI global standard

3.2.1 Subject of the GRI global standard

By definition, the GRI standard relates solely to reporting and thus procedures.

The sustainability reporting guidelines are the central document of the GRI and constitute the GRI global standard³²⁴. Certification as such is not part of the GRI scheme. The overall GRI sustainability reporting framework comprises the sustainability reporting guidelines, sector supplements and the technical protocol respectively national annexes³²⁵. The GRI operates 16 sector supplements including a sector supplement for mining and metals initiated 2005. The first supplement issued 2002 focuses on logistics and transportation. The oil and gas sector is among the four sectors dealt with in the most recent supplements issued 2009³²⁶.

What is subject to the GRI global standard?

- ✓ procedures (production/process management)
- results (product/performance)
- origin of product

3.2.2 Chain of custody certification in the GRI

The nature of sustainability reporting does not enable consumer visibility comparable to the certification of commodity trade chains. Subsequently organizations' reporting against the GRI standard can hardly be visible to consumers beyond business to business.

The GRI sustainability reporting framework addresses companies' and organizations' managerial procedures and does not relate to a product that can be sold at a sales counter.

The GRI also deals with the issue of supply chain and is currently making an effort to enabling adoption of the GRI reporting framework along supply chains. 2006 – 2008 the GRI carried out a "Transparency in the Supply Chain"-pilot program in collaboration with the *Deutsche Gesellschaft für Technische Zusammenar*-

³²³ GRI Sustainability Report 2008/2009: 21

³²⁴ Dingwerth 2007: 107

^{325 &}lt;a href="http://www.globalreporting.org/ReportingFramework/ReportingFrameworkOverview">http://www.globalreporting.org/ReportingFramework/ReportingFrameworkOverview April 1, 2011; GRI Sustainability Report 2008/2009: 8

³²⁶ GRI Sustainability Report: 9

beit, now Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit. From October 2008 the program "Global Action Network for Transparency in the Supply Chain" followed³²⁷. The program partnered the four multinational enterprises Daimler, the Otto Group, PUMA and Telefonica with twelve small and medium-sized suppliers from India, Thailand, China, Turkey, South Africa and Chile. The objective of the program is to detect added value of sustainable reporting for partners in a supply chain. On its homepage, the GRI provides measures for supporting sustainability reporting for organizations in the global supply chain. The GRI supply chain project does not include the end consumer but only business partners in the supply chain further underscoring the business to business nature inherent of the GRI global standard.

At which stage in the chain of custody does certification against the GRI global standard apply?

- certificate visible for end consumer
- certificate included in other end consumer visible certificate
- ✓ business to business certificate not visible to end consumer

3.2.3 Precision of the GRI global standard

In terms of precision, the GRI global standard comprises also measurable rules.

The updated GRI sustainability reporting guidelines, G3.1 constitute a document of 189 pages. The document entails the sustainability reporting guidelines, the indicator protocols set, the GRI application levels and the technical protocol. The reporting guidelines are structured in part 1 comprising principles of definitions on report content, quality, and boundary, i.e. "on how to define the range of entities represented by the report" and part 2 comprising standard disclosures structured in seven issue areas 329. The principles of definitions and the protocols explain *how to report* and the standard disclosures including indicator protocols explain *what to report* 330. Indicator protocols accompany each performance indicator contained in the guidelines in order "to assist report preparers and to ensure consistency in the interpretation of the Performance Indicators" 331.

GRI reporting principles are divided in "Principles for determining the topics and Indicators on which the organization should report [content]; and Principles for ensuring the quality and appropriate presentation of reported information"³³². There are four GRI reporting principles on content and six on quality. One example is the principle on content *stakeholder inclusiveness* defined as, "[t]he reporting organization should identify its stakeholders and explain in the report how it has responded to their reasonable expectations and interests"³³³. Each principle is first defined and then explained in length. In the case of *stakeholder inclusiveness* the explanation covers an entire page. Each section on a principle ends with tests in order to facilitate the reporting companies' own assessment of their reporting performance against the respective principle. The principle *stakeholder inclusiveness* is accompanied by four tests, the first one stipulates "[t]he organization can describe the stakeholders to whom it considers itself accountable"³³⁴.

³²⁷ GRI Annual Report 2008/2009: 26

³²⁸ GRI G3.1 2000 - 2011: 4

³²⁹ GRI G3.1 2000 – 2011: 1

³³⁰ GRI G3.1 2000 – 2011: 3

³³¹ GRI G3.1 2000 – 2011: 4

³³² GRI G3.1 2000 – 2011: 6

³³³ GRI G3.1 2000 – 2011: 10

³³⁴ GRI G3.1 2000 - 2011: 11

Part two on standards disclosures entails sustainability performance indicators and is organized by economic, environmental, and social categories. The social indicators are further categorized by labor, human rights, society, and product responsibility. Each category includes a disclosure on management approach and a corresponding set of core and additional performance indicators. The core indicators "are intended to identify generally applicable indicators and are assumed to be material for most organizations". "Additional indicators represent emerging practice or address topics that may be material for some organizations, but are not material for others"335. To take an example, the environmental performance indicators are structured in nine aspects such as materials, energy, or water. A core indicator of materials is "[m]aterials used by weight or volume". An additional indicator in the context of energy is [i]nitiatives to reduce indirect energy consumption and reductions achieved"336. The performance indicators add up to nine economic, 30 environmental, 14 labor, eleven human rights, eight society, and nine for product responsibility, in total 81. Each individual indicator is dealt with in detail in the following chapter indicator protocols set covering the lengthiest part of the document. Here, each indicator is boosted by sections on relevance, compilation, definitions, documentation and references. E.g. in the context of the core indicator "[m]aterials used by weight or volume" definitions relate to direct and non-renewable materials and sound "[m]aterials that are present in a final product" and respectively "[r] esources that do not renew in short time periods, such as minerals, metals, oil, gas, coal, etc"337. The OECD, Recommendation of the Council on Material Flows and Resource Productivity, 2004 is listed as a reference.

Respective sector supplements constitute their own documents and complement the guidelines and are meant to facilitate their sector specific adoption and include sector-specific performance indicators constituting a "tailored version of the G3 Guidelines which contains integrated commentary and new disclosure items specific to a given sector"³³⁸.

To which degree of precision is the GRI global standard formulated?

- ✓ also measurable rules
- also specific norms
- only general principles

3.2.4 Context sensitivity of the GRI global standard

Till 2009, the GRI sustainability reporting framework constituted only a global standard. The first localized version of the GRI global standard is currently piloted.

Notwithstanding sector specifications on the basis of the sector supplements, the GRI guidelines had been the global standard valid for all geographies. Only having one global standard is grounded in the vision of the GRI: "disclosure on economic, environmental, and social performance should become as commonplace and comparable as financial reporting"³³⁹. The objective of comparability underscores the notion of one global standard for harmonizing and coordinating different sustainability reporting frameworks. This situation was altered when the GRI initiated the concept of national annexes currently tested in a pilot project in Brazil 2009/2010. The concept was introduced in order for the GRI global standard to take "unique local conditions into account" and "are likely to take shape as localized sustainability guidance for particular countries or

³³⁵ GRI G3.1 2000 - 2011: 24

³³⁶ GRI G3.1 2000 – 2011: 28

³³⁷ GRI G3.1 2000 – 2011 Indicator Protocols Set EN: 5

³³⁸ GRI Sustainability Report 2008/2009: 9

³³⁹ GRI Annual Report 2008/2009: 4

regions"³⁴⁰. The experiences in the Brazil pilot project led to the introduction of further national focal points. In 2010 these were India and USA, in 2009 China³⁴¹. Still, the outcome of this pilot project and its consequences for the GRI's future operations and network structure are currently unclear. Subsequently, the national annexes cannot yet be accounted for here.

Is the GRI global standard context sensitive?

- ✓ only global standard
- global standard takes regional/national specifics into consideration
- global standard as framework for local/national/regional standard

3.2.5 Minimum or maximum standard in the GRI

The GRI global standard entails progressive demand.

A system of progressive demand is part of the three GRI application levels A, B, and C, introduced to the scheme together with the third generation GRI reporting guidelines 2006. The application levels are meant to encourage continual improvement in reporting against the GRI standard and "to meet the needs of new beginners, advanced reporters, and those somewhere in between"³⁴². "In order to achieve a certain level, a set of disclosure items must be reported against, the number of which varies for each Application Level"³⁴³. Reporters must declare the level of application they adhered to in their report via the application level system. In case the report preparer consults external assurance a + can be added to each level³⁴⁴. Accuracy of the level of application detailed in each report lies within the responsibility of the report preparer's self-declaration³⁴⁵. Because certification is not envisaged part of the scheme a certain level of conformity is not pre-conditional for using the GRI sustainability reporting framework. The 97 GRI performance indicators are structured in 50 core indicators and 47 additional indicators. The requirements of all core indicators must be respected in order to conform to the GRI reporting framework – in GRI terms to be *in accordance*. It is also possible for businesses to issue reports based on the GRI framework but not necessarily fulfilling the criteria for being *in accordance* with the GRI. Of the 950 organizations that had produced GRI based reports by 2006, only 300 met full GRI requirements³⁴⁶.

How ambitious is the GRI global standard?

- minimum standard
- ✓ progressively demanding standard
- maximum ("gold") standard

³⁴⁰ GRI Sustainability Report 2008/2009: 9

^{341 &}lt;a href="http://www.globalreporting.org/AboutGRI/WhatIsGRI/History/OurHistory.htm">http://www.globalreporting.org/AboutGRI/WhatIsGRI/History/OurHistory.htm April 6, 2011

³⁴² GRI G3.1 2000 – 2011: 5

³⁴³ GRI Sustainability Report 2008/2009: 8

³⁴⁴ GRI G3.1 2000 – 2011: 5

³⁴⁵ GRI G3.1 2000 - 2011: 5

³⁴⁶ Dingwerth 2007: 107 - 108

3.2.6 Incentives for client participation of the GRI global standard

In the GRI reputational incentives are decisive for client participation.

In a project document with the central question, "[w]hat is the added value of the sustainability reporting process for small and medium-sized enterprises suppliers in emerging economies and their multinational buyers" the GRI analyses potential benefits both for small-scale as well as large scale industry. The main benefits of reporting for small and medium-sized enterprises were stated as "[a]chieving competitive advantage and leadership", "[i]mproving internal processes and setting goals", and "enhancing reputation, achieving trust and respect" In the context of the multinational enterprises, indirect benefits such as raising awareness through reporting were stated.

Sweden is the only country to date that requires sustainability reporting against the GRI standard through its Ministry of Enterprise, Energy and Communications coming close to a legal incentive³⁵⁰.

What are clients' incentives to participate in certification against the GRI global standard?

- ✓ reputational incentive
- price premium
- legal incentive

3.2.7 Industry scale of the GRI global standard

The GRI does not specifically address a certain scale of industry.

By its own account, the GRI sustainability reporting framework "is applicable to organizations of any size or type, from any sector or geographic region"³⁵¹. In its latest *sustainability report* for 2009 the GRI provides figures on implementation of the GRI reporting framework among companies. These figures demonstrate noteworthy acceptance only among large enterprises, 77% of Global Fortune 250 companies, 69% of the 100 largest companies by revenue and 32% of the 2000 largest private companies. Figures for small and medium scale enterprises are not mentioned³⁵². The GRI offers six guidance documents primarily addressing small and medium-sized enterprises and has an own rubric for supporting small and medium-sized enterprises in implementing the GRI reporting framework³⁵³.

In the context of the GRI supplement for mining and metals, community issues as well as artisanal and small scale mining are explicitly listed as a key issue for the sector and dealt with as such in the GRI supplement. Other key issues listed are Biodiversity/Ecosystem services, emissions, effluents and waste, labor or indigenous rights³⁵⁴.

³⁴⁷ GRI Small, Smart and Sustainable 2008: 4

³⁴⁸ GRI Small, Smart and Sustainable 2008: 4

³⁴⁹ GRI Small, Smart and Sustainable 2008: 4

³⁵⁰ GRI Annual Report 2008/2009: 18

^{351 &}lt;a href="http://www.globalreporting.org/ReportingFramework/ReportingFrameworkOverview">http://www.globalreporting.org/ReportingFramework/ReportingFrameworkOverview April 1, 2011

³⁵² GRI Sustainability Report 2008/2009: 8

³⁵³ http://www.globalreporting.org/LearningAndSupport/SupportForSMEs/Spec_publications.htm; http://www.globalreporting.org/LearningAndSupport/SupportForSMEs April 5, 2011

^{354 &}lt;a href="http://www.globalreporting.org/ReportingFramework/SectorSupplements/MiningAndMetals">http://www.globalreporting.org/ReportingFramework/SectorSupplements/MiningAndMetals April 19, 2011

Which scale of industry does the GRI address?

- large-scale (state) companies
- small-scale and artisanal producers
- ✓ no specification in industry scale

3.3 Developing the GRI global standard

3.3.1 Procedures for evaluating the GRI global standard

In the GRI, evaluation of the global standard is carried out spontaneously.

Although evaluation of the GRI global standard is not institutionalized on a regular basis, the GRI sustainability reporting guidelines are now "in their third generation" implying thorough evaluation and revision for the third time. The update of the current version G3.1 was finalized March 2011. The revision led to new items for reporting recommendations relating to human rights, local community impacts and gender³⁵⁶. "As knowledge of sustainability issues evolves, so do the needs of reporters and report users. In order for the guidance in Sector Supplements to remain up to date and relevant, GRI commits to reviewing the need for revisions every five years"³⁵⁷. Indicators confirming institutionalized revision of the GRI global standard on a five year basis are widely absent. It is also still early to assess the extent to which the GRI has fulfilled this commitment because the time frame of five years has not yet elapsed in the case of many of the GRI sector supplements. The five existing sector supplements; *Electric Utility, Financial Services, Food Processing*, Mining and Metals and NGO based on the G3 version of the GRI guidelines were all launched between 2008 and 2010. The GRI sector supplements currently implemented in their pilot versions date further back. Here, review is only documented for one out of the four sector supplements in pilot versions. In the context of the sector supplement Public Agency released 2005, the "GRI undertook research to review the use of the Supplement" in 2009. In the context of the three other sector supplements in pilot versions; Automotive (2004), Logistics and Transportation (2006), and Telecommunications (2003) evaluation procedures are not documented although the stipulated five years for reviewing the need for revisions recently passed. The other five sector supplements making up 15 GRI sector supplements are currently under development.

What are the GRI evaluation procedures for the global standard?

- ✓ only "spontaneous" evaluation through management, members and stakeholders
- institutionalized evaluation through management, members and/or stakeholders
- institutionalized evaluation through autonomous body

^{355 &}lt;a href="http://www.globalreporting.org/ReportingFramework/ReportingFrameworkOverview">http://www.globalreporting.org/ReportingFramework/ReportingFrameworkOverview April 1, 2011

^{356 &}lt;a href="http://www.globalreporting.org/ReportingFramework/G31Guidelines">http://www.globalreporting.org/ReportingFramework/G31Guidelines April 5, 2011

^{357 &}lt;a href="http://www.globalreporting.org/ReportingFramework/SectorSupplements/AboutSectorSupplements/AboutSectorSupplements.htm#SS2">http://www.globalreporting.org/ReportingFramework/SectorSupplements/AboutSectorSupplements/AboutSectorSupplements.htm#SS2
April 7, 2011

^{358 &}lt;a href="http://www.globalreporting.org/ReportingFramework/SectorSupplements/PublicAgency/#PASS3">http://www.globalreporting.org/ReportingFramework/SectorSupplements/PublicAgency/#PASS3 April 27, 2011

3.3.2 Actors responsible for initiating revision of the GRI global standard

Also stakeholders constitute the actors responsible for initiating revision of the global standard in the GRI.

In the context of the GRI reporting guidelines, "various mechanisms including, practitioner networks, regional workshops and the multi-stakeholder governance bodies" led to initiating their revision. Stakeholders were involved in the process through participation in these mechanisms. The GRI sustainability reporting guidelines are a permanent document that has undergone revision three times to date. While the GRI reporting guidelines are updated by undergoing revision, new standards as such emerge only in the form of sector supplements. Basically three factors condition the necessity for developing an additional sector supplement; "the need for sector-specific content in reporting, the potential to improve the sustainability performance of organizations in the sector, and the potential for increasing the number and quality of reports in the sector" in the sector."

Who can initiate revisions of the GRI global standard?

- only scheme management
- also members
- ✓ also stakeholders

3.3.3 Actors responsible for preparing the GRI global standard

In the GRI autonomous bodies of external experts are installed for developing a new global standard, e.g. a sector supplement.

Once the revision of a GRI standard or the introduction of a new standard is decided, working groups comprising ca 20 external experts representing the stakeholder groups of business, civil society, labor, investors, accountants and others relevant come together. In sequence, three practitioners are authorized the responsibility of drafting new guidance through an open platform and finally agree on the document after a comprehensive period of consensus-seeking, i.e. stakeholder consultation³⁶¹. A new sector supplement is developed in a process of two years including institutionalized stakeholder consultation. At the end of these two years the working group passes the draft standard on to the GRI technical advisory committee, established 2005 with the primary objective of supervising the development of the GRI standard³⁶². The technical advisory committee assesses the standard in terms of content, development process and compliance with the overall GRI sustainability reporting framework³⁶³. The mining and metals sector supplement e.g. was developed in two phases with the International Council on Mining and Metals as co-convener³⁶⁴. The working group preparing the standard included e.g. BHP Billiton, Oxfam International or the World Bank³⁶⁵.

^{359 &}lt;a href="http://www.globalreporting.org/ReportingFramework/ReportingFrameworkOverview/DevelopmentProcess">http://www.globalreporting.org/ReportingFramework/ReportingFramework/Overview/DevelopmentProcess April 20, 2011

^{360 &}lt;a href="http://www.globalreporting.org/ReportingFramework/SectorSupplements/AboutSectorSupplements/AboutSectorSupplements/AboutSectorSupplements.htm#SS2">http://www.globalreporting.org/ReportingFramework/SectorSupplements/AboutSectorSupplements/AboutSectorSupplements.htm#SS2
April 7, 2011

³⁶¹ http://www.globalreporting.org/ReportingFramework/ReportingFrameworkOverview/DevelopmentProcess April 20, 2011

³⁶² Dingwerth 2007: 106

^{363 &}lt;a href="http://www.globalreporting.org/ReportingFramework/SectorSupplements/AboutSectorSupplements/AboutSectorSupplements.htm#SS2">http://www.globalreporting.org/ReportingFramework/SectorSupplements/AboutSectorSupplements/AboutSectorSupplements.htm#SS2
April 7, 2011

^{364 &}lt;a href="http://www.globalreporting.org/ReportingFramework/SectorSupplements/MiningAndMetals/#MM3">http://www.globalreporting.org/ReportingFramework/SectorSupplements/MiningAndMetals/#MM3 April 7, 2011

³⁶⁵ http://www.globalreporting.org/ReportingFramework/SectorSupplements/MiningAndMetals/#MM4 April 7, 2011

Who is preparing the content of the GRI global standard?

- ✓ technical bodies of external experts
- scheme management
- members and stakeholders

3.3.4 Stakeholder consultation on the GRI global standard

Stakeholder consultation on the GRI global standard is institutionalized and open to all interested stakeholders.

In the context of developing a new sector supplement, two years are envisaged for the process. In this period, "[t]he public is invited twice to submit commentaries and suggestions about the draft documents"366. Stakeholder consultation in the GRI is institutionalized in the *structured feedback process*, a core element in standards development and revision³⁶⁷. "GRI researches the experiences of reporters to date using the existing Guidelines and gathers practitioners' feedback through various mechanisms including, practitioner networks, regional workshops and the multi-stakeholder governance bodies"368 in the first of four steps comprising the GRI guidelines development process, identifying priorities. The GRI organizational stakeholders program comprising over 560 members from some 50 countries is "at the heart of the global, multi-stakeholder network" 369. Sector networks are an additional component in the GRI stakeholder consultation process. Sector networks are installed for each sector supplement coordinating stakeholders with an interest in sustainability reporting in the respective sector. Network members are provided with information on developments relating to the sector supplement and are individually encouraged to participate in calls for comments or workshops. The GRI provides a registration form on its website for stakeholders interested in joining a sector network and a contact email address for signing up³⁷⁰. Each sector supplement also has a group on LinkedIn serving as a further stakeholder consultation forum. The metals and mining supplement group is the GRI Extractives Network. All interested stakeholders can join the group by registering under http://www.linkedin.com/grou ps?mostPopular=&gid=2802787³⁷¹.

How is the process of stakeholder consultation organized?

- ad hoc; not institutionalized
- institutionalized, open to selected stakeholders
- ✓ institutionalized, open to all interested stakeholders

3.3.5 Final decision-making on the GRI global standard

Final decision-making in the GRI on the GRI guidelines as well as the sector supplements lies with the GRI board of directors.

^{366 &}lt;a href="http://www.globalreporting.org/ReportingFramework/SectorSupplements/AboutSectorSupplements/AboutSectorSupplements/AboutSectorSupplements.htm#SS2">http://www.globalreporting.org/ReportingFramework/SectorSupplements/AboutSectorSupplements/AboutSectorSupplements.htm#SS2
April 7, 2011

³⁶⁷ Dingwerth 2007: 106

^{368 &}lt;a href="http://www.globalreporting.org/ReportingFramework/ReportingFrameworkOverview/DevelopmentProcess">http://www.globalreporting.org/ReportingFramework/ReportingFramework/ReportingFrameworkOverview/DevelopmentProcess April 20, 2011

³⁶⁹ GRI Annual Report 2008/2009: 6

^{370 &}lt;a href="http://www.globalreporting.org/ReportingFramework/SectorSupplements/AboutSectorSupplements/AboutSectorSupplements/AboutSectorSupplements.htm#SS2">http://www.globalreporting.org/ReportingFramework/SectorSupplements/AboutSectorSupplements/AboutSectorSupplements.htm#SS2
April 7, 2011

^{371 &}lt;a href="http://www.linkedin.com/groups?mostPopular=&gid=2802787">http://www.linkedin.com/groups?mostPopular=&gid=2802787 April 7, 2011

The GRI board of directors "exerts ultimate authority over the decision-making process" In the context of developing the sector supplements e.g., the GRI technical advisory committee presents the results of its review on the draft standard prepared by the multi-stakeholder working group to the GRI board of directors. The board then decides if the "document may have to undergo an update or further development and is finally responsible for issuing final approval. Similarly, comments by stakeholders collected through the GRI structured feedback process are also evaluated by the GRI board of directors.

How are final decisions on the GRI global standard made?

- near consensus among members
- voting among members
- ✓ decision by scheme management (board decision)

3.4 Conformity assessment in the GRI

3.4.1 Auditing in the GRI

Auditing is not an envisaged part of the GRI scheme.

The GRI framework is restricted to content of the standard and guidance on the standard. Conformity assessment is not part of the GRI framework. Certification is not part of the GRI scheme. Reporting in accordance with the GRI reporting guidelines can neither be certified by the GRI nor by any other accredited certification body³⁷⁵. Similar to the International Standardizing Organization's 9011 or the Marine Stewardship Council's fisheries certification/assessment methodology, the GRI's technical protocol as part of the reporting framework offers "process guidance on how to define the content of a sustainability report"³⁷⁶. To further guide conformity assessment with the GRI reporting framework, the GRI launched a certified training program in 2007/2008 "developed especially to help report makers (e.g., consultants, or managers of businesses, SMEs and NGOs) and users (e.g., NGOs, financial analysts, government officials, company Boards and media) to use the GRI Framework and GRI reports more effectively³⁷⁷. In opposition to other GSCSs these guidance documents do not address certification bodies but are rather meant to help the organization writing a report against the GRI standard to adequately employ the GRI reporting framework from a first party stance as GRI client. The guidance documents also address the public, i.e. report users who have an interest in adequately evaluating the report issued by a certain organization against the GRI standard.

Which actor carries out the auditing against the GRI global standard? – not applicable

- standard setting body on global level (centralized structure)
- standard setting body on regional or national level (federal structure)
- · independent third party

³⁷² Dingwerth 2007: 99; http://www.globalreporting.org/AboutGRI/WhoWeAre/GovernanceBodies/Board April 4, 2011

^{373 &}lt;a href="http://www.globalreporting.org/ReportingFramework/SectorSupplements/AboutSectorSupplements/AboutSectorSupplements/AboutSectorSupplements.htm#SS2">http://www.globalreporting.org/ReportingFramework/SectorSupplements/AboutSectorSupplements/AboutSectorSupplements.htm#SS2
April 7, 2011

³⁷⁴ Dingwerth 2007: 106

³⁷⁵ Dingwerth 2007: 107

^{376 &}lt;a href="http://www.globalreporting.org/ReportingFramework/ReportingFrameworkOverview">http://www.globalreporting.org/ReportingFramework/ReportingFrameworkOverview April 1, 2011

³⁷⁷ GRI Annual Report 2008/2009: 14

3.4.2 Monitoring actors in the GRI

Generally, like auditing monitoring is not envisaged as part of the GRI framework.

While monitoring is not mandatory in the GRI scheme the entity preparing the report against the GRI sustainability reporting framework is free to consult external assurance for its report. This will be demonstrated by adding a + to the respective application level³⁷⁸. For reporters seeking additional assurance for conforming to the GRI sustainability reporting framework the GRI provides two voluntary options. Either "[h]ave an assurance provider offer an opinion on the self-declaration" or [r]equest that the GRI check the self-declaration" ³⁷⁹. In this case, the GRI carries out a form of monitoring in a centralized structure as a standard setting body on a global level. But as a general rule, monitoring is currently not envisaged in the GRI scheme.

Which actor monitors compliance with standard? - not applicable

- standard setting body on global level (centralized structure)
- standard setting body on regional or national level (federal structure)
- independent third party

3.4.3 Modes of monitoring in the GRI

As the entire process of conformity assessment is not envisaged in the GRI, this also applies to modes of monitoring. Notwithstanding this, by definition, the GRI global standard requires company reporting. Yet, reporting in the GRI cannot be understood as a mode of monitoring because it is the subject of the primary object of the standard as such and not part of a conformity process. Continual conformity respectively improvement against the GRI sustainability reporting framework is generally assured by means of self-declaration on behalf of the entity preparing the report³⁸⁰.

Which mode of monitoring is institutionalized in GRI? – not applicable

- fire alarm
- police patrol
- · company reporting

3.4.4 Accreditation in the GRI

While parallels could be detected among the former dimensions relating to aspects of conformity assessment here and the GRI scheme, although conformity assessment as such is not applicable to the GRI, accreditation plays no role whatsoever in the GRI scheme.

³⁷⁸ GRI G3.1 2000 – 2011: 5

³⁷⁹ GRI G3.1 2000 – 2011: 6

³⁸⁰ GRI G3.1 2000 - 2011: 6

Who is responsible for accreditation? - not applicable

- standard setting body on global level (centralized structure)
- standard setting body on regional or national level (federal structure)
- independent third party

3.4.5 Dispute-settlement in the GRI

Procedures of dispute-settlement are equally not applicable to the GRI scheme.

How is dispute-settlement organized in the GRI? – **not applicable**

- only bargaining between disputants
- also mediation by "political" body
- also adjudication by independent judicial body

3.4.6 Means of enforcement in the GRI

Means of enforcement in the case of non-compliance against the GRI standard are also not applicable to the GRI scheme.

How is non-compliance dealt with? – **not applicable**

- no means of enforcement
- withdrawal of privileges
- sanctions

4 THE MARINE STEWARDSHIP COUNCIL (MSC)

The Marine Stewardship Council (MSC) was developed in the footsteps of the Forest Stewardship Council which also served as a blueprint for designing the MSC³⁸¹. Similar to the public discourse on deforestation, the MSC emerged against the background of rising concern on the depletion of the world's oceans' fish stocks. As in the Forest Stewardship Council the World Wildlife Fund was also a central driver in the making of the Marine Stewardship Council partnering with the world's largest frozen fish buyer and processor at the time, Unilever. The GSCS was preliminarily launched 1997 and entered into effect 1999, when the MSC global standard on sustainable fishing had been developed. Despite parallels between the MSC and its role model the Forest Stewardship Council from the fledgling stages of the MSC's existence to date, in institutional respect, the two schemes each demonstrates distinctive characteristics. One fundamental similarity relates to the market driven stance of both schemes and subsequently meager participation of public authorities. One fundamental distinction refers to aspects of scheme governance. The MSC is more board-driven whereas the Forest Stewardship Council is more member-driven.

The MSC operates a label for seafood products similar to the Fairtrade label in terms of its widespread prevalence in supermarkets, discounters and the like and subsequently high visibility for the end consumer. Although the MSC likes to refer to itself as *the Charity* the charitable notion underlying the MSC has a different connotation than the historically based charitable fundament underlying e.g. the fair trade movement in general and subsequently also inherent to the Fairtrade GSCS, at least in terms of its origins.

4.1 General aspects of the MSC

4.1.1 Actors involved in founding the MSC

Civil society actors and private businesses joined forces in launching the MSC. Public authorities were not included in the endeavor.

As in the context of deforestation resulting in the creation of the Forest Stewardship Council, the World Wildlife Fund for Nature also took the lead in launching a market-driven process to reduce overfishing. 1996, the World Wildlife Fund's Global Endangered Seas Project involved Unilever as the world's largest processor of ocean-caught fish leading to the creation of the Marine Stewardship Council, 1997. Unilever had been under pressure by Greenpeace and committed to "purchase all its fish from sustainable sources by the end of 2005" As with the Forest Stewardship Council, public authorities were not included in the making of the MSC. The strong stance of the private corporation Unilever as the main sponsor and central actor in the making of the MSC evoked negative attitudes among some public authorities. This was for example the case in regards to the Swedish government who had previously not at all disapproved of the private nature of e.g. the Forest Stewardship Council³⁸³.

³⁸¹ Dingwerth et al. 2009: 710

³⁸² Conrov 2007: 212

³⁸³ Boström et al. 2008: 56

Which actors were involved in founding the MSC?

- ✓ civil society actors
- ✓ private businesses
- public authorities

4.1.2 Membership structure of the MSC

All three actor groups of civil society, private businesses and public authorities can become members in the MSC. In practice, the bulk of members represent civil society and private business while only one member in the MSC stakeholder council represents a public authority.

Members in the MSC's governance structure as understood here are represented in a *stakeholder council* in place next to the other two main bodies, the board of trustees and the technical advisory board³⁸⁴. Relating to the stakeholder council the MSC states, "[m]embership of the Stakeholder Council shall be open to any individual"³⁸⁵. The stakeholder council is structured in three categories, the public interest category, the commercial and socio-economic category and the developing world category. Representatives of public authorities are not attributed an own category nor are they formally excluded from MSC membership. Exclusion of public authorities could be implied by the MSC stipulation that only allows members to be "nominated in a personal capacity not as representatives of their organizations"³⁸⁶. The stakeholder council comprises primarily civil society actors and private businesses. A representative of the World Wildlife Fund or a scholar from the University of Ibadan, Nigeria are examples of members in the public interest category. One public authority representative of the German *Gesellschaft für Technische Zusammenarbeit*, now part of the *Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit* is also included in the public interest group. Deutschesee, Unilever or Metro are enterprises representing the fish industry in the commercial and socio-economic group³⁸⁷. Membership in the stakeholder council is limited to a maximum of 50 persons and should comprise no less than 30 persons³⁸⁸.

Which actors constitute the MSC membership?

- ✓ civil society actors
- ✓ private businesses
- √ public authorities

4.1.3 Members' representation in the MSC

Members in the MSC are represented in a corporatist structure.

In theory, the MSC stakeholder council is categorized in three groups; public interest, commercial and socio-economic, and developing world mirroring both a corporatist as well as a federal structure. In practice, the category developing world is indeed theoretical, because it has no members. Only members of the public interest and commercial and socio-economic group are listed among the stakeholder council members. 17 members

^{384 &}lt;a href="http://www.msc.org/multimedia/images/about-us/governance/MSC-governance-structure-800px.jpg">http://www.msc.org/multimedia/images/about-us/governance/MSC-governance-structure-800px.jpg March 28, 2011

³⁸⁵ MSC Articles of Association: 12

^{386 &}lt;a href="http://www.msc.org/about-us/governance/structure/msc-stakeholder-council">http://www.msc.org/about-us/governance/structure/msc-stakeholder-council March 28, 2011

^{387 &}lt;a href="http://www.msc.org/about-us/governance/structure/msc-stakeholder-council/whos-on-the-msc-

³⁸⁸ MSC Articles of Association: 12

represent the public interest category and 18 members represent the commercial and socio-economic category in the MSC stakeholder council³⁸⁹. "Each interest group nominates and appoints its own new members as needed"³⁹⁰. Stakeholder council members are nominated for a three year term and can be reappointed. The MSC stakeholder council is led by two *co-chairs* and a *steering group* consisting of eight stakeholder council members. The two stakeholder council co-chairs are held by members of the categories public interest and respectively commercial and socio-economic. In theory, the steering group are elected by one of the three MSC stakeholder council categories in order to represent their interests, not explicitly excluding the developing world category³⁹¹. In practice the MSC developing world category has no members to send to the steering group. five members of the stakeholder council steering group represent the public interest category, the other three the commercial and socio-economic category³⁹².

How are member groups represented in the MSC?

- federal structure
- ✓ corporatist structure
- no special interest representation

4.1.4 Congruence among rule-makers and rule-takers in the MSC

There is a partial overlap among rule-makers and rule-takers in the MSC.

Fishers and seafood enterprises, traders and retailers of ocean caught seafood are the rule-takers in the MSC. They are represented in all three pivotal bodies of the governance structure involved in rule-making in the MSC; the board of trustees, the stakeholder council and the technical advisory board. The technical advisory board plays an important role in the standard-setting process, i.e. as a rule-maker in the MSC. Most of the technical advisory board members are scientists or consultants and not rule-takers³⁹³. Only one member of the MSC technical advisory board is a representative of the seafood industry and thus also a rule-taker.

Are the groups of rule-makers and rule-takers congruent in the MSC?

- congruent
- ✓ partial overlap
- no overlap

³⁸⁹ http://www.msc.org/about-us/governance/structure/msc-stakeholder-council/whos-on-the-msc-stakeholder-council March 28, 2011

^{390 &}lt;a href="http://www.msc.org/about-us/governance/structure/msc-stakeholder-council">http://www.msc.org/about-us/governance/structure/msc-stakeholder-council March 28, 2011

^{391 &}lt;a href="http://www.msc.org/about-us/governance/structure/msc-stakeholder-council">http://www.msc.org/about-us/governance/structure/msc-stakeholder-council March 28, 2011

^{392 &}lt;a href="http://www.msc.org/about-us/governance/structure/msc-stakeholder-council/whos-on-the-stakeholder-council-steering-group">http://www.msc.org/about-us/governance/structure/msc-stakeholder-council/whos-on-the-stakeholder-council-steering-group
March 28, 2011

^{393 &}lt;a href="http://www.msc.org/about-us/governance/structure/technical-advisory-board/whos-on-the-msc-tab">http://www.msc.org/about-us/governance/structure/technical-advisory-board/whos-on-the-msc-tab April 16, 2011

4.1.5 Mode of installing the MSC board of directors

The MSC board of directors is installed by self-appointment.

In the MSC, the board of directors is the MSC board of trustees. The trustees nominate one or more candidates for appointment as a trustee, i.e. for a seat on the MSC board of directors and can also nominate themselves for re-appointment. The trustees are finally appointed by simple majority vote at the MSC board of trustees meeting. In case more nominations exist than vacancies and agreement by simple majority vote cannot be achieved procedures according to *Instant Runoff Voting* or respectively *Single Transferable Vote* apply³⁹⁴.

The MSC board of trustees is the governance body of the institution. Currently the MSC board of trustees comprises 13 members, all but one, men from highly industrialized countries such as North America, Australia, Germany, the United Kingdom, Norway or Japan³⁹⁵. By statute, the two stakeholder council co-chairs as well as the chair of the MSC technical advisory board are members of the MSC board of trustees. The board meets four times a year and has a maximum of 15 members appointed for a period of three years³⁹⁶. After the three year term the board member can seek reappointment for another three year term. This process can be repeated without limitation. The MSC board of directors is not only responsible for appointing its own board members but also for appointing committees, the initial technical advisory board and the initial stakeholder council³⁹⁷. The MSC trustees constitute *members* by statute in the MSC. Their status in the MSC is further elaborated as "subscribers to the memorandum, being the initial trustees, shall be the initial members³⁹⁸. The MSC formal members, i.e. trustees and may not exceed a number of 15 persons implying a board rather than a membership base as understood in e.g. the Forest Stewardship Council or also the Kimberley Process Certification Scheme³⁹⁹.

How is the MSC board of directors put in place?

- √ self-appointment
- appointment by membership groups (federal/corporatist)
- election by members

4.1.6 The MSC secretariat

The MSC secretariat carries out substantive tasks for the scheme.

Similar to the Forest Stewardship Council's *experts and staff* constituting the FSC international center, the MSC has *offices and staff* constituting corporate and regional teams. The function of in particular the MSC corporate teams generally resemble that of a secretariat authorized to carry out substantive tasks. The corporate teams are based in London and are led by a chief executive and his office consisting of six members. The MSC executive plays a role in the most substantive task of the organization, i.e. the standard setting process. Here, the executive is responsible for making the decision on whether a standard revision should be recommended to the technical advisory board and/or the board of trustees after each review. Additionally, the MSC executive

³⁹⁴ MSC Articles of Association: 8 – 9

³⁹⁵ http://www.msc.org/about-us/governance/structure/board-of-trustees/whos-on-the-msc-board March 28, 2011

^{396 &}lt;a href="http://www.msc.org/about-us/governance/structure/board-of-trustees">http://www.msc.org/about-us/governance/structure/board-of-trustees March 28, 2011

³⁹⁷ MSC Articles of Association: 8

³⁹⁸ MSC Articles of Association: 3

³⁹⁹ MSC Articles of Association: 7

and the director of the standards and licensing team, one of the four corporate teams, form part of the working group installed for preparing revision of the standard⁴⁰⁰.

The MSC corporate teams include a development team, a corporate communications team, a central services team and a standards and licensing team. The standards and licensing team is the most comprehensive further subdivided in the five groups; policy development, fisheries, supply chain, ecolabel licensing and developing world fisheries. The staff of the London based MSC office alone exceeds the number of members in the overall MSC stakeholder council⁴⁰¹.

What is the capacity of the MSC secretariat?

- no permanent secretariat
- secretariat with administrative tasks
- ✓ secretariat with substantive tasks

4.1.7 The MSC's relation to other GSCSs

The MSC operates in open competition with other GSCSs in sustainable fishing management.

Several standards and certification schemes are currently engaging in sustainable management in fishing globally. For its ten year anniversary the MSC commissioned the management consultancy agency Accenture to undertake a comparative study on GSCSs in fishing. The result, MSC was scored 95.63% against criteria for credible programs with a 30% head start to the next fishery certification program under investigation. In the annual report 2009/2010, the MSC markets this figure underscoring the nature of open competition in the branch⁴⁰².

Notwithstanding, like the Forest Stewardship Council and the Fairtrade Labeling Organizations International, the Marine Stewardship Council is also member of the ISEAL Alliance and refers to the ISEAL Code of Good Practice for Setting Social and Environmental Standards when explaining how the MSC chain of custody standard was developed⁴⁰³. In the ongoing scheme evaluation process, the MSC does seek to coordinate information sharing and terms of communication but this does not apply to GSCSs as such but rather to institutions responsible for stages in the governance cycle outside of the MSC'S core responsibility of standards and policy development such as the Accreditation Services International or other certifiers⁴⁰⁴.

How does the MSC interrelate with other GSCSs?

- no relations (monopoly)
- nested cooperation
- ✓ open competition

⁴⁰⁰ MSC Standard Setting Procedure 2.0: 4

 $^{401 \}quad \underline{http://www.msc.org/about-us/offices-staff/msc-staff/corporate} \ March \ 28, \ 2011$

⁴⁰² MSC Annual Report 2009/2010: 25

⁴⁰³ http://www.msc.org/about-us/standards/standards/chain-of-custody#how-was-it-developed March 28, 2011

⁴⁰⁴ http://www.msc.org/about-us/program-improvements/key-program-updates March 29, 2011

4.1.8 The MSC's relation to (inter-)governmental organizations

The MSC has no special relations to international organizations or to national governments.

The MSC only relates to international organizations when justifying its activities and their underlying modes, e.g. "[t]he standard is based on the FAO [United Nations Food and Agriculture Organization's] Code of Conduct for Responsible Fisheries and other international conservation instruments" ⁴⁰⁵.

How does the MSC interrelate with international organizations?

- ✓ no relations
- orchestration
- delegated authority

4.1.9 Financing of the MSC's activities

The MSC finances its activities by voluntary donations and marketing of its activities.

2009 - 2010, the two main sources of MSC finances derived from 1) voluntary donations, in MSC's own words "[c]haritable grants (trusts and individuals)" constituting 52% of the MSC income for the period and 2) marketing of the MSC's activities, i.e. "[c]haritable activities (logo activities)" totalling $42\%^{406}$. Financial support from other actors and activities such as governments, companies and individuals, investment income and revaluations together added up to 6% of total financing. The 10-15 members constituting the MSC board of trustees are by statute the only formal members in the MSC and thus are insignificant in terms of generating regular contributions on the basis of membership fees. The Marine Stewardship Council refers to itself as *the Charity* implying a non-profit organization⁴⁰⁷.

How are the MSC's activities financed?

- ✓ voluntary donations
- regular contributions
- ✓ marketing of the MSC's activities

4.1.10 MSC scheme evaluation

Evaluating the MSC as a whole is an institutionalized agenda item of the MSC technical advisory board and board of trustee meetings.

In the MSC, the review and revision process in regards to scheme elements is called *Policy Development Cycle*. This scheme evaluation is institutionalized within the responsibility of the technical advisory group and the board of trustees with decision points every six months⁴⁰⁸. "At each meeting of the MSC Technical

^{405 &}lt;a href="http://www.msc.org/about-us/standards/standards/msc-environmental-standard#how-was-it-developed">http://www.msc.org/about-us/standards/standards/msc-environmental-standard#how-was-it-developed March 28, 2011

⁴⁰⁶ http://www.msc.org/about-us/finances March 29, 2011

⁴⁰⁷ MSC Articles of Association

⁴⁰⁸ http://www.msc.org/about-us/program-improvements/policy-development-cycle March 29, 2011

Advisory Board and Board of Trustees, changes to MSC's assessment requirements and other aspects of the program are considered" ¹⁴⁰⁹.

Currently, a review of the scheme documents underlying the making of the MSC two core standards is under way. MSC's ten year anniversary 2009 conditioned the initiation of this thorough review. Changes in the guidelines of renowned global standardizing organizations such as the International Standardizing Organization, the United Nations Food and Agriculture Organization and the ISEAL Alliance also urged the Marine Stewardship Council to review its scheme and where applicable adapt scheme elements to the new requirements. The scope of the revision is limited to enhancing the understanding and practicability of the MSC system in regards to the conformity assessment process and will explicitly not include fundamental changes to the MSC requirements or stakeholder participation modes⁴¹⁰. The work plan of the current policy development cycle encompasses overarching objectives as well as issues on the broad notion of fisheries. The former relates to e.g. the overall scheme requirements such as the MSC standards, methodologies, technical advisory board directives and policy advisories. The latter can also touch on fundamentals of the scheme such as the conformity assessment process in general but on a more precise level. E.g. in regards to the surveillance audit process, the current policy development cycle work plan holds, "Expedited audits: The Fisheries Certification Methodology allows ad hoc and or expedited audits to occur outside the surveillance audit cycle but does not currently specify under what circumstances an expedited audit of a certified fishery must occur, nor what an expedited audit should consist of. There is a need for this."411 Other policy items entailed under fisheries concern commodity specifics of e.g. low trophic level species, Salmon or Bivalves⁴¹². The work plan consists of four columns, the first column introducing the policy item, column two outlines the status quo and columns three and four describe the necessary steps to be taken in order to deal with the respective issue in two stages ending with the year 2011⁴¹³.

Has the MSC institutionalized procedures for evaluating the scheme?

- no institutionalized evaluation
- ✓ institutionalized scheme evaluation by management, members and/or stakeholders
- institutionalized scheme evaluation by an autonomous body

4.2 Characteristics of the MSC global standard

4.2.1 Subject of the MSC global standard

The MSC standards entail procedural requirements.

The MSC operates two sets of standards, 1) the MSC environmental standard for sustainable fishing and 2) the MSC chain of custody standard for seafood traceability focusing on "good management practices" The three overarching principles of the MSC standard sustainable fishing are on sustainable fish stocks, minimizing environmental impact and effective management all relating to managerial and thus procedural aspects of fishing. In the context of principle 2 e.g., the requirement stipulates "measures are in place to limit

⁴⁰⁹ http://www.msc.org/about-us/program-improvements/recent March 29, 2011

^{410 &}lt;a href="http://www.msc.org/about-us/program-improvements/key-program-updates">http://www.msc.org/about-us/program-improvements/key-program-updates March 29, 2011

⁴¹¹ MSC Policy Development Cycle Work Plan 2011

⁴¹² MSC Policy Development Cycle Work Plan 2011

⁴¹³ MSC Policy Development Cycle Work Plan 2011

⁴¹⁴ http://www.msc.org/about-us/standards/standards/msc-environmental-standard#why-is-it-needed March 29, 2011

bycatch"⁴¹⁵. The MSC chain of custody standard also entails procedural requirements such as e.g. "effective storage and record keeping systems"⁴¹⁶.

What is subject to the MSC global standard?

- ✓ procedures (production/process management)
- results (product/performance)
- origin of product

4.2.2 Chain of custody certification in the MSC

The MSC label is highly visible to consumers.

The MSC chain of custody certification was introduced in the year of MSC's formal inauguration, 1999, when the MSC standard on sustainable fishing was already developed. The MSC chain of custody label is probably the most visible label for certified fish products in the market today. Major enterprises such as the German discounter ALDI offer MSC certified frozen fish⁴¹⁷. MSC stresses the importance of consumer visibility with major investments in strengthening the MSC brand and marketing. Addressing retailers, the MSC is working on "a series of innovative ways to help promote your support and attract shoppers to MSC labeled products in store" 18. The Marine Stewardship Council even engages a leading marketing agency, Saatchi & Saatchi to further develop the MSC brand and optimize its marketing effects 19. Saatchi & Saatchi carry the supplement title "the Lovemarks Company and define "lovemark" as "a product, service or entity that inspires loyalty beyond reason" 20.

At which stage in the chain of custody does MSC certification apply?

- ✓ certificate visible for end consumer
- certificate included in other end consumer visible certificate
- business to business certificate not visible to end consumer

4.2.3 Precision of the MSC global standard

In regards to precision, the MSC standard prescribes requirements equal to specific norms.

Drawing on the first MSC standard on sustainable fishing, the standard opens with three relatively simple principles. Principle one, e.g., "[a] fishery must be conducted in a manner that does not lead to over-fishing or depletion of the exploited populations and, for those populations that are depleted, the fishery must be conducted in a manner that demonstrably leads to their recovery" ⁴²¹. The standard also includes two sets of criteria,

^{415 &}lt;a href="http://www.msc.org/about-us/standards/standards/msc-environmental-standard#what-does-it-assess">http://www.msc.org/about-us/standards/standards/msc-environmental-standard#what-does-it-assess March 29, 2011;
http://www.msc.org/about-us/standards/standards/msc-environmental-standard#what-does-this-mean March 29, 2011

⁴¹⁶ http://www.msc.org/about-us/standards/standards/chain-of-custody#what-does-it-assess March 29, 2011

⁴¹⁷ http://www.aldi-sued.de/de/html/product_range/2744_5576.htm March 28, 2011

⁴¹⁸ MSC Joint Marketing 2010

⁴¹⁹ MSC Joint Marketing 2010

⁴²⁰ http://www.saatchi.com March 29, 2011

⁴²¹ MSC Fishery Standard 2010: 5

management system criteria respectively operational criteria which follow the principles but do not adhere to one specific principle. The first management system criterion stipulates, "[t]he fishery shall not be conducted under a controversial unilateral exemption to an international agreement", respectively the first operational criteria, "make use of fishing gear and practices designed to avoid the capture of non-target species [...]" ²⁴²².

The MSC has developed methodologies that supplement the rather imprecise principles and criteria of the MSC standards. The MSC fisheries assessment methodology is an extensive document of 122 pages prescribing guidance for certification bodies when assessing a fishery against the MSC standard. On MSC's own account the assessment methodology "provides the detailed interpretation of the fisheries standard" and can thus be considered part of the MSC global standard. In the methodology, three chapters individually deal with each of the three principles in turn. Each chapter opens with "general guidance on Principle 1" respectively 2, respectively 3 and includes performance indicators 424. Examples of *outcome performance indicators* are "a more consistent fluctuation around the target level" or "biomass levels in excess of target levels" Irrespective of the length of the document, the indicators in the MSC fisheries assessment methodology are not more precise than the criteria in the core MSC standard.

To which degree of precision is the MSC global standard formulated?

- also measurable rules
- ✓ also specific norms
- only general principles

4.2.4 Context sensitivity of the MSC global standard

The MSC has only a global standard.

Neither the MSC standard on sustainable fishing nor the chain of custody standard has regional implications. The MSC has several regional offices but they are not involved in the standard setting process at all, let alone commissioned with the task of adapting the global standard to regional, national or a local context. In opposition to the MSC regional offices the MSC technical advisory board plays a role in standard development procedures in the MSC but also has no geographic specifics that could influence regional or national adaptations of the MSC global standard.

In addition to the MSC corporate teams the MSC operates eleven regional and local offices with the MSC headquarters based in London. The MSC London office also serves as the regional office for Europe, Middle East and Africa. The bulk of offices are located in Europe, and all are based in industrialized countries including an office in South Africa, according to the World Bank classification an upper middle income economy⁴²⁶.

⁴²² MSC Fishery Standard 2010: 6, 8

⁴²³ http://www.msc.org/about-us/standards/methodologies/fam/msc-fishery-assessment-methodology#how-do-the-msc March 30, 2011

⁴²⁴ MSC Fisheries Assessment Methodology 2010

⁴²⁵ MSC Fisheries Assessment Methodology 2010: 26

http://data.worldbank.org/about/country-classifications/country-and-lending-groups#Sub_Saharan_Africa March 28, 2011

⁴²⁶ http://data.worldbank.org/about/country-classifications/country-and-lending-groups#Sub_Saharan_Africa, March 28, 2011

Is the MSC global standard context sensitive?

- ✓ only global standard
- global standard takes regional/national specifics into consideration
- global standard as framework for local/national/regional standard

4.2.5 Minimum or maximum standard in the MSC

The MSC operates a progressively demanding standard.

Provisions for progressive compliance are not part of the MSC standards on sustainable fishing and seafood traceability but are indeed prescribed in detail as one constituent of the conformity assessment in the MSC certification methodology *conditions*. Conditions for improvement are agreed upon between the client and the certifier as part of the assessment in order for the fishery to improve performance and for the certifier to adequately assess the level of improvement of the client. The certification body evaluates the fishery's performance by a mode of scoring. "Where the fishery achieves a score of less than 80, but at least 60 for any individual Performance Indicator, the certification body shall set one or more conditions for continuing certification. The condition(s) shall improve performance to at least the level of 80 within a period set by the certification body but no longer than the term of the certification" the certification body but no longer than the term of the certification.

After initial certification, post certification monitoring "shall audit compliance with, and progress and performance against, certification conditions" The MSC technical advisory board directive D-013 *Evaluating fishery client progress on meeting certification conditions* offers guidance to the certification bodies "when judging and reporting the adequacy of client progress" 229.

How ambitious is the MSC global standard?

- minimum standard
- ✓ progressively demanding standard
- maximum ("gold") standard

4.2.6 Incentives for client participation of the MSC global standard

Clients are attracted to the MSC by reputational incentives and by possible price premiums for products carrying the MSC label.

The MSC markets the scheme with incentives such as "an opportunity to increase sales" and to "reinforce [...] sustainability credentials with an influential and growing market segment"⁴³⁰. The MSC stresses the potential in terms of purchasing power of the *Lifestyles of Health and Sustainability market* – so called LOHAS that "is rapidly becoming an influential and global consumer group" and employs the slogan "[a]dded value with marketing support"⁴³¹. The annual report 2009/2010 emphasizes the high market demand for "certified"

⁴²⁷ MSC Fisheries Certification Methodology 2010: 23

⁴²⁸ MSC Fisheries Certification Methodology 2010: 35

⁴²⁹ MSC Fisheries Certification Methodology 2010: 35

^{430 &}lt;a href="http://www.msc.org/documents/msc-brochures/MSC_Joint_Marketing_Case_Study_EN.pdf/view">http://www.msc.org/documents/msc-brochures/MSC_Joint_Marketing_Case_Study_EN.pdf/view March 28, 2011

⁴³¹ MSC Joint Marketing 2010

sustainable seafood" underscoring the market-driven nature of the MSC⁴³². Against the background of the MSC requirement on maintaining fish stock levels, benefits for fishers dependent on the abundance of fish are demonstrated. This aspect is converted to "benefit from the assurance of continuity of future supply and hence sustainability of their own businesses" for fish processors, traders and retailers⁴³³.

Another incentive underlying clients' interest in using the MSC label in selling seafood relates to "increased competition in the retail sector, thus the search for additional properties in products to add profitability and/ or market share" **434*. Especially retailers use the MSC label with the hope to attain price premiums for the certified products.

What are clients' incentives to participate in certification against the MSC global standard?

- ✓ reputational incentive
- ✓ price premium
- legal incentive

4.2.7 Industry scale of the MSC global standard

The Marine Stewardship Council does not specify addressees of its standard in terms of industry scale.

On its own account, the "MSC promotes equal access to its certification program irrespective of the scale of the fishing operation. The implications of the size, scale, type, location and intensity of the fishery, [...] will be considered in every certification"⁴³⁵. Yet, in the work plan of the current policy development cycle, the MSC acknowledges that especially the management requirement of principle 3 of the MSC sustainable fishing standard "may not necessarily be appropriate for some small scale fisheries" 436. Including the objective of facilitating access to MSC certification for small scale fisheries in the work plan underscores the impression that MSC certification is more attainable to large scale fish industry. Investigations on the MSC have demonstrated, among other things, "a bias in favor of industrial fisheries, and developed country fisheries in particular". The study also highlighted impeding "financial and human resource costs that achieving certification would entail in developing country and especially small-scale fisheries" ⁴³⁷. The MSC has been a scheme of superlatives from the start. E.g. the major transnational corporation for frozen fish, Unilever was a driving force in the making of the MSC. Today, the largest fish corporations such as the French Carrefour and the German Metro engage in the MSC⁴³⁸. Possibly aware of this deficit, the MSC is tentatively introducing additional measures to make MSC certification more feasible for small fisheries. In the annual report 2010/2011 the MSC announced that it is planning to develop a "capacity building and training tool" and make it "available to other small-scale fisheries[. I]n the longer term, making the MSC program more accessible to small-scale fisheries [...]²⁴³⁹. Yet, this attempt is still in its fledgling stage and does not have first priority among the MSC activities. The MSC standard sustainable fishing applies only to fisheries catching fish in the wild and not to farm fishing

⁴³² MSC Annual Report 2009/2010

⁴³³ MSC Fishery Standard 2010: 3

⁴³⁴ Aguilar et al. 2009: 31

⁴³⁵ MSC Fishery Standard 2010: 3

⁴³⁶ MSC Fishery Standard 2010: 3

⁴³⁷ Aguilar et al. 2009: 33

⁴³⁸ For Carrefour cf. http://www.metrogroup.de/internet/site/sustainability2009/node/71441/Lde/index.html March 28, 2011; for Metro cf. http://www.unilever.com/images/unilevers%20Fish%20Sustainability%20Initiative_tcm13-9157.pdf March 28, 2011

⁴³⁹ MSC Annual Report 2010/2011: 5

and aquaculture⁴⁴⁰. At the catch level MSC certification against the MSC sustainable fisheries standard is only attainable by fisheries and not by individual operators. Individual operators in the trade, processing, and retail sectors can only use the MSC label within its chain of custody scheme⁴⁴¹. This constitutes on the one side a further impediment for small-scale operations and on the other side an advantage for large-scale industry often integrating the catch level as well as trading, processing and retailing in one enterprise.

Notwithstanding these developments regarding the industry scale of MSC clients empirically assessed, the MSC global standard as such does not specify the scale of industry it designates primarily.

Which scale of industry does the MSC address?

- large-scale (state) companies
- small-scale and artisanal producers
- ✓ no specification in industry scale

4.3 Developing the MSC global standard

4.3.1 Procedures for evaluating the MSC global standard

Review of the MSC standard is institutionalized for every five years.

Irrespective of stakeholder demand for review of the standard, review in the MSC is scheduled not later than five years after adoption of the previous version. Reviewing is defined as "[t]he process of analyzing comments and feedback received to determine a Standard's continued effectiveness". As for revision, "a review shall consider whether the Standard should be formally and publicly revised"⁴⁴². The MSC evaluation procedure explicitly excludes the possibility that fundamental aspects embodied in the MSC requirements undergo revision as a result of a review process. Thus, from the start this institutionalized limitation compromises the procedure for review and revision of the MSC global standard. Subsequently, recent changes relating to the MSC global standard in specific, e.g. the "[i]ntroduced species in MSC assessments" in the context of the MSC fisheries standard or e.g. "[r]evisions to recording waste and batch reconciliation" do not touch on fundamental aspects but rather to minor aspects of the MSC standards⁴⁴³.

In the MSC, the border between the MSC standard and MSC policies on the conformity assessment process is a thin line. This is similar to the unclear boundary within the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative standard concerning the requirements and the validation guide relating to the global standard as well as to conformity assessment policies of the initiative. Thus, the examples of recent changes to the MSC global standard mentioned can be understood as either constituent to the MSC or also constituent to the MSC policies relating to conformity assessment.

^{440 &}lt;a href="http://www.msc.org/get-certified/fisheries/eligible-fisheries">http://www.msc.org/get-certified/fisheries/eligible-fisheries March 29, 2011

⁴⁴¹ Aguilar et al. 2009: 32

⁴⁴² MSC Standard Setting Procedure 2.0: 2

⁴⁴³ http://www.msc.org/about-us/program-improvements/recent_March 29, 2011

What are the MSC evaluation procedures for the global standard?

- only "spontaneous" evaluation through management, members and stakeholders
- ✓ institutionalized evaluation through management, members and/or stakeholders
- institutionalized evaluation through autonomous body

4.3.2 Actors responsible for initiating revision of the MSC global standard

Also stakeholders can initiate revision of an MSC standard.

"[S]takeholder and/or internal feedback" is stated first among the reasons justifying the decision on the need for revising an MSC standard. Other reasons are "new scientific developments, change in legislation or any other significant change in the fishery and seafood supply chain industry" Any interested party has the right to propose reviewing an MSC standard. The proposals are managed by the MSC standards and licensing team.

Who can initiate revisions of the MSC global standard?

- only scheme management
- also members
- ✓ also stakeholders

4.3.3 Actors responsible for preparing the MSC global standard

The MSC management plays a pivotal role in preparing the content of the (revised) MSC standard.

Once the MSC executive has decided upon initiating the revision of an MSC standard, a senior management team appoints a working group comprising a designated project manager from the MSC executive, the standards and licensing team director and one additional member. External consultants will only join the team, "if necessary" Despite the prominent role the MSC technical advisory board is ascribed as a body of external experts in the MSC, it first enters the standard development process, once the senior management team has approved a draft standard. The draft standard is then put forward to the technical advisory board. Offering consultancy on the MSC standard to the MSC board of directors is only one task among others of the MSC technical advisory board responsible for providing advice "on the Charity's [=MSC] technical, scientific and quasi-judicial functions, including but not limited to the Charity's Principles and Criteria, certifier approval (accreditation) methodologies and certification methodologies?" Principles and Criteria, certifier approval (accreditation) methodologies and certification methodologies? Doard on the MSC standard. The stakeholder council is involved in the next step of the standard development process after the draft standard has been endorsed by the technical advisory board. Broader consultation is only designated in yet a next step after the stakeholder council in turn has approved the MSC draft standard.

⁴⁴⁴ MSC Standard Setting Procedure 2.0: 4

⁴⁴⁵ MSC Standard Setting Procedure 2.0: 4

⁴⁴⁶ MSC Articles of Association: 13

⁴⁴⁷ http://www.msc.org/about-us/governance/structure/msc-stakeholder-council March 28, 2011

⁴⁴⁸ MSC Standard Setting Procedure 2.0: 4

Who is preparing the content of the MSC global standard?

- technical bodies of external experts
- ✓ scheme management
- members and stakeholders

4.3.4 Stakeholder consultation on the MSC global standard

Any interested stakeholder can engage in consultation on an MSC standard once the public consultation period is opened.

The MSC develops its standards largely following the United Nations Food and Agriculture Organization's Guidelines for Ecolabeling of Fish and Fishery Products from Marine Capture Fisheries as well as the ISEAL Code of Good Practice for Setting Social and Environmental Standards⁴⁴⁹. The article on *consultation* in the MSC Standard Setting Procedure strongly picks up on the ISEAL requirements in regards to e.g. having at least two comment periods after publication or proposal of a standard, or regarding the time frame of the consultation rounds comprising at least 60 days for the submission of comments etc.⁴⁵⁰. These provisions are very general and offer only a vague idea of how the consultation process is designed on the ground in the MSC.

All documents open for consultation can be accessed and commented upon on the MSC homepage⁴⁵¹. A form for issuing comments is also available online⁴⁵². Public comment periods are formalized and announced in the context of current policy development projects which are all described on the MSC homepage⁴⁵³. Consultation on an MSC standard first opens to the public once the senior management team has prepared the content of the draft standard and other MSC bodies such as the technical advisory group and the stakeholder council have approved it⁴⁵⁴. Thus, MSC policies designate by far less inclusive procedures in the MSC standard development than the MSC itself describes in regards to the making of the MSC sustainable fisheries standard in 1997, "more than 300 individuals and stakeholders were included in the making of the first MSC global standard on sustainable fishing in eight regional workshops and two expert drafting sessions" This description can be misleading because it does not make evident that stakeholder consultation is only envisaged in an advanced stage in the MSC standard development process and that in the initial stages primarily the MSC scheme management is solely responsible for preparing the content of the MSC global standard.

Stakeholder consultation in the MSC is not only designated for the advanced stage of standard development. It is also part of the conformity assessment process and here, it is envisaged in an early stage of the process⁴⁵⁶.

How is the process of stakeholder consultation organized?

- ad hoc; not institutionalized
- institutionalized, open to selected stakeholders
- ✓ institutionalized, open to all interested stakeholders

⁴⁴⁹ MSC Standard Setting Procedure 2.0: 3

⁴⁵⁰ MSC Standard Setting Procedure 2.0: 6 – 7; ISEAL Standard-Setting Code 2010: 9

⁴⁵¹ http://www.msc.org/documents/consultations/consultations/scheme-document-review March 29, 2011

^{452 &}lt;a href="http://www.msc.org/documents/consultations/MSC_standards_comment_form.doc/view">http://www.msc.org/documents/consultations/MSC_standards_comment_form.doc/view March 29, 2011

^{453 &}lt;a href="http://www.msc.org/about-us/program-improvements/current">http://www.msc.org/about-us/program-improvements/current March 29, 2011

⁴⁵⁴ MSC Standard Setting Procedure 2.0: 5; and ISEAL Standard-Setting Code 2010: 9

^{455 &}lt;a href="http://www.msc.org/about-us/standards/standards/msc-environmental-standard">http://www.msc.org/about-us/standards/standards/msc-environmental-standard March 28, 2011

⁴⁵⁶ MSC Fisheries Certification Methodology 2010: 19

4.3.5 Final decision-making on the MSC global standard

Final decisions on the MSC standard are made by near consensus among the members of the MSC bodies involved in the different stages of the standard development process.

Before final approval, the MSC standard undergoes several stages of decision-making after it has been drafted and passed by the senior management team appointed for the cause. First, the technical advisory board endorses the draft standard. Subsequently, it is the MSC stakeholder council's turn to issue its approval. In the next step, the MSC board of directors must approve as well. Approval of the MSC bodies on the draft standard is made in line with each body's respective rules and procedures. Final decisions in the MSC technical advisory board as well as in the MSC stakeholder council are to be reached by consensual agreement. In case consensus is not attainable, the working group appointed for preparing the standard shall prepare a report to the MSC board of directors "summarizing the standards development activities[,] explain the main issues and concerns raised during the process [and] highlight the areas where consensus has not been reached and recommendations on how to address them" In this case the MSC board has the final say in approving the draft standard. Decisions by the MSC board of directors are accepted by voting. Each member of the board has one vote⁴⁵⁸. Following approval by the three MSC bodies, the formal adoption, i.e. very final decision-making on the MSC global standard, rests with the MSC board of trustees.

In the context of standard revisions, the MSC executive reserves the right to make the final decision leading to revision of an MSC standard⁴⁵⁹.

How are final decisions on the MSC global standard made?

- ✓ near consensus among members
- voting among members
- decision by scheme management (board decision)

4.4 Conformity assessment in the MSC

4.4.1 Auditing in the MSC

The MSC authorizes accredited independent third party certification bodies to carry out audits.

The MSC does not undertake audits nor does it issue certificates. Independent third party certification bodies carry out audits for certification in the MSC scheme⁴⁶⁰. The MSC methodologies write guidelines for certifiers carrying out assessments against the MSC standards. The technical advisory board has also developed directives and policy advisories for further clarification of the MSC methodologies⁴⁶¹. The audit is structured in pre-assessment, full assessment in three steps and finally the issuing of the certificate which "marks the end of the fishery assessment process"⁴⁶².

⁴⁵⁷ MSC Standard Setting Procedure 2.0: 6

⁴⁵⁸ MSC Articles of Association: 6

⁴⁵⁹ MSC Standard Setting Procedure 2.0: 4

^{460 &}lt;a href="http://www.msc.org/about-us/standards/third-party-certification">http://www.msc.org/about-us/standards/third-party-certification March 30, 2011

^{461 &}lt;a href="http://www.msc.org/documents/scheme-documents">http://www.msc.org/documents/scheme-documents March 28, 2011

⁴⁶² MSC Fisheries Certification Methodology 2010: 10 – 15

Which actor carries out the auditing in the MSC?

- standard setting body on global level (centralized structure)
- standard setting body on regional or national level (federal structure)
- ✓ independent third party

4.4.2 Monitoring actors in the MSC

In line with auditing, only independent third party bodies are authorized to monitor compliance of fisheries against the MSC standard.

The MSC fisheries certification methodology prescribes the process of monitoring called surveillance audit in the MSC scheme⁴⁶³ as providing "for the surveillance and enforcement of the conditions of certification and the opportunity for any changes in the fishery evaluated for continued consistency with the MSC Principles and Criteria"⁴⁶⁴. Post certification monitoring can be carried out by the same accredited independent third party certification body that undertook the original assessment. Or a certification body that was not involved in the primary certification can carry out monitoring. "If different from the original assessment team, the selection of individuals to conduct audits shall be justified in writing⁴⁶⁵. In any case, the monitoring agency must be an independent third party.

Which actor monitors compliance with the MSC global standard?

- standard setting body on global level (centralized structure)
- standard setting body on regional or national level (federal structure)
- ✓ independent third party

4.4.3 Modes of monitoring in the MSC

The MSC employs a system of police patrol for the mode of monitoring compliance of MSC certified fisheries.

The MSC requires a surveillance audit no later than twelve months after initial certification and thereafter in an annual rhythm implying a strict regime of police patrol⁴⁶⁶. The certificate is valid for a period of up to five years from the time of issuance. A positive full re-assessment within these five years must be concluded before expiry of the valid certificate in order for the client to maintain uninterrupted certification⁴⁶⁷.

Which mode of monitoring is institutionalized in the MSC?

- fire alarm
- ✓ police patrol
- company reporting

⁴⁶³ http://www.msc.org/about-us/standards/methodologies/msc-fishery-certification-methodology

⁴⁶⁴ MSC Fisheries Certification Methodology 2010: 16

⁴⁶⁵ MSC Fisheries Certification Methodology 2010: 34

⁴⁶⁶ MSC Fisheries Certification Methodology 2010: 16

⁴⁶⁷ MSC 2010 Fisheries Certification Methodology: 32 – 33

4.4.4 Accreditation in the MSC

Certification bodies assessing compliance with MSC standards are accredited by a third party accreditation agency.

The MSC engages the ASI – Accreditation Services International GmbH to manage the accreditation of certifiers conducting conformity assessments of fisheries in the MSC⁴⁶⁸. The ASI was created for accrediting certification bodies for the Forest Stewardship Council and currently also accredits certifiers operating in the framework of the Aquaculture Stewardship Council⁴⁶⁹.

Who is responsible for accreditation?

- standard setting body on global level (centralized structure)
- standard setting body on regional or national level (federal structure)
- ✓ independent third party

4.4.5 Dispute-settlement in the MSC

In the case of a dispute not resolvable through bargaining among disputants, the MSC prescribes mediation by the MSC objections panel, i.e. a *political body*.

Dispute settlement, in MSC terms the *objections procedure*, is an integral part of the certification process and is dealt with in length in the MSC certification methodology. "No formal certificate or logo licensing agreements may be issued or entered into relating to any fishery product until the objections procedure has run its course in accordance with Section 4.2 and the MSC Objections Procedure, and the Determination is finalized"⁴⁷⁰. The MSC distinguishes between three kinds of objections; procedural objections, merit objection or an objection relating both to procedures of the assessment as well as to the determinants of the certification decision⁴⁷¹. The MSC has two different procedures in place for handling objections to the certification body and respectively for handling objections directed to the MSC as such. The official MSC objections procedure is restricted to parties formally involved in the assessment process either as clients or as stakeholders. Complaints by parties outside of the certification process can only be filed "in support of another party's permitted Merits Objection"472. The objections procedure is outlined in detail entailing precise time frames for lodging objections and respectively responding to objections by the certification body and the MSC. The dispute is first negotiated among disputants, generally among client and certifier according to the procedure as outlined in the MSC fisheries certification methodology. The MSC chief executive will be informed on the case of the objection. But the MSC as such first takes an active stance in the objections procedure when bargaining among the disputants has failed to resolve the dispute. In this case, the MSC installs an objections panel consisting of independent members who "shall not be involved in activities that constitute the conflict" to act as a political mediator⁴⁷³.

⁴⁶⁸ http://www.msc.org/about-us/standards/third-party-certification March 30, 2011

⁴⁶⁹ http://www.accreditation-services.com March 30, 2011

⁴⁷⁰ MSC Fisheries Certification Methodology 2010: 27

⁴⁷¹ MSC Fisheries Certification Methodology 2010: 27

⁴⁷² MSC Fisheries Certification Methodology 2010: 28

⁴⁷³ MSC Fisheries Certification Methodology 2010: 31

How is dispute-settlement organized in the MSC?

- only bargaining between disputants
- ✓ also mediation by "political" body
- also adjudication by independent judicial body

4.4.6 Means of enforcement in the MSC

The MSC deals with non-compliance by withdrawing privileges.

If monitoring reveals non-compliance with audit requirements and/or agreed conditions for improvement the fishery certificate will be suspended or withdrawn. Changes in certification status of a client are publicly advertised by the certification body. The fishery has 90 days to comply with the requirements following suspension. At the end of this period, an on-site surveillance audit takes place resulting in either suspending the suspension of the certificate or ultimately withdrawing it⁴⁷⁴.

The MSC's detailed objections procedure as described above only accounts for the case of a dispute on behalf of a client against procedures or decisions by the certification body in question. The case of a dispute on grounds of non-compliance is not object of the MSC objections procedure.

How is non-compliance in the MSC dealt with?

- no means of enforcement
- ✓ withdrawal of privileges
- sanctions

5 THE KIMBERLEY PROCESS CERTIFICATION SCHEME (KPCS)

The negative impacts of resource abundance on growth and sustainable development in general have been dealt with in depth and width in academia, policy circles and increasingly also in civil society campaigns since Auty presented the *resource curse thesis* 1993⁴⁷⁵. Next to poor economic performance or weak democracy indicators natural resource related conflict is also considered as one indicator of the so called resource curse⁴⁷⁶. This is where the Kimberley Process Certification Scheme (KPCS) sets in. In 2000, Southern African diamond-producing states adjoined in a series of conferences in the traditional diamond producing city of Kimberley, South Africa, in order to discuss ways to stop the trade in *conflict diamonds* – diamonds related to instigating or lengthening conflict in certain African countries – and to ensure that diamond purchases were not funding violence. Backed by the United Nations General Assembly⁴⁷⁷, the Kimberley Process Certification Scheme was formally established November 2002 and has been in effect since January 1, 2003.

The KPCS emerged in parallel to other sustainability governance schemes in the mineral resource sector such as the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative for revenue disclosure in the oil, gas and mining sector. Differing from the latter, the KPCS focuses solely on diamonds and even more specifically, on rough diamonds at the point of extraction or export before polish and cut or other further manufacturing.

5.1 General aspects of the KPCS

5.1.1 Actors involved in founding the KPCS

The three actor groups; civil society, private business and public authorities were involved in founding the Kimberley Process Certification Scheme.

In the 1990s the exploitation of diamonds in Africa had been related to the financing of civil war and other forms of violent conflict in Angola, Sierra Leone, Liberia and the Democratic Republic of the Congo. The United Nations imposed sanctions on many of the countries suffering conflict in Africa. Yet high profile United Nations reports, most prominently the *Fowler report* demonstrated how the specific nature of the diamond sector enabled rebel groups to further finance their illicit activities, illustrating widespread *sanctions-busting*⁴⁷⁸. The United Nations reacted by imposing *smart sanctions* specifically targeting strategic commodities such as oil, diamonds and timber. Yet, these *smart sanctions* were still criticized for first and foremost affecting the communities and small-scale miners and not counteracting the rebel groups' activities⁴⁷⁹.

High media coverage of the African conflicts brought the brutality of the rebel practices, particularly in Sierra Leone, to the attention of Western civil society. Western civil society organizations in turn organized the blood diamond campaign to further raise awareness on the role of diamonds in conflicts in African states. Global Witness and Partnership Africa Canada were leading nongovernmental organizations in the campaign which turned out to be very effective, finally leading to the creation of the KPCS. Nongovernmental organizations

⁴⁷⁵ Basedau et al. 2005

⁴⁷⁶ Le Billon 2001 on conflict; Werner, Sachs 1995 on economic performance; Ross 2001 on democracy

⁴⁷⁷ United Nations General Assembly resolution A/RES/55/56, December 2000

⁴⁷⁸ Haufler 2009: 406 – 7

⁴⁷⁹ Haufler 2009: 406 - 7

further streamlined their activities by joining forces in the *Fatal Transactions* campaign and increased pressure on the diamond industry by threatening to call a consumer boycott on diamonds in late 1999⁴⁸⁰. The diamond industry, in turn, realized the reputation at stake, given the symbolic value of diamond jewelry as synonymous for love and faith fearing a similar development as in the fur industry, where civil society campaigns brought about a close to complete closing of the business. At the time, the global diamond industry was strongly concentrated in the hands of one global enterprise, De Beers. De Beers was once in control of 80% of the diamond sector and still dominates the trade in diamonds. The quasi-monopolistic stance of De Beers made the enterprise an easy target for the campaign⁴⁸¹. Due to De Beers' business strategy of controlling the supply side of diamonds, marketing diamonds stigmatized as *conflict diamonds* posed not only a threat to the company's reputation but threatened the general maintenance of its business operations as a whole⁴⁸².

Besides international organizations, civil society and the diamond industry itself, major diamond-producing countries such as South Africa were also concerned about upholding the activities in diamond extraction. Realizing possible consequences of a setback in diamond trade for their domestic economy, the government of South Africa initiated a technical forum bringing together representatives from diamond-producing countries, the industry and civil society in a series of conferences collectively known as the Kimberley Process in 2000 in the traditional diamond producing town of Kimberley. By the end of the year, the United Nations General Assembly adopted resolution 55/56 on conflict diamonds supporting the creation of an international certification scheme for rough diamonds. The Kimberley Process Certification Scheme was officially declared at a conference in Interlaken, Switzerland, November 5, 2002 and has been in effect since January 1, 2003.

Which actors were involved in founding the KPCS?

- ✓ civil society actors
- ✓ private businesses
- ✓ public authorities

5.1.2 Membership structure of the KPCS

Only public authorities can become formal members in the KPCS.

According to the KPCS core document, "[p]articipation in the Certification Scheme is open on a global, non-discriminatory basis to all Applicants willing and able to fulfill the requirements of that Scheme" Applicants here resemble only countries. The KPCS's membership is limited to sovereign states represented through their government. Members constitute KPCS participants, defined as "a state or a regional economic integration organization for which the Certification Scheme is effective" These include all major diamond producing countries like South Africa, Namibia and Botswana which were among the first to participate in the early meetings led by concern for their well-developed domestic diamond industry. Belgium, harboring one of the world's largest diamond entrepôts in Antwerp, where more than 80% of all rough diamonds pass, is represented through the European Community constituting one member in the KPCS. Japan, the USA and Europe are important members as major diamond consumer markets. Civil society actors, namely Global Witness and

⁴⁸⁰ Paes 2005: 314

⁴⁸¹ Haufler 2009: 405

⁴⁸² Vogel 2009: 172

⁴⁸³ KPCS Document 2002: 10

⁴⁸⁴ Paes 2005:317

⁴⁸⁵ KPCS Document 2002: 4

⁴⁸⁶ Smillie 2005: 56

Partnership Africa Canada played a pivotal role in the process from the start and still do up to date although, officially, they enjoy observer status only and have no vote⁴⁸⁷. Observers are defined as "a representative of civil society, the diamond industry, international organizations and non-participating governments invited to take part in Plenary meetings"⁴⁸⁸. For all practical purposes the nongovernmental organizations have the right to participate in all meetings and to join government officials at the negotiations table where decisions among the members are made by deliberative negotiation until tacit consensus emerges. Thus nongovernmental organizations are in a position to influence outcomes⁴⁸⁹. The World Diamond Council, an industry association bringing together the World Federation of Diamond Bourses and the International Diamond Manufacturers Association was created in July 2000 in order to tackle the challenge of conflict diamonds on behalf of industry even before the creation of the KPCS⁴⁹⁰. The World Diamond Council represents the diamond industry in the KPCS and has observer status like Global Witness and Partnership Africa Canada⁴⁹¹.

Which actors constitute the KPCS membership?

- civil society actors
- private businesses
- ✓ public authorities

5.1.3 Members' representation in the KPCS

The KPCS has no special interest representation in regards to its membership.

Each member country constitutes one KPCS participant, i.e. one member of the scheme. KP participating countries together with industry and civil society observers gather twice a year at intersessional and plenary meetings, as well as in working groups and committees that meet on a regular basis. Each participant or observer is represented by one delegate in the plenary and other KPCS meetings⁴⁹². Every participant's voice is counted as one vote in a decision-making process.

How are member groups represented in the KPCS?

- federal structure
- corporatist structure
- ✓ no special interest representation

⁴⁸⁷ Jojarth 2009: 217

⁴⁸⁸ KPCS Document 2002: 4

⁴⁸⁹ Jojarth 2009: 217

⁴⁹⁰ Gooch 2008: 198

^{491 &}lt;a href="http://www.kimberleyprocess.com/structure/participants_world_map_en.html">http://www.kimberleyprocess.com/structure/participants_world_map_en.html November 15, 2010

⁴⁹² KPCS Rules of Procedure 2003: 3

5.1.4 Congruence among rule-makers and rule-takers in the KPCS

In the KPCS, the group of rule-makers is congruent with the group of rule-takers.

The KPCS standard is drafted for application by the KPCS participants. Thus, the KPCS participants constitute the group of rule-takers in the scheme. At the same time, the participants also constitute the group of rule-makers. Other actor groups neither constitute formal parts of the rule-making nor the rule-taking group.

Are the groups of rule-makers and rule-takers congruent in the KPCS?

- √ congruent
- partial overlap
- no overap

5.1.5 Mode of installing the KPCS board of directors

The KPCS merely has a chair and a vice-chair in place of a board of directors, installed by mode of self-appointment.

Differing from the original KPCS core document, the KPCS rules of procedure speak of selecting the chair and respectively vice-chair rather than electing them⁴⁹³. The KPCS core document states that "the chair would be elected to preside over all Plenary meetings, *ad hoc* working groups and other subsidiary bodies" at the end of each plenary meeting and that decisions are to be reached by consensual agreement among participants⁴⁹⁴. According to the amendments to the KPCS rules of procedure, the chair and vice-chair are now to be decided upon by the participants progressing to chair and selected as vice-chair from within their delegations implying a mode of self-appointment⁴⁹⁵. 2010 Israel chaired the KPCS assisted by the Democratic Republic of the Congo as vice-chair⁴⁹⁶. As for the office of vice chair, the vice chair accedes the chair for the following year after the chair has concluded a term of twelve months⁴⁹⁷.

How is the KPCS board of directors put in place?

- ✓ self-appointment
- appointment by membership groups (corporatist/federal)
- election by members

⁴⁹³ KPCS Rules of Procedure 2003: 3

⁴⁹⁴ KPCS Document 2002: 9

⁴⁹⁵ KPCS Rules of Procedure Amendment 2003

⁴⁹⁶ KPCS Final communique - Plenary 2009

⁴⁹⁷ KPCS Final communique – Plenary 2003

5.1.6 The KPCS secretariat

The KPCS has no permanent secretariat.

A secretariat exists in support of the chair, but like the chair, rotates on an annual basis and is not responsible for any substantive tasks. The secretariat has no permanent office and only weak capacity, often consisting of one person if existent at all. The office of secretariat is neither mentioned once in the KPCS core document nor in its rules. Administrative tasks, such as arranging plenary sessions or circulating documents, usually carried out by a secretariat, lie within the responsibility of the KPCS chair⁴⁹⁸. The lack of a well functioning secretariat is subject to critique by involved civil society actors such as the KPCS observer Partnership Africa Canada⁴⁹⁹.

What is the capacity of the KPCS's secretariat?

- ✓ no permanent secretariat
- secretariat with administrative tasks
- secretariat with substantive tasks

5.1.7 The KPCS' relation to other GSCSs

The KPCS operates in nested cooperation with other initiatives in the diamond sector.

By its own account the KPCSs' members account for 99.8% of the world trade on diamonds implying monopoly in the diamond sector under the umbrella of the scheme. Nevertheless, the KPCS operates in nested cooperation with other initiatives introduced by industry and civil society in order to enhance the effects of the KPCS. The World Diamond Council e.g. has introduced a system of warranties as industry self-regulation extending the effects of the KPCS, more complementing the KP than competing with it⁵⁰⁰. This voluntary self-regulation is also referred to in the preamble of the KPCS's core document⁵⁰¹. Additionally, the Diamond Development Initiative and the Diamond Area Community Development Fund have been established in sustainability governance of the diamond sector⁵⁰². Like the industry led system of warranties these initiatives rather compensate for shortcomings of the KPCS than challenge the initiative in open competition. The EITI also refers to the KP in a cooperative tone⁵⁰³.

How does the KPCS interrelate with other GSCSs?

- no relations (monopoly)
- ✓ nested cooperation
- open competition

⁴⁹⁸ KPCS Rules of Procedure 2003: 5

⁴⁹⁹ PAC 2010: 2

⁵⁰⁰ Gooch 2008: 204

⁵⁰¹ KPCS Document 2002: 2

⁵⁰² Hilson et al. 2009: 83

⁵⁰³ EITI 2009: 40

5.1.8 The KPCS' relation to (inter-)governmental bodies

(Inter-)governmental bodies have supported the KPCS from the start.

As for international organizations, the initial mandate for the Kimberley Process was established by United Nations General Assembly resolution 55/56 adopted December 2000. Several resolutions have followed since renewing the initial mandate on a regular basis⁵⁰⁴. The United Nations Security Council also issued recognition for the scheme by its resolution 1459, January 2003 and in two further resolutions on Liberia and Côte d'Ivoire⁵⁰⁵.

As for national governments, the KPCS also relies on support by the governments of its participants for implementing the changes necessary for fulfilling the requirements outlined in the scheme.

How does the KPCS interrelate with (inter-)governmental bodies?

- no relations
- ✓ orchestration
- delegated authority

5.1.9 Financing of the KPCS's activities

The KPCS finances its activities primarily by voluntary donations.

The costs of launching the KPCS as well as its implementation have been dispersed unequally primarily among KP participants, i.e. their governments, as well as among the KPCS observers⁵⁰⁶. The countries hosting the KPCS annual plenary meetings and other meetings bear the respective costs. South Africa bore the organizational expenses that aroused in the context of executing the first twelve Kimberley meetings. Execution and financing of necessary requirements for achieving certification as outlined in the core document lie within the responsibility of the participants, i.e. members, as well. Since members are nation-states, the implementation of the process takes place within national borders and governments bear the costs⁵⁰⁷. KPCS observers also provide ad hoc financing. E.g., the nongovernmental organization Partnership Africa Canada offered funding for a number of experts from developing, artisanal-alluvial producing participants to participate in review visits. Revenues are neither attained through regular contributions by the KPCS nor for issuing the KPCS certificate in terms of marketing of activities constraining the KPCS budget.

How are the KPCS's activities financed?

- ✓ voluntary donations
- regular contributions
- marketing of activities

⁵⁰⁴ KPCS 2006: 6

⁵⁰⁵ KPCS 2006: 6; BICC 2009: 29

⁵⁰⁶ Bieri 2010: 167 – 167

⁵⁰⁷ Smillie 2005: 59 – 60; http://www.kimberleyprocess.com/home/index_en.html, November 15, 2010

5.1.10 KPC scheme evaluation

Scheme evaluation by members is institutionalized in the KPCS.

The KPCS core document recommends a mode of review as follows: "the Certification scheme should be subject to periodic review, to allow Participants to conduct a thorough analysis of all elements contained in the scheme". Further, the first review is to take place "no later than three years after the effective starting date of the Certification Scheme". No detailed provisions are documented for the time period of subsequent reviews of the scheme after the first and only evaluation of the KPCS took place in 2006. The results of the review are documented and are publicly available on the review was conducted by a working group established for the cause consisting of the participants Australia, China, European Community, India, Israel, Russian Federation, Sierra Leone, South Africa, United States, World Diamond Council and Partnership Africa Canada/Global Witness including the KP chair, vice-chair and chairs of the working groups and committees on the KPCS are documented. In addition to the provision of a three-year review, refining the sysem is also one agenda point of the KPCS annual meetings of the service was followed by the subject to periodic review of the KPCS annual meetings.

As for the KPCS core document, any participant can propose modifications which must be approved by consensus among the participants⁵¹². The KPCS rules of procedure may be amended by a decision of the plenary following a report on the proposed amendment by an ad hoc working group or a subsidiary body specifically appointed for the cause⁵¹³.

Has the KPCS institutionalized procedures for evaluating the scheme?

- no institutionalized evaluation
- ✓ institutionalized scheme evaluation by management, members and/or stakeholders
- institutionalized scheme evaluation by an autonomous body

5.2 Characteristics of the KPCS global standard

5.2.1 Subject of the KPCS global standard

The origin of rough diamonds is the primary subject to the KPCS global standard.

The KPCS requires each participating country to track the rough diamonds it is exporting back to the place where the diamonds were mined or to the point of import thus certifying origin⁵¹⁴. Installing procedures such as establishing a system of internal controls and designating an importing and exporting authority are also required. Yet, procedural requirements in the KPCS are merely instrumental to achieving the central objective of disclosing the origin of the rough diamond⁵¹⁵. Managerial aspects of production or mineralogical characteristics of the diamond are not subject to the KPCS global standard.

⁵⁰⁸ KPCS Document 2002: 11

 $^{509 \ \}underline{\text{http://www.kimberleyprocess.com/documents/third_year_view_en.html April 28, 2011}$

⁵¹⁰ KPCS Terms of Reference Ad hoc Working Group on the Review of the KPCS 2005: 2

⁵¹¹ Haufler 2010: 410

⁵¹² KPCS Rules of Procedure 2003: 11

⁵¹³ KPCS Rules of Procedure 2003: 10

⁵¹⁴ Gooch 2008: 193

⁵¹⁵ KPCS Document 2002: 7

What is subject to the KPCS global standard?

- procedures (production/process management)
- results (product/performance)
- √ origin of product

5.2.2 Chain of custody certification in the KPCS

The KPCS certificate is not visible to the end consumer.

The KPCS certificate is a document accompanying tamper proof shipments of diamonds visible only at points of import and export to public authorities. Nevertheless, the diamond industry itself is very visible to the consumer and – also due to the symbolic meaning of diamonds – vulnerable to reputational damage. Thus, merely being a member of the KPCS, knowing that the members account for 99.8% of worldwide global production justifies further trading in diamonds, although the KPCS is not visible to the end consumer. Yet, buying a diamond online as a private consumer, e.g. at Tiffany & Co, the KP certificate does not appear throughout the transaction.

At which stage in the chain of custody does KPCS certification apply?

- certificate visible for end consumer
- certificate included in other end consumer visible certificate
- ✓ business to business certificate not visible to end consumer

5.2.3 Precision of the KPCS global standard

In terms of precision, the KPCS standard comes closest to specific norms.

Adhering to the Kimberley Process Certification Scheme implies that diamond shipments accompanied by a KP certificate do not entail *conflict diamonds* defined in the KPCS core document as "rough diamonds used by rebel movements or their allies to finance conflict aimed at undermining legitimate governments, as described in relevant United Nations Security Council (UNSC) resolutions insofar as they remain in effect, or in other similar UNSC resolutions which may be adopted in the future, and as understood and recognized in United Nations General Assembly (UNGA) Resolution 55/56, or in other similar UNGA resolutions which may be adopted in future" The definition of conflict diamonds is the first and most comprehensive definition of the 18-items long list of definitions opening the KPCS core document. Following the definitions in section I, come the requirements for participants regarding the use and application of the Kimberley Process Certificate (section II), undertakings in respect of the international trade in rough diamonds (section III), internal controls (section IV), co-operation and transparency (section V) and finally administrative matters (section VI). The document closes with three annexes further specifying one, certificates, two, internal controls and three, statistics.

Section IV of the document is central to the scheme and encompasses the minimum standards conditional for issuing certificates referring to internal controls. The section opens with the rather weak formulation "Each

participant *should* ..."⁵¹⁷ followed by seven requirements. The first (a) "establish a system of internal controls designed to eliminate the presence of conflict diamonds from shipments of rough diamonds imported into and exported from its territory" and the last (f) "when establishing a system of internal controls, take into account, where appropriate, the further options and recommendations for internal controls as elaborated in Annex II"⁵¹⁸. These requirements entail neither time limits nor numbers nor specification of how the stringency of the internal controls system could be measured. The KPCS makes specific recommendations about the design of the system but leaves the details to industry and government in each member state⁵¹⁹.

To which degree of precision is the KPCS global standard formulated?

- only general principles
- ✓ also specific norms
- also measurable rules

5.2.4 Context sensitivity of the KPCS global standard

The KPCS only has a global standard with no further specification.

Besides the requirements outlined in the KPCS core document constituting the global standard no provisions exist on the national level in regards to KPCS implementation. Requirements relating to form and content of the KPCS certificate are outlined in the KPCS global standard, i.e. the KPCS core document and are the same for all KPCS participants⁵²⁰. How the KPCS participants go about in order to meet the requirements of the KPCS global standard lies in the sole responsibility of the respective participant. "According to the Administrative Decision on Peer Review, participants are required to submit annual reports on their implementation of the Kimberley Process in their countries" Yet, these reports are not made public. Thus, the mere existence of national implementation plans of individual KPCS participants resembling national versions of the KPCS global standard cannot be assessed. Furthermore, national implementation plans cannot be compared or let alone streamlined. Subsequently, regional or national versions of the KPCS global standard can hardly be developed.

Is the KPCS global standard context sensitive?

- √ only global standard
- global standard takes regional/national specifics into consideration
- global standard as framework for local/national/regional standard

⁵¹⁷ KPCS Document 2002: 7

⁵¹⁸ KPCS Document 2002: 7

⁵¹⁹ Haufler 2009: 410

⁵²⁰ KPCS Document 2002: 5, 12

⁵²¹ http://www.kimberleyprocess.com/documents/annual_report_en.html April 28, 2011

5.2.5 Minimum or maximum standard in the KPCS

The KPCS global standard resembles a minimum standard.

Membership in the KPCS is open to any country willing and able to comply with the Kimberley Process' minimum standards⁵²². KP certificates are issued after meeting minimum requirements as described throughout the official KPCS document, e.g. in section IV, b) "designate an Importing and an Exporting Authority(ies)"⁵²³. Furthermore, the participants are encouraged to ensure that the certificates meet the minimum requirements set out in Annex I by e.g. numbering according to ISO 3166-1, one of the few quite precise requirements ⁵²⁴. Several years after the scheme's initiation, the narrow scope of the KPCS with its focus on conflict diamonds has been criticized for arriving at a stalemate and called upon to broaden its mandate to also include illicit diamonds⁵²⁵.

How ambitious is the KPCS global standard?

- √ minimum standard
- progressively demanding standard
- maximum ("gold") standard

5.2.6 Incentives for client participation of the KPCS global standard

Participation in KPCS certification is driven by legal as well as reputational incentives.

The clear monopoly of the KPCS on the world trade of diamonds and the strong involvement of governments in the scheme make KP certification conditional for importing and exporting of rough diamonds. The KPCS formulates binding legal norms⁵²⁶ and is an export/import regime implemented through domestic legislation in member states⁵²⁷. A KPCS provision calls upon the participant to "ensure that no shipment of rough diamonds is imported from or exported to a non-participant"⁵²⁸. Subsequently, due to the fact that 99.8% of diamond production is controlled by KPCS participants, not holding a KP certificate or being expelled from the KPCS means factual expulsion from the global trade in diamonds – "a trade restriction for which the WTO has granted a waiver"⁵²⁹. Even before the making of the KPCS, the global diamond industry and major diamond producing countries happily agreed to support the making of a scheme for diamond certification. They feared the damage the civil society organizations' *blood diamond campaign* would have on their reputation and respectively their business. Thus, the reputational incentives also play a role in the context of the KPCS⁵³⁰.

⁵²² Smillie 2005: 61

⁵²³ KPCS Document 2002: 7

⁵²⁴ KPCS Document 2002: 5, 12

⁵²⁵ Zulu et al. 2009: 1,126

⁵²⁶ Paes 2005: 305

⁵²⁷ Haufler 2009: 404

⁵²⁸ KPCS Document 2002: 6

⁵²⁹ Vogel 2009: 173

⁵³⁰ Smillie 2005: 55

What are clients' incentives to participate in certification against the KPCS global standard?

- ✓ reputational incentive
- price premium
- ✓ legal incentive

5.2.7 Industry scale of the KPCS global standard

From the start, large-scale industry engaged in the KPCS. The scheme has also special provisions addressing small-scale industry.

Diamond producing industry can be divided in two very distinct scales of production, Kimberlitic and alluvial diamond production. The first is large scale requiring high capital investments, heavy machinery and technological knowhow. Major diamond producers representing large-scale industry such as the world's leading diamond trader De Beers championed the making of the KPCS. Large-scale industry is represented in the KPCS through membership in the World Diamond Council, one out of three official KPCS observers⁵³¹. Contrarily, alluvial diamonds are mined in river beds, primarily by artisanal and community miners using next to no technical support beyond pure manpower⁵³². Regulating alluvial mining in line with the KPCS minimum requirement of ensuring a verifiable audit from the mine to market is more challenging than controlling point-source Kimberlitic mining⁵³³. The complete chain of warranties from the mine to the retailer can only be maintained if the requirements of KPCS are matched by similar certification mechanisms on the national level⁵³⁴. This is most challenging for alluvial diamond producing states often lacking the necessary infrastructure and state capacity to enforce regulation⁵³⁵. Alluvial mining states also shoulder the greatest financial burden due to the disproportionately high challenge of subjecting informal and diffuse artisanal mining to effective regulation. At the same time, alluvial diamond mining states face the highest risk of diamond-related conflict and thus also can expect the highest profits for complying with the KPCS⁵³⁶. In order to meet the special needs of the artisanal and small-scale mining sector, the KPCS included two provisions for regulating alluvial diamond mining in the annex of the KPCS core document aiming at formalizing the sector⁵³⁷. Additionally, already 2004, an ad hoc sub-group was established as part of the working group *monitoring* in order to deal with alluvial mining. Furthermore, the full review of the KPCS resulted in recommendations concerning alluvial mining, leading to the installment of a full-fledged ad hoc working group, 2007, the youngest of the KPCS, working group on alluvial and artisanal producers⁵³⁸.

Which scale of industry does the KPCS address?

- ✓ large-scale (state) companies
- ✓ small-scale and artisanal producers
- no specification in industry scale

⁵³¹ http://www.worlddiamondcouncil.com, 15.11.2010.

⁵³² Paes 2005: 312 - 3

⁵³³ Zulu et al. 2009: 1,121

⁵³⁴ Paes 2005: 318

⁵³⁵ Zulu et al. 2009: 1,121

⁵³⁶ Jojarth 2009: 199

⁵³⁷ KPCS Document 2002: Annex II, paragraph 11, 12

⁵³⁸ KPCS Third Year Review 2006: 82 – 83; KPCS WGAAP Terms of Reference 2007

5.3 Developing the KPCS global standard

5.3.1 Procedures for evaluating the KPCS global standard

The KPCS has no institutionalized procedures for evaluation of the KPCS global standard.

The KPCS provision of the KPCS core document relating to review of the scheme in general also can apply to the KPCS document per se. The provision stipulates a "thorough analysis of all elements contained in the scheme" including the KPCS global standard as one scheme element. Although the three year review requirement also can apply to the KPCS core document as the KPCS global standard, the KPCS global standard by far did not constitute the core focus of the exercise. The resulting recommendations of the review barely relate to issues touching on the KPCS standard such as internal controls. The review first and foremost concerned procedural aspects regarding the general effectiveness of the Kimberley Process per se such as technical provisions or organization and working methods⁵⁴⁰. Subsequently, in practice, evaluating the KPCS global standard only takes place spontaneously and is not institutionalized in the scheme's operations practically.

What are the KPCS evaluation procedures for the global standard?

- ✓ only "spontaneous" evaluation through management, members and stakeholders
- institutionalized evaluation through management, members and/or stakeholders
- institutionalized evaluation through autonomous body

5.3.2 Actors responsible for initiating revision of the KPCS global standard

In the KPCS, revisions are initiated by the scheme participants, i.e. members.

As described in the preceding the evaluation procedures are the same for the global standard and for the functioning of the entire scheme. The provisions for modifications in general entailed in the KPCS core document postulate that revisions can be proposed by any participant, i.e. member, and should be accepted by consensus among all participants⁵⁴¹. Observers from industry and civil society are in the position to influence members to take action in this respect⁵⁴².

Who can initiate revisions of the KPCS global standard?

- only scheme management
- ✓ also members
- also stakeholders

⁵³⁹ KPCS Document 2002: 11

⁵⁴⁰ KPCS Third Year Review 2006: 76 - 85

⁵⁴¹ KPCS Document 2002: 11

5.3.3 Actors responsible for preparing the KPCS global standard

The content of the KPCS global standard, in the form of the KPCS core document, was negotiated between the members and included selected stakeholders from industry and civil society.

In all working groups and committees including those commissioned for preparing standards the KPCS members are coalesced by the KPCS observers, the non-governmental organizations Global Witness and Partnership Africa Canada as well as the industry representative the World Diamond Council. Thus, these selected stakeholders from industry and civil society are also in a position to influence the outcome of all negotiations including the KPCS official document as the global standard⁵⁴³.

Who is preparing the content of the standard?

- technical bodies of external experts
- scheme management
- √ members and stakeholders

5.3.4 Stakeholder consultation on the KPCS global standard

Stakeholder consultation in the KPCS is institutionalized and open to selected stakeholders.

Stakeholder consultation in the KPCS is primarily organized within the framework of the annual plenary meetings. "Participants and Observers are to meet in Plenary annually, and on other occasions as Participants may deem necessary" KPCS meetings of the plenary are to be held in private. In the KPCS, private meetings as well as working groups and respective sub-groups involve formal KPCS observers also the Furthermore, working groups or subsidiary bodies may invite representatives of civil society, industry or governmental agencies other than the participants and formal KPCS observers on a permanent or temporary basis. This invitation can be revoked by plenary decision. Once invited, observers are free to engage in negotiations and despite the absence of decision-making power yield influence due to the expertise they develop 46.

How is the process of stakeholder consultation organized?

- ad hoc; not institutionalized
- ✓ institutionalized, open to selected stakeholders
- institutionalized, open to all interested stakeholders

⁵⁴³ Jojarth 2009: 217; http://www.kimberleyprocess.com/background/index_en.html, March 9, 2011

⁵⁴⁴ KPCS Document 2002: 9

⁵⁴⁵ KPCS Rules of Procedure 2003: 6

⁵⁴⁶ Jojarth 2009: 217

5.3.5 Final decision-making on the KPCS global standard

Final decisions on the KPCS global standard are made by consensual agreement among the KPCS members.

Final decisions are made at the plenary meetings through consensual agreement among the members. In case consensus cannot be achieved, the chair is to conduct consultations⁵⁴⁷. Observers do not have a vote but can influence the course of negotiations by active participation in the meetings⁵⁴⁸.

How are final decisions on the KPCS global standard made?

- ✓ near consensus among members
- voting among members
- decision by scheme management (board decision)

5.4 Conformity assessment in the KPCS

5.4.1 Auditing in the KPCS

Formally, the KPCS system of peer review equals an audit by the global standard setting body.

In Sun City 2003, the KPCS introduced review visits to be called upon voluntarily by a participant and carried out upon the participant's agreement to gather a firsthand impression of its implementation efforts⁵⁴⁹. By the KPCS three year review in 2006, review visits had been undertaken in the countries of 32 participants. Yet fundamental weaknesses in the systems' effectiveness have been demonstrated in several cases, among them Brazil and Venezuela⁵⁵⁰. On paper, the KPCS peer review mechanism was developed for the course of conducting conformity assessments on KPCS participants against the KPCS global standard, i.e. carrying out the auditing by the global KPCS in a centralized structure. On the ground, the KPCS review system rather complements the KPCS implementation process on the national level rather than constitutes a formalized audit itself.

The concept of audit is only dealt with superficially in various instances of the KPCS core document and does not constitute an own paragraph let alone an own document in the scheme. The participants themselves are responsible for outlining "how the requirements for the Certification Scheme are being implemented" and "to include an item where information as stipulated in paragraph [...] is reviewed and participants can provide further details of their respective systems" Self-assessment is even specified in conjunction with the requirements of co-operation and transparency Underscoring the notion of self-assessment, the exporting authority is responsible for validating a certificate and providing a declaration on the integrity of the rough diamonds export. In a similar vein, the importing authority carries responsibility for verifying that the seals and the container have not been tampered with and that the export was performed in accordance with the KPCS⁵⁵³.

⁵⁴⁷ KPCS Document 2002: 9

⁵⁴⁸ Jojarth 2009: 217

⁵⁴⁹ Jojarth 2009: 211

⁵⁵⁰ Gooch 2008: 209 – 212

⁵⁵¹ KPCS Rules of Procedure 2003: 10

⁵⁵² KPCS Rules of Procedure 2003: 8

⁵⁵³ KPCS Rules of Procedure 2003: 14 – 15

The United States, e.g. passed the Clean Diamond Trade Act as the national scheme for implementing the KPCS using – among others – the not-for-profit entity U.S. Kimberley Process Authority to implement the domestic and international provisions of the act⁵⁵⁴. US Kimberley Process Authority is commissioned by the act to issue KP certificates in the US diamond trade. Yet, several years after the implementation of the act, it has been pointed out that no plan exists to supervise and review the licensees that issue the certificates. This is finally left to industry which has the biggest stake in keeping diamonds flowing freely compromising the credibility and neutrality of the system⁵⁵⁵.

Which actor carries out the auditing in the KPCS?

- ✓ standard setting body on global level (centralized structure)
- standard setting body on regional or national level (federal structure)
- independent third party

5.4.2 Monitoring actors in the KPCS

Monitoring in the KPCS lies primarily in the responsibility of the standard setting body on a global level.

The KPCS working group on monitoring was established 2003 in order to deal with "issues relating to the implementation of the [...] scheme by participants" and is responsible for the peer-review mechanism, for organizing review visits and for assessing the participants' annual reports⁵⁵⁶. It is composed of members appointed by the plenary from the ranks of KPCS participants and observers on proposal by the chair, thus on the global level of the scheme⁵⁵⁷.

From the start, consensus on the concrete implications of monitoring in the KPCS was impossible to achieve. Third party monitoring was strongly opposed by the governments of Russia, China, and Israel⁵⁵⁸. Thus, in line with auditing, on a day to day basis, monitoring compliance with the KPCS requirements is primarily left to the responsibility of the KPCS participant regardless of the activities of the working group monitoring⁵⁵⁹. The working group first sets in actively when indications for non-compliance arise. For example, in Ghana late 2006 government officials reacted to a call by nongovernmental organizations for a thorough inspection of the country's policies and monitoring systems by assembling a so called Kimberley Team for double-checking surveillance of the diamond sector. Three officers from the Ghana Precious Minerals and Marketing Corporation and other government officials made up the team. Before the fire alarm sounded responsibility for monitoring the sector and its compliance with the KP requirements lay with the Corporation⁵⁶⁰. Subsequently – similar to auditing – on paper, the KPCS is primarily responsible for monitoring as the standard setting body on global level. On the ground, monitoring is often primarily left to national KPCS participants.

⁵⁵⁴ Gooch 2008: 196 - 7

⁵⁵⁵ Gooch 2008: 200

⁵⁵⁶ http://www.kimberleyprocess.com/structure/working_group_en.html March 10, 2011

⁵⁵⁷ KPCS Rules of Procedure 2003: 1

⁵⁵⁸ Smillie 2005: 60

⁵⁵⁹ Hilson, Clifford 2010: 432

⁵⁶⁰ Hilson, Clifford 2010: 433

Which actor monitors compliance with the KPCS global standard?

- ✓ standard setting body on global level (centralized structure)
- standard setting body on regional or national level (federal structure)
- independent third party

5.4.3 Modes of monitoring in the KPCS

Monitoring in the KPCS is primarily initiated by a mode of *fire alarm*. In theory, the scheme also requires reporting but in practice delays in reports weaken this mode of monitoring.

Only upon credible indications of significant non-compliance with the certification scheme, will the KPCS plenary suggest dispatching of "review missions by other participants or their representatives" As mentioned above, 2005, civil society actors alerted alarm resulting in Ghana's policies and monitoring systems in its diamond sector to be subject to a visit of a KPCS review team sector. There is a fine distinction in the KPCS between review visits and review missions. The former relate to the institutionalized KPCS peer review mechanism. The latter are only called upon in the case of suspected non-compliance. Participants are to "inform another Participant through the Chair if it considers that the laws, regulations, rules, procedures or practices of that other Participant do not ensure the absence of conflict diamonds in the exports of that other Participant" thus officially acknowledging a system of fire alarm solventhems. The KPCS civil society observers are also well positioned to serve as effective fire alarms surveying governments' trade control efforts in many of the poorly governed diamond-producing states states Section of Ghana, after the Ghanaian government had put together a "Kimberley Team" for monitoring its monitoring system the World Diamond Council sent experts three times to conduct 2 – 3 day pre-shipment inspections of stored produce sections.

In theory, participants are also required to issue annual reports on their progress in implementing the KPCS requirements⁵⁶⁶. In addition to the annual reports reporting is also an integral part of the review missions⁵⁶⁷ and generally a key element to the KPCS as described in Section V *Co-operation and Transparency* of the official KPCS document⁵⁶⁸. Emphasis is given to data gathering and sharing information among participants in general. Recommendations on how to optimize procedures of information exchange are outlined in several points, further specified in an Annex III on Statistics⁵⁶⁹. The theme of reporting is again picked up on in the following section VI *Administrative Matters* outlining participant measures for issuing a report containing the relevant information identifying their designated authorities or bodies responsible for implementing the provisions of the KP Certification Scheme for the plenary meetings⁵⁷⁰. Yet in practice, the mode of monitoring in form of reporting by the participants has been compromised by delays⁵⁷¹. Due to strategic importance or monopoly arrangements within the diamonds sector of certain producer states countries have uttered discomfort with the requirements on reporting arguing on behalf of commercial confidentiality and are often reluctant

```
561 Jojarth 2009: 211
```

⁵⁶² Hilson, Clifford: 2010: 431 – 432

⁵⁶³ KPCS Rules of Procedure 2003: 8

⁵⁶⁴ Jojarth 209: 204

⁵⁶⁵ Hilson, Clifford 2010: 443

⁵⁶⁶ http://www.kimberleyprocess.com/documents/annual_report_en.html March 10, 2011

⁵⁶⁷ KPCS Document 2002: 10

⁵⁶⁸ KPCS Document 2002: 8

⁵⁶⁹ KPCS Document 2002: 16

⁵⁷⁰ KPCS Document 2002: 10

⁵⁷¹ Bieri 2010: 173 – 174

to provide the agreed statistics⁵⁷². Consequently, the reports are not posted on the KPCS homepage and thus are not publicly available⁵⁷³.

Which mode of monitoring is institutionalized in the KPCS?

- ✓ fire alarm
- police patrol
- √ (company) reporting

5.4.4 Accreditation in the KPCS

In the KPCS the national KPCS participant is also responsible for accreditation of the body issuing the KPCS certificates.

In the KPCS, national certification bodies issue the certificates. As governmental agencies these bodies are accredited by statute. Because the KPCS government resembles the KPCS participant, accreditation in the KPCS lies within the responsibility of the standard setting body on a national level. Due to the strong involvement of accredited governmental authorities in the process the question of accreditation of an independent third party cannot apply here. This is different in the case of other GSCSs which commission purely private bodies to carry out certification.

Who is responsible for accreditation?

- standard setting body on global level (centralized structure)
- ✓ standard setting body on regional or national level (federal structure)
- independent third party

5.4.5 Dispute-settlement in the KPCS

In the KPCS, dispute-settlement is organized as bargaining between disputants.

In case of a dispute "any concerned Participant may so inform the chair, who is to inform all Participants without delay about the said concern and enter into dialogue on how to address it"574. The KP chair also informs relevant observers 575. The chair mediates subsequent dispute settlement within the plenary on the basis of the report issued by the review mission. Yet, this does not justify the chair as a mediator in form of a political body due to his engagement as participant in the KPCS 576. The participant subject to a review mission can comment on the report of results of compliance verification measures no later than three weeks after submission of the report 577. By the three year review 2006, the formal provisions for KP dispute resolution had only been drawn upon on one occasion. All other disputes have been handled informally by the chair or the working groups

⁵⁷² Smillie 2005: 60

^{573 &}lt;a href="http://www.kimberleyprocess.com/documents/annual_report_en.html">http://www.kimberleyprocess.com/documents/annual_report_en.html March 10, 2011

⁵⁷⁴ KPCS Document 2002: 11

⁵⁷⁵ KPCS Third Year Review 2006: 69

⁵⁷⁶ KPCS 2007: 12

⁵⁷⁷ KPCS Document 2002: 10

within the terms of their mandate⁵⁷⁸. Thus, bargaining between disputants is the common mode of disputesettlement in the KPCS.

How is dispute-settlement organized in the KPCS?

- ✓ only bargaining between disputants
- also mediation by "political" body
- also adjudication by independent judicial body

5.4.6 Means of enforcement in the KPCS

Means of enforcement in the case of KPCS non-compliance can include withdrawal of privileges as well as sanctions.

The KPCS working group participation committee is responsible for investigating cases of non-compliance and advising upon measures to be taken respectively. The participation committee considers information submitted by the working group on monitoring regarding compliance by a participant and must determine whether the participant does or does not meet the minimum requirements of the KPCS no later than 30 days following the referral⁵⁷⁹. In case the "Committee finds that the Participant no longer meets the minimum requirements, it must notify the KP chair in writing of the reasons for its conclusion"⁵⁸⁰. Subsequently, the candidate may be removed from the KP list of participants⁵⁸¹.

Before a participant is removed from the scheme, interim measures step in, as decided upon 2008 in the follow up of the three year review⁵⁸². The mentioned dispute in Ghana, e.g. led to the suspension of the diamond trading activities from Ghana's region, Akwatia from late 2006 till March 2007. Shipments were first reassumed after no visible evidence of diamonds being smuggled from Côte d'Ivoire into Ghana had been confirmed⁵⁸³. The suspension heavily impacted the regions local diamond production and has had lasting economic impacts depressing local prices and repelling investors and exporters "fearful of being (wrongly) indicated in a national investigation of "conflict diamonds" The KPCS has been criticized as, "[w]hen confronted with overt examples of obvious and serious non-compliance [...][it] seemed to become paralyzed "585".

How is non-compliance dealt with?

- no means of enforcement
- ✓ withdrawal of privileges
- √ sanctions

⁵⁷⁸ KPCS Third Year Review 2006: 69

⁵⁷⁹ KPCS Participation Committee Interim Measures 2008: 1

⁵⁸⁰ KPCS Third Year Review 2006: 67

^{581 &}lt;a href="http://www.kimberleyprocess.com/structure/working_group_en.html#5">http://www.kimberleyprocess.com/structure/working_group_en.html#5 March 10, 2011

⁵⁸² KPCS Participation Committee Interim Measures 2008

⁵⁸³ Hilson et al. 2010: 443

⁵⁸⁴ Hilson et al 2010: 432

⁵⁸⁵ Gooch 2008: 207

6 THE EXTRACTIVE INDUSTRIES TRANSPARENCY INITIATIVE (EITI)

The negative impacts of resource abundance on growth and sustainable development in general have been dealt with in depth and width in academia, policy circles and increasingly also in civil society campaigns since Auty presented the *resource curse thesis* 1993⁵⁸⁶. In parallel, transparency and the notion of multi-stakeholder governance have evolved to global norms⁵⁸⁷ setting the normative context of the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative (EITI). The EITI was announced 2002 by the British government at the World Summit on Sustainable Development in Johannesburg. The EITI sets a standard for transparency requiring its participants to disclose revenues generated in oil, gas and mining. This applies both to the operating companies' payments to national governments as well as to governments' revenues received from the respective extractive industries. The two data sets can then be compared and assessed in terms of their congruity⁵⁸⁸. Revealing discrepancies in the numbers identify possible corruption. By eliminating traditional obscurity in financial transactions in the oil, gas and mining sector the EITI seeks to deprive public officials and private business of the possibility to further engage in corrupt practices. Subsequently – in theory – financial resources that would have been squandered in bribes and other acts of corruption now can potentially be used to enhance sustainable development⁵⁸⁹. At this stage, the impact of the EITI cannot yet be captured. Also the potential of transparency as an instrument to reduce corruption has been subject to debate⁵⁹⁰.

The EITI not only emerged in parallel to other sustainability governance schemes in the mineral resource sector such as the Kimberley Process Certification Scheme for tracing the origin of so called conflict diamonds, diamonds related to instigating or lengthening conflict in certain African countries. The Kimberley Process initially even served as a blueprint when designing the EITI from scratch⁵⁹¹. The EITI differs from the Kimberley Process in the sense that the EITI targets developmental objectives beyond purely security related issues.

6.1 General aspects of the EITI

6.1.1 Actors involved in founding the EITI

All three actor groups of civil society, private business and public authorities were involved in constituting the EITI. The activities of the British government dominated the process.

From the start, the EITI attained high support from governmental development cooperation, championed by the British Department for International Development in terms of both political and financial support⁵⁹². Then Prime Minister of the United Kingdom Tony Blair personally announced the launch of the initiative at the Johannesburg World Summit on Sustainable Development in 2002. The British government served as the

⁵⁸⁶ Basedau et al. 2005

⁵⁸⁷ cf. Haufler 2010: 53, Garsten et al. 2008: Introduction, Grossman et al. 2008: 100 – 101 on transparency; Hallström, Boström 2010: 6 – 10 on multi-stakeholder

⁵⁸⁸ EITI Rules 2010: 17

⁵⁸⁹ EITI Rules 2010: 9, EITI Principle 1

⁵⁹⁰ Kolstad et al.: 2006

⁵⁹¹ Dingwerth et al. 2009: 730

⁵⁹² Koechlin et al. 2009: 92, 108

driving force behind the emergence of the EITI. At the end of the day, governments of the developed world and western policymaking circles have been responsible for promulgating the EITI⁵⁹³.

Besides national governments, international organizations also supported the creation of the EITI. In the context of strengthening governance and transparency the World Bank Extractive Industries Review, 2000 – 2004, recommended that the World Bank Group require revenue transparency as a condition for new investments in extractive industries⁵⁹⁴. The report had a massive impact on raising awareness for the problematic correlation of the extractive sector and development further strengthening the cause of the EITI in development cooperation policy circles. EITI founder and EITI chairman Peter Eigen managed development programs in Africa and Latin America for the World Bank before founding the Transparency International and subsequently the EITI. Also the intergovernmental body of the G-8 supported the creation of the EITI. In the Action Plan *Fighting Corruption and Promoting Transparency* the G-8 summit in Evian, 2003 states in point 6: "Consistent with these principles and recognizing the importance of revenues from the extractive industries (oil, gas and mining), we have agreed to pilot on a voluntary basis an intensified approach to transparency" of specifically articulating EITI but enhancing the spirit underlying its creation and most probably also actually implying it. Additionally, African leaders had committed to the cause of the just developing EITI in the New Partnership for African Development (NEPAD)⁵⁹⁶.

In civil society, George Soros' Open Society Institute began focusing on extractive industries and established the Revenue Watch program to investigate financial flows in the oil sector, eventually broadening its focus to other sectors of extractive industries. The Publish What You Pay initiative, launched by Global Witness and the Open Society Institute also 2002, campaigned in a similar vein⁵⁹⁷ and mobilized support from some 270 nongovernmental organizations aiming at mandatory disclosure of all payments in the oil, gas and mining sector. The EITI was developed n these footsteps but the initiative opted for a voluntary approach rather than the mandatory approach chosen by the Publish What You Pay campaign⁵⁹⁸. As with the Kimberley Process Certification Scheme the nongovernmental organization Global Witness was a key player also in the making of the EITI⁵⁹⁹.

The EITI itself contests the multi-stakeholder nature of the initiative also in the founding phase from its launch in September 2002 up to the Lancaster House conference a year later implying involvement also from private businesses⁶⁰⁰. Nevertheless, while public authorities' and civil society support for the EITI is evident, private business engagement is not. Civil society organizations' campaigns surely targeted private businesses pressuring them to join in the project⁶⁰¹. And private businesses were among the 140 delegates from 70 governments, companies, industry groups, international organizations, investors and nongovernmental organizations convening at the founding EITI conference in the Lancaster House in London, June 17, 2003, in order to agree upon the statement of principles and agreed actions⁶⁰². But no information indicates forceful support on the side of private businesses in the context of the emergence of the EITI. No private business representative championed the making of the EITI in a manner similar to e.g. the Unilever in making the Marine Stewardship Council.

⁵⁹³ Hilson et al. 2009: 53

⁵⁹⁴ EIR 2004: iv

^{595 &}lt;a href="http://www.g8.fr/evian/english/navigation/2003_g8_summit/summit_documents/fighting_corruption_and_improving_transparency_-_a_g8_action_plan.html">http://www.g8.fr/evian/english/navigation/2003_g8_summit/summit_documents/fighting_corruption_and_improving_transparency_-_a_g8_action_plan.html February 18, 2011

⁵⁹⁶ http://www2.dfid.gov.uk/news/files/eitireportconference17june03.asp February 18, 2011

⁵⁹⁷ Haufler 2010: 62

⁵⁹⁸ Le Billon 2006 – 2007: 98; Zimmer 2010: 77

⁵⁹⁹ Dingwerth et al. 2009: 730

⁶⁰⁰ http://collections.europarchive.org/tna/20070701080507/http://www.dfid.gov.uk/pubs/files/eitidraftreportstatement.pdf February 18, 2011: 2

⁶⁰¹ Haufler 2010: 62

^{602 &}lt;a href="http://collections.europarchive.org/tna/20070701080507/http://www.dfid.gov.uk/news/files/eitireportconference17june03.asp">http://collections.europarchive.org/tna/20070701080507/http://www.dfid.gov.uk/news/files/eitireportconference17june03.asp February 18, 2011

Which actors were involved in founding the EITI?

- ✓ civil society actors
- private businesses
- ✓ public authorities

6.1.2 Membership structure of the EITI

All three actor groups; civil society, private business and public authorities are members in the EITI.

The EITI association consists of the three EITI constituencies, referred to in the EITI *Articles of Association* in the order; countries – comprising implementing and supporting countries –, companies and civil society organizations. An EITI member of the EITI constituencies can be a personal representative or a legal entity⁶⁰³.

Implementing countries are states that are implementing the EITI process and have at minimum achieved candidate status in the EITI scheme. Supporting countries are states supporting the EITI but not generally implementing the process. The constituency companies comprise the four sub-constituencies international oil and gas sector, mining sector, national oil or gas company, and institutional investors. Nongovernmental organizations, global action networks or coalitions make up the constituency *civil society*⁶⁰⁴.

The EITI association is an organization with the three permanent institutional bodies; the EITI members' meeting held in connection with the EITI conference, the EITI board led by a chair and the EITI international secretariat led by a head of secretariat⁶⁰⁵.

Which actors constitute the EITI membership?

- ✓ civil society actors
- ✓ private businesses
- ✓ public authorities

6.1.3 Members' representation in the EITI

Special provisions are installed for ensuring representational balance among the EITI constituencies.

The three EITI constituencies with their respective sub-constituencies make up a corporatist structure of the EITI members association. All EITI implementing and supporting governments are entitled to become members of the EITI association. Companies and civil society organizations are entitled to as many members of the association as they wish. Each implementing and respectively each supporting country or their unions are allowed up to one representative. The same applies to each company and associations representing them, and a maximum of five representatives from the sub-constituency institutional investors, and up to one representative from each civil society organization⁶⁰⁶. Each member of the constituency countries has one vote. The votes of the members of the constituencies companies and civil society are determined by dividing the total of country

⁶⁰³ EITI Rules 2010: 48

⁶⁰⁴ EITI Rules 2010: 48 – 49

⁶⁰⁵ EITI Rules 2011: 72

⁶⁰⁶ EITI Rules 2010: 49

votes by the number of members of the latter two constituencies respectively⁶⁰⁷. By doing so, the voting of the constituency *companies* and respectively *civil society* is each weighted to the same total as the voting of the constituency countries comprising implementing and supporting countries. This provision guarantees equal balance among the three constituencies' vote irrespective of their number of members.

How are member groups represented in the EITI?

- federal structure
- ✓ corporatist structure
- no special stakeholder representation

6.1.4 Congruence among rule-makers and rule-takers in the EITI

In the EITI, there is a partial overlap among the groups of rule-makers and rule-takers.

Rule-takers in the EITI are the EITI implementing countries. Besides the one exception of Norway, they are all resource rich developing countries from the South, the lion part from Africa. In contrast, all supporting countries are industrialized countries, twelve out of a total of 17 from Europe. The non-European supporting Countries are Australia, Canada, Japan, Qatar and the United States of America⁶⁰⁸. Due to natural global distribution of natural resource wealth the inclusion of southern countries in the EITI is a geological and geographical consequence. Yet, Northern countries such as the Netherlands, the United Kingdom, Norway and Germany have well developed extractive industries sectors as well. Germany e.g. is one of the world's leading producers of so called industrial minerals such as brown coal, china clay, rock salt, potash as well as stones and earths. Even gas is produced domestically⁶⁰⁹. Germany is involved in the EITI as a supporter and is thus represented in the rule-making group but has not signed up for the EITI as an implementing country. Thus, Germany does not implement the same standard that it expects – in the name of EITI – of other resource rich EITI implementing countries. Norway is the only exception of a Northern EITI supporting country that also implements the EITI standard in its domestic extractive industries sector as an EITI implementing country. Summing up, while all rule-takers of the EITI are also represented in the rule-making group the rule-making group comprises many more members than those that are addressed by the EITI standard.

Are the groups of rule-makers and rule-takers congruent in the EITI?

- congruent
- ✓ partial overlap
- no overap

6.1.5 Mode of installing the EITI board of directors

The EITI board of directors is appointed along the corporatist lines of its membership. Specific modes of regional representation have also been established recently.

⁶⁰⁷ EITI Rules 2010: 50 – 51

^{608 &}lt;a href="http://eiti.org/supporters/countries">http://eiti.org/supporters/countries February 17, 2011

⁶⁰⁹ BDI Bericht zur Verfügbarkeitssituation metallischer Rohstoffe und ihren Auswirkungen auf die deutsche Wirtschaft 2006: 11

^{610 &}lt;a href="http://eiti.org/countries/compliant">http://eiti.org/countries/countries/compliant April 17, 2011; http://eiti.org/supporters/countries April 17, 2011

The EITI board of directors is elected for a period of two years by the EITI members' meetings – the governing body of the EITI association – held at the biennial EITI global conference. Each EITI constituency nominates candidates from its own ranks sustaining the multi-stakeholder structure of the EITI members association. The former EITI International Advisory Group formed July 2005 was reconstituted as the EITI board in its current form in 2006⁶¹¹. The EITI board of directors consists of 20 board members including a chair. Eight board members represent the constituency *countries*, three of them from supporting countries and the remaining from implementing countries. Furthermore, it is attempted that at least three representatives of the implementing companies are EITI compliant. Companies appoint six members for the board and civil society five⁶¹². Within *companies* two seats are ascribed to the sub-constituencies international oil and gas respectively mining sector, and one for a national oil or gas company respectively an institutional investor.

According to EITI rules, resolutions adopted by the members' meeting should be achieved in consensual agreement. For the case that a vote is required, resolutions are adopted by qualified majority requiring the support of at least two thirds of the total votes cast and must include the support of at least one third of the votes cast by the members representing each constituency. The total number of votes for the members of each constituency shall be equal and be determined as follows: members from the constituency of countries have one vote each; the votes for members from the constituency of companies and the constituency of civil society organizations is determined by dividing the total of country votes by the number of members of the company and civil society constituencies respectively. Additionally, a quorum of a members' meeting shall be a minimum of half of the members, and must include at least one third of the members from each constituency⁶¹³.

Principles for nominating candidates for election at the global conferences exist as guidance for the individual internal processes of the EITI-constituencies. Implementing countries e.g. select their nominations by preferential vote, whereby each implementing country indicates which nominee it wishes to select for each of the available seats, by means of a ranked ballot. As for civil society, the selection process is undertaken by current civil society board members that are not seeking re-election for the seats. They assess the capacity of the candidate and then consult with civil society in their regions and finally decide by unanimous opinion. The selection process for the EITI constituency *companies* differ depending on the sub-constituency but mostly rely on consensus on the candidate among the members of the sub-constituency⁶¹⁴.

As for federal representation, all implementing countries are to be represented in the board by one of the three regions; Francophone Africa, Non-Francophone Africa and other parts of the world. Of the two board seats for supporting countries, two are attributed to European countries and one ascribed to a non-European country. As for civil society organizations, two of the five seats go to OECD/supporting countries and three to implementing countries⁶¹⁵.

How is the EITI board of directors put in place?

- self-appointment
- ✓ appointment by membership groups (corporatist/federal)
- election by members

⁶¹¹ Koechlin et al. 2009: 100

⁶¹² EITI Rules 2010: 51

⁶¹³ EITI Rules 2010: 50 – 51

⁶¹⁴ EITI Constituency Guidelines 2011: 3

⁶¹⁵ EITI Constituency Guidelines 2011

6.1.6 The EITI secretariat

The EITI international secretariat carries out substantive tasks for the scheme.

As part of its substantive tasks, the EITI secretariat is involved in reviewing application and assessing conformity with the EITI requirements in the context of EITI candidacy and "will work closely with the senior individual appointed to lead on EITI implementation" Among its administrative tasks are the responsibility for implementing policy decisions of the EITI Board and coordinative tasks relating to communication, administering stakeholder consultation, managing EITI publications in a resource centre, and overseeing the validation process. Jointly with supporting and implementing countries, the EITI international secretariat also organizes the biennial EITI Conference 17.

The secretariat opened September, 2007 and is hosted by the government of Norway in Oslo. By EITI's own account, it is an independent body, solely accountable to the EITI board. Head of secretariat, currently Jonas Moberg, leads a staff that includes four regional directors, an executive secretary and an office manager. EITI's focus on Africa is mirrored in the delineated regions of responsibility of the respective four regional directors all including African states. The regions listed with the respective regional directors are Anglophone/Lusophone Africa and Middle East, Francophone Africa, Francophone West Africa, and Latin America, China and other African countries, and do not mirror actual political geographies, like continents or regional associations.

What is the capacity of the EITI secretariat?

- no permanent secretariat
- secretariat with administrative tasks
- ✓ secretariat with substantive tasks

6.1.7 The EITI's relation to other GSCSs

The EITI operates in nested cooperation with other GSCSs in the mineral resource sector.

By seeking complementarity and avoiding duplication in efforts of existing initiatives in the mineral resource sector, the EITI is explicitly not operating in open competition to others⁶¹⁸. "The EITI has successfully embedded itself in other institutions which further reinforce its aims"⁶¹⁹. The EITI acknowledges audits of international standards in its core EITI and does not require additional EITI audits in these cases if these audits also include financial statements⁶²⁰. Vice versa, other initiatives, such as the International Council on Mining and Metals or the United Nations Global Compact support the EITI as a concrete action in their broader objective of enhancing sustainable development⁶²¹. Cooperation is also underscored by personal interrelations. Anthony Hodge, president of the International Council on Mining and Metals is a member in the EITI Board⁶²². The Global Reporting Initiative integrates EITI into its framework⁶²³. In its indicator protocol compilation series,

⁶¹⁶ EITI Rules 2011: 16

⁶¹⁷ http://eiti.org/about/secretariat February 14, 2011

⁶¹⁸ Advancing the EITI in the Mining Sector 2009: 39

⁶¹⁹ Haufler 2010: 68

⁶²⁰ Implementing the EITI 2008: 37

⁶²¹ EITI 2009: 41

⁶²² Haufler 2010: 66, http://eiti.org/about/board Feburary, 21, 2010

⁶²³ Haufler 2010: 67

the mining and metals commentary reads: "report countries of operation that are subscribers to the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative" ⁶²⁴.

The EITI stresses similarities in the scope of the EITI and the Kimberley Process Certification Scheme. One overlap can be detected in the latter's provisions outlined in Section V of the official document *Co-operation and Transparency* regarding publishing of statistical data⁶²⁵. This is even more specifically the case in the Kimberley Process' provision "[...]all cash purchases of rough diamonds are routed through official banking channels, supported by verifiable documentation"⁶²⁶. The EITI focuses on an array of natural resource sectors, primarily oil and gas and mining – including the Kimberley Process Certification Scheme's exclusive focus on diamonds.

How does the EITI interrelate with other GSCSs?

- no relations (monopoly)
- ✓ nested cooperation
- open competition

6.1.8 The EITI's relation to (inter-)governmental bodies

Overall, the EITI attains strong support by governmental bodies on the national as well as international level.

On a national level, supporting countries often enhance the EITI's activities by incorporating them in their broader development policies, a pattern also observed in the case of the Forest Stewardship Council in forest certification in the Congo Basin. Here involvement will come from the development ministry. The British Department for International Development has supported the EITI strongly from the outset, but also the German Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development is constructively engaging with the EITI⁶²⁷. For implementing countries, the EITI supplements public policies on broader budget and financial transparency reforms, often overseen by ministries of finance⁶²⁸.

On an international level, the EITI cooperation with the World Bank is not only reflected in the personal linkage to EITI founder and chairman, Peter Eigen, former regional director in the World Bank⁶²⁹. The World Bank also manages the EITI multi-donor trust fund. Other international organizations have also endorsed the EITI's activities. 2008, the United Nations General Assembly adopted a resolution supporting the EITI and the G-8 has been supportive of the cause of the EITI from start⁶³⁰.

How does the EITI interrelate with (inter-)governmental bodies?

- no relations
- ✓ orchestration
- delegated authority

⁶²⁴ Advancing the EITI in the Mining Sector 2009: 43

⁶²⁵ Advancing the EITI in the Mining Sector 2009: 40

⁶²⁶ KPCS Document 2002: 13

⁶²⁷ http://www.bmz.de/de/index.html February 18, 2011

⁶²⁸ Advancing the EITI in the Mining Sector 2009: 40

^{629 &}lt;a href="http://eiti.org/node/948">http://eiti.org/node/948 February 18, 2011

⁶³⁰ Shaxson 2009: 7

6.1.9 Financing of the EITI's activities

The EITI bulk of financing derives from voluntary donations.

The EITI association is a non-profit association financed by voluntary contributions from EITI members and grants from bilateral and multilateral donors, international financial institutions and other agencies, organisations and entities⁶³¹. International financial institutions are central to providing the EITI with technical and financial support⁶³². Membership fees are not charged⁶³³. No revenues are generated through market activities, since the validation process lies outside the scope of EITI activities and are carried out and financially borne by the implementing countries themselves. The EITI also does not offer a trademark nor does it provide for accreditation or certification services like the Forest Stewardship Council.

Principally, the private sector and supporting countries bear the core responsibility of financing the EITI's international management. Their support is supplemented by contributions by civil society and to a more substantive extent by the Norwegian government mostly related to sustaining the activities of the EITI international secretariat in Oslo. This is reflected in the EITI's financing structure, the private sector contributing 40%, supporting countries 37%, the Norwegian government 20%, and nongovernmental organizations $4\%^{634}$.

Additionally, a multi-donor trust fund was established for the EITI, August 2004 through an agreement by the British Department for International Development and the World Bank. 2005, the governments of Germany, the Netherlands, and Norway were the first to join the trust fund after the United Kingdom as founding contributor. France joined in 2006, Australia, Belgium, Canada and Spain in 2007, the US and European Commission in 2008, and Finland and Switzerland in 2009. Within the arrangement of the multi-donor trust fund the World Bank manages funds on behalf of multiple donors helping to support the World Bank Group's technical assistance and financial support to EITI-implementing countries and global knowledge activities on EITI⁶³⁵.

How are the EITI's activities financed?

- ✓ voluntary donations
- regular contributions
- marketing of the GSCS's activities

6.1.10 EITI scheme evaluation

A review of the governance arrangements of the EITI association is scheduled for within two years after passing the constitution of the association and is to be undertaken by the EITI board⁶³⁶.

February 2009, the EITI adopted the *Articles of Association for the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative*. Article 21 stipulates "review of the governance arrangements of the EITI Association should be undertaken by the EITI Board within two years of the constitution of the Association" The two year period has just come to an end and resulted in a revised edition of the EITI rules, finalized February 2011. One change regards the

⁶³¹ EITI Rules: 54

⁶³² Koechlin et al. 2009: 96

⁶³³ Koechlin et al. 2009: 49

^{634 &}lt;a href="http://eiti.org/about/funding">http://eiti.org/about/funding February 17, 2011

⁶³⁵ Implementing the EITI 2008: introductory note

⁶³⁶ EITI Rules 2010: 55

⁶³⁷ EITI Rules 2010: 55

amendment of the EITI rules document by an entire new chapter summarizing EITI requirements for implementing countries formerly part of the validation guide. The requirements "are now more clearly articulated, and include a number of new requirements to ensure the quality and consistency of the EITI process"⁶³⁸.

Responsibility for reviewing the scheme was with the EITI board even before the procedure was formerly institutionalized in the 2009 EITI articles of association. Between the launching of the EITI in 2002 and the adoption of the new articles 2009, the EITI scheme experienced structural changes brought about by a thorough review of the EITI scheme carried out by the EITI International Advisory Group 2006. Main outcomes of this process were extending the EITI's activities to the entire mining sector beyond the scope of exclusively oil and gas, establishing the EITI international secretariat, reinforcing the multi-stakeholder nature of the EITI board and adopting the validation guide⁶³⁹.

Has the EITI institutionalized procedures for evaluating the scheme?

- no institutionalized evaluation
- ✓ institutionalized scheme evaluation by management, (members and/or stakeholders)
- institutionalized scheme evaluation by an autonomous body

6.2 Characteristics of the EITI global standard

6.2.1 Subject of the EITI global standard

The EITI standard entails procedural requirements.

The EITI's overall objective is the full publication and verification of company payments and government revenues from oil, gas and mining⁶⁴⁰. EITI requirements demand procedural changes of EITI members. EITI criteria 1 states e.g.: "Regular Publication of all material oil, gas and mining payments by companies to governments ("payments") and all material revenues received by governments from oil, gas and mining companies ("revenues") to a wide audience in a publicly accessible, comprehensive and comprehensible manner"⁶⁴¹. Other procedural adoptions required of governments and companies are e.g. entailed in one of the four sign-up indicators requiring government to appoint a senior individual to lead on EITI implementation⁶⁴², or e.g. in another of the EITI criteria requiring a work plan for implementing the criteria⁶⁴³. Subsequently, the challenge of the initiative is to assure that the EITI does not become a "triumph of form over results, with real power remaining in the hands of government and corporate elites". "[T]he EITI helps them [states] credibly commit to reform. It does not, however, catalyze such reforms itself" This again underscores the EITI's focus on procedural requirements rather than measurable results on performance levels.

⁶³⁸ EITI Rules 2011: 8

⁶³⁹ Koechlin et al. 2009: 103 - 105

⁶⁴⁰ Implementing the EITI 2008: introductory note

^{641 &}lt;a href="http://eiti.org/eiti/principles">http://eiti.org/eiti/principles February 19, 2011

^{642 &}lt;a href="http://eiti.org/eiti/implementation/signup">http://eiti.org/eiti/implementation/signup February 19, 2011

^{643 &}lt;a href="http://eiti.org/eiti/principles">http://eiti.org/eiti/principles February 19, 2011

⁶⁴⁴ Haufler 2010: 69

What is subject to the EITI global standard?

- ✓ procedures (production/process management)
- results (product/performance)
- origin of product

6.2.2 Chain of custody certification in the EITI

The EITI certificate is not visible to consumers on a product at a sales counter.

The EITI'S focus on revenue transparency entails more an immaterial requirement and does not apply to a trading chain of commodities. Thus chain of custody certification cannot apply to the EITI in the same way that it applies to wood products labeled against the Forest Stewardship Council standard or seafood labeled against the Marine Stewardship Council standard. The commodities of oil, gas and mining are further manufactured and do not end up in their primary form at the sales counter for purchase by an end consumer. This hampers visibility of EITI certification. A superficial search on respective companies' homepages, such as BP or Total, shows that they clearly demonstrate their participation in the EITI as part of their sustainability efforts⁶⁴⁵. Yet, this information is reserved to concerned consumers and does not reach the end consumer engaging in everyday consumption.

At which stage in the chain of custody does certification apply?

- certificate visible for end consumer
- certificate included in other end consumer visible certificate
- ✓ business to business certificate not visible to end consumer

6.2.3 Precision of the EITI global standard

The EITI global standard comprises elements of the most general nature down to measurable rules.

The EITI standard comprises the *EITI Principles and Criteria* and the *EITI requirements*. The EITI validation guide is also central to the EITI scheme but relates more to the conformity assessment process and will be dealt with in the respective point.

There are twelve principles, six criteria and 21 requirements. The 21 requirements are structured in six parts; sign-up requirements, preparation requirements, disclosure requirements, dissemination requirements, review and validation requirements, and retaining compliance requirements⁶⁴⁶.

The 21 EITI requirements are further structured in bullet points on two levels. The number of bullet points accompanying each EITI requirement varies from none at all up to nine points on both the first and second sub-level. An example, requirement 9) stipulates, "[t]he multi-stakeholder group is required to agree a definition of materiality and the reporting templates". Bullet point d) accompanying requirement 9) on the first

^{645 &}lt;a href="http://www.total.com/en/our-challenges/ethical-business-conduct/financial-transparency/eiti-201668.html">http://www.bp.com/sectiongenericarticle.do?categoryId=9032737&contentId=7060014 February 24, 2011

sub-level stipulates, "[i]t is commonly recognized that the following revenue streams should be included". The second sub-level lists the ten items included in the requirement such as iii) "profits taxes", iv) "royalties" and ix) "other significant benefits to government as agreed by the multi-stakeholder group" for profits taxes."

By "set(ting) out the requirements for countries wishing to implement the EITI", the EITI requirements constitute measurable rules in the EITI scheme. The chapter also contains guidance on how to best ensure that these requirements are met. Thus, the requirements do not only constitute a part of the EITI standard but also relate to the process of conformity assessment leading to partial convergence of aspects relating to the standard respectively conformity assessment in the EITI⁶⁴⁸.

In terms of precision the twelve EITI principles can be understood as general principles and the EITI criteria as *specific norms*. The EITI principles differ from the criteria in the respect that they mirror the ideological fundament underlying the EITI and its proponents' motivation, e.g. principle 1: "We share a belief that the prudent use of natural resource wealth should be an important engine for sustainable economic growth that contributes to sustainable development and poverty reduction, but if not managed properly, can create negative economic and social impacts' Formulated in first person, the EITI principles constitute – by EITI's own account – the "cornerstone of the initiative" The six criteria entail requirements addressing EITI clients directly, e.g. criteria 1: "Regular publication of all material oil, gas and mining payments by companies to governments ("payments") and all material revenues received by governments from oil, gas and mining companies ("revenues") to a wide audience in a publicly accessible, comprehensive and comprehensible manner" but no principles are principles and the EITI criteria as specific norms.

The EITI makes a point of conveying a sense of national ownership to the EITI within the EITI member countries. Because the EITI affirms individual country specific methods for implementing the initiative the EITI global standard must be flexible for individual adaptation in the domestic context. The EITI acknowledges this necessity but has nevertheless developed measurable rules constituent to its global standard.

To which degree of precision is the EITI global standard formulated?

- only general principles
- also specific norms
- ✓ also measurable rules

6.2.4 Context sensitivity of the EITI global standard

The EITI global standard serves as a framework for a national standard.

An EITI national standard does not exist as such. Yet the EITI global standard requires the national multistakeholder group to design a "work plan, containing measurable targets" and "to agree a definition of materiality and the reporting templates"⁶⁵². These elements resemble constituent parts of a national standard based on the framework set out by the EITI global standard.

⁶⁴⁷ EITI Rules 2011: 23

⁶⁴⁸ EITI Rules 2011: 13

^{649 &}lt;a href="http://eiti.org/eiti/principles">http://eiti.org/eiti/principles February 18, 2011

⁶⁵⁰ http://eiti.org/eiti/principles February 18, 2011

⁶⁵¹ http://eiti.org/eiti/principles February 18, 2011

⁶⁵² EITI Rules 2011: 15

"The guidance [entailed in the requirements] is limited given that the EITI is a robust but flexible standard, leaving national stakeholders to adapt it to local needs and context" The EITI principle 2 affirms [...] that management of natural resource wealth for the benefit of a country's citizen is in the domain of sovereign governments to be exercised in the interests of their national development" While respecting the voluntary nature of the EITI, the EITI global standard requires the development of country-specific methods in order to achieve EITI compliant status. Subsequently drafting a national standard is part of the EITI implementation process. The EITI global standard comprising the EITI principles and criteria and requirements themselves entail no national provisions but serve as a framework for the EITI national standard designed by the EITI national multi-stakeholder group.

Is the EITI global standard context sensitive?

- only global standard
- global standard takes regional/national specifics into consideration
- ✓ global standard as framework for local/national/regional standard

6.2.5 Minimum or maximum standard in the EITI

The EITI global standard entails minimum requirements⁶⁵⁵. At the same time, EITI compliant countries are encouraged to implement further steps beyond the minimum standard.

The EITI brand name compliant can first be used when all requirements of all stages have been met to the full satisfaction of the EITI board. Firstly, in order to achieve candidate status, countries must pass through the *sign-up process* by meeting five sign-up requirements. These five stipulations require of the government to 1) issue an unequivocal public statement of its intention to implement EITI, 2) commit to work with civil society and companies on EITI implementation, 3) appoint a senior individual to lead on the implementation of the EITI, 4) establish a multi-stakeholder group to oversee the implementation of the EITI, and finally 5) the multi-stakeholder group in consultation with key EITI stakeholders, should agree and publish a fully costed work plan, containing measurable targets, and a timetable for implementation and incorporating an assessment of capacity constraints⁶⁵⁶. The Nigerian EITI was the first implementing country to establish a multi-stakeholder group⁶⁵⁷.

Only once the EITI board has decided that the country fulfills the first five sign-up requirements will the respective country become an EITI candidate country – the minimum requirement for membership in the EITI association as an EITI implementing country. Candidate countries then have 18 months to publish an EITI report and two and a half years to submit a final validation report⁶⁵⁸. The EITI requirements 6 – 20 further guide the candidate country through the subsequent steps of EITI implementation leading to the submission of the validation report pre-conditional for EITI compliance. But the EITI process does not end by the candidate country becoming EITI compliant. Requirement 20 deals with "steps to act on lessons learnt, [to] address discrepancies and ensure that EITI implementation is sustainable" in order for the EITI scheme to "lead towards the fulfillment of the EITI Principles by contributing to wider public debate" Finally, the last

⁶⁵³ EITI Rules 2011: 13

⁶⁵⁴ EITI Rules 2010: 42

⁶⁵⁵ EITI Rules 2010: 7

⁶⁵⁶ EITI Rules 2011: 14

⁶⁵⁷ Haufler 2010: 66

⁶⁵⁸ EITI Rules 2011: 21 659 EITI Rules 2011: 31

requirement 21 relates to maintaining adherence to all of the 20 EITI requirements in order to retain compliant status⁶⁶⁰. To date, Azerbaijan, the Central African Republic, Ghana, the Kyrgyz Republic, Liberia, Mongolia, Niger, Norway, Timor-Leste, and Yemen have achieved EITI compliant status⁶⁶¹.

Having achieved compliant status, an ambitious EITI implementing country is welcome to further elaborate its EITI commitment by implementing "EITI plus" consisting of steps superseding compliance with the regular international EITI criteria and validation indicators – the minimum requirement for achieving EITI compliant status⁶⁶². E.g., the EITI requires disclosure of revenues generated in only oil, gas and mining. One country, Liberia, has expanded this requirement also to revenues generated in another sector, forestry – this is one example of an EITI plus indicator⁶⁶³. There is no uniform catalogue of EITI plus. Rather, possible steps differ depending on the individual country's EITI program.

How ambitious is the EITI global standard?

- ✓ minimum standard
- ✓ progressively demanding standard
- maximum ("gold") standard

6.2.6 Incentives for client participation of the EITI global standard

The EITI offers an array of incentives. Possible reputational benefits outweigh the prospective for purely economic gains and the legal incentive also inherent to the EITI.

Prospective reputational benefits attract implementing countries to sign up to the EITI in the first place. The incentive for many governments and companies to adhere to join EITI has been to help deflect criticism and gain domestic and international legitimacy⁶⁶⁴. Adhering to the EITI signalizes investors and international financial institutions that the country is willing to promote economic and political stability and thus improving the investment climate⁶⁶⁵. This is especially relevant for countries related to conflict, despotic rule and corruption such as Central African states. Civil society in Côte d'Ivoire e.g. describes the government's objective as "[...] to put in place the EITI in order to get financing from the International Monetary Fund and the World Bank – that is the motivation of the state⁶⁶⁶. Vice versa, stable African countries such as Botswana have not entered the EITI despite the mining industry as key to its economy⁶⁶⁷. "Botswana, e.g. have a good relationship with their investors; therefore, they feel they do not have to participate in international conferences and meetings"⁶⁶⁸. Civil society organizations have criticized the voluntary nature of the EITI from the start and to date hold "[o] nly if legal frameworks are implemented can resource governance [implying EITI and KP] be effective"⁶⁶⁹. As for companies reputational incentives are increasingly attractive for the oil industry due to rising awareness

⁶⁶⁰ EITI Rules 2011: 32

⁶⁶¹ http://eiti.org/countries/compliant, February 25, 2011

⁶⁶² Implementing the EITI 2008: 36 – 37

⁶⁶³ Implementing the EITI 2008: 38

⁶⁶⁴ Auty, le Billon 2007: 178

⁶⁶⁵ Garrett 2008: 28; Schlieritz 2009: 122

⁶⁶⁶ BICC 2009: 28

⁶⁶⁷ USGS Minerals Yearbook Ghana 2009

⁶⁶⁸ Eigen 2006

⁶⁶⁹ BICC 2009: 28

and acknowledgement of transparency and the issue of corruption in the sector⁶⁷⁰. Furthermore, "it is an easy and not very costly governance contribution for companies to support EITI"⁶⁷¹.

No price premium can be achieved for implementing the EITI. Yet, companies can gain in purely economic terms if participating in EITI relieves them from having to pay bribes to public agencies or officials, e.g. for acquiring licensing permits in return⁶⁷². On a macro-level in the long run, joining the cause of the EITI may offer implementing countries the prospective for economic growth since the adoption of codes of practice such as the EITI helps to constrain the scope for growth-repressing rent-seeking often prevalent in resource rich countries⁶⁷³. The initiative has been recognized as an important step in creating transparency about oil revenues but the question of EITI's contribution to actually help the people on the ground in e.g. the Niger Delta or to solve violent conflict is regarded as unresolved⁶⁷⁴.

As for the legal incentive, similar to the Kimberley Process Certification Scheme, the EITI presses national governments to adopt the process and to provide for legal incentives on national level for companies to participate. E.g., the indicator assessment tool accompanying grid indicator 11, "Validator will need to see evidence that the government has done one of the following: introduced/amended legislation [...]"⁶⁷⁵. This legal incentive is an EITI requirement and subsequently only applies once the implementing country has already signed up to the EITI. It cannot serve as an incentive for attracting governments to adopt the scheme in the first place. Yet, once a country has signed up for the EITI, companies engaging in the respective country cannot bypass the EITI requirements as they are adopted in domestic law⁶⁷⁶.

Due to grounds of contractual confidentiality and competition, strong incentives are necessary for encouraging companies to join in the objective of the EITI⁶⁷⁷. This is especially the case for the oil and gas sector often dominated by non-listed para-statal companies in producing countries with weak tradition in accountability "only beginning to grapple with the idea of democracy"⁶⁷⁸.

What are clients' incentives to participate in certification against the EITI global standard?

- ✓ reputational incentive
- economic incentive
- legal incentive

6.2.7 Industry scale of the EITI global standard

The EITI's core focus is on large-scale extractive industries operating in oil, gas and (industrial) mining⁶⁷⁹.

Due to the EITI's focus on revenue disclosure, the higher the revenues the more likely their disclosure can make a difference in terms of development. This implies that the more large-scale companies sign up for the

⁶⁷⁰ Schlieritz 2009: 122

⁶⁷¹ Zimmer 2010: 69

⁶⁷² Kolstad et al. 2008: 524

⁶⁷³ Auty 2007: 631

⁶⁷⁴ Zimmer 2010: 68, Schlieritz 2009: 123

⁶⁷⁵ EITI Rules 2010: 23

⁶⁷⁶ Schlieritz 2009: 121

⁶⁷⁷ Le Billon 2006 – 2007: 98

⁶⁷⁸ Hilson et al. 2009: 57

⁶⁷⁹ Garrett 2008: 30

EITI, the more effective it can be in achieving its indirect objective of contributing to sustainable development in natural resource rich countries. Especially, the oil and gas sector is characterised by the input of advanced technology and large capital investments borne by transnational corporations. This is even more the case for offshore oil extraction operations. Additionally, with the argument of avoiding duplication the EITI leaves governance of the artisanal and small-scale mining to the existent initiative, Communities and Small-Scale Mining⁶⁸⁰. 2007, the EITI secretariat commissioned a report on challenges and opportunities for EITI implementation in the Democratic Republic of Congo's artisanal and small-scale mining sector. As a result, while recognising the high relevance of the sector the EITI assigns comparatively "low priority" to activities in artisanal and small-scale mining for reasons relating to the challenging circumstances of the often informal sector and to EITI's core focus on (large-scale) extractive industries⁶⁸¹. From a practical perspective, focusing on larger operators at the export stage is more feasible and if the EITI is successful, artisanal and small-scale mining would benefit indirectly from a larger percentage of the entire revenue the sector produces returned to the community level and invested in improving labour conditions⁶⁸².

The EITI principles also apply for international financial institutions financing extractive sector projects again underscoring EITI's focus on large scale industry due to their high investment demand⁶⁸³. By October 2006, over 70 globally operating investment companies recognized the EITI criteria⁶⁸⁴.

Which scale of industry does the EITI address?

- ✓ large-scale (state) companies
- small-scale and artisanal producers
- no specification in industry scale

6.3 Developing the EITI global standard

6.3.1 Procedures for evaluating the EITI global standard

The provision of scheme evaluation on a biennial basis also applies to the EITI global standard.

The core documents making up the EITI global standard and the EITI scheme were developed by and by. The principles are the oldest document and date back to 2003. The criteria were introduced in 2005. In 2007, the EITI developed the validation guide, 2009, the first edition of the EITI rules comprising all core EITI documents, and just early 2011 the 21 EITI requirements were adopted in the EITI rules. The adoption of a new EITI constituent document coincides with the biennial scheme evaluation as stipulated in the EITI articles of association. Scheme evaluation and standard evaluation in the EITI are interchangeable. The provision of a biennial "review of the governance arrangements of the EITI Association" applies likewise to the EITI global standard. The EITI principles and criteria remain unchanged since the date of their endorsement in the EITI. Understanding the principles as the "cornerstone of the initiative" underscores a static character of the document. After the pilot phase of the EITI it was acknowledged that a more specific standard was needed.

⁶⁸⁰ Advanving the EITI in the Mining Sector 2009: 40

⁶⁸¹ Garrett 2008: 30

⁶⁸² Garrett 2008: 30

⁶⁸³ Le Billon 2006 – 2007: 98

⁶⁸⁴ Schieritz 2009: 122

⁶⁸⁵ EITI Rules 2011: 79

⁶⁸⁶ EITI Rules 2010: 9

The principles were not specified as a result, but rather supplemented by a set of criteria⁶⁸⁷. The International Advisory Board's review 2006 resulted in recognizing a need for stronger guidance of implementation. This again did not lead to an evaluation of the existing documents, the principles and criteria, but rather to developing the additional document, the validation guide⁶⁸⁸. The validation guide has now been revised after two years from publication of the EITI rules. Extracting the EITI requirements out of the validation guide, now constituting their own chapter in the EITI rules, was the main result of the validation guide revision. EITI practices demonstrate that the EITI global standard is evaluated on the same basis institutionalized for evaluation of the EITI scheme. In theory, evaluating the global standard is not institutionalized in the EITI articles of association.

What are the EITI evaluation procedures for the global standard?

- only "spontaneous" evaluation through management, members and stakeholders
- ✓ institutionalized evaluation through management, members and/or stakeholders
- institutionalized evaluation through autonomous body

6.3.2 Actors responsible for initiating revision of the EITI global standard

The EITI scheme management is responsible for initiating revision of the EITI global standard.

Since a paragraph on the evaluation of the EITI global standard is absent in the EITI articles of association, respective provisions on actors responsible for initiating standard revision, are also absent. In the article on scheme evaluation, likewise applicable to revision of the EITI global standard, at least in practice, the EITI board of directors is responsible for evaluating the EITI scheme. Subsequently, the responsibility for initiating revision of the EITI global standard also lies with the EITI board of directors. Generally, the EITI board is ascribed a central role in the EITI. After all, it was the international advisory's group report 2006 that led to the adoption of the validation guide⁶⁸⁹.

Who can initiate revisions of the EITI global standard?

- ✓ only scheme management
- also members
- also stakeholders

6.3.3 Actors responsible for preparing the EITI global standard

Members and stakeholders are heard in giving inputs to the content of the EITI global standard but the EITI board, and formerly the EITI international advisory group is leading in preparing the documents.

Following EITI's official announcement in 2002, the British Department for International Development hosted a multi-stakeholder workshop in order to discuss and further develop core components of the EITI including the principles⁶⁹⁰. On the basis of the workshop and subsequent consultation the EITI international advisory groups drafted and presented them for adoption by the multi-stakeholder constitutive meeting of the EITI, the first EITI global conference, 2003. The validation methodology was adopted in a similar vein. On the EITI's own account, the EITI board *finalized* the document⁶⁹¹. Similarly, the EITI board met five times during 2005 and 2006 in order to publish the EITI source book, the predecessor to the EITI rules, also established by the EITI board⁶⁹².

Who is preparing the content of the EITI global standard?

- technical bodies of external experts
- ✓ scheme management
- members and stakeholders

6.3.4 Stakeholder consultation on the EITI global standard

The biennial EITI global conferences are the main venue for regularly institutionalized stakeholder consultation and are open for participation of selected stakeholders.

Regarding the openness of the conference, the EITI articles of association state that, it shall "provide a forum for EITI Stakeholders, being all with an interest in the EITI Association". This is slightly compromised by the next passage stating "[o]ther EITI stakeholders [besides the EITI Members, EITI Board and the EITI Secretariat] should also be invited, [...], to the extent that it is reasonably practical [...]"⁶⁹³. Among the objective of the EITI conference is the inclusion of new EITI stakeholders⁶⁹⁴. In addition to the regularly held EITI global conferences, meetings for stakeholder consultation are also organized on an ad hoc, not institutionalized basis. As mentioned in the preceding point, as for the development of the twelve EITI principles – the cornerstone of the initiative – a multi-stakeholder workshop was held, February 2003. Further examples of additional ad hoc meetings 2008, were the West African EITI Conference in Abuja, hosted by the Nigerian EITI multi-stakeholder group and the Economic Community of West African States (ECOWAS); three training seminars in Berlin hosted by the EITI international secretariat and a national coordinators meeting in Oslo, funded by the Norwegian government⁶⁹⁵.

In opposition to the Forest Stewardship Council, the Fairtrade Labeling Organizations International or the Marine Stewardship Council, the EITI like the Kimberley Process Certification Scheme is not a member in the ISEAL Alliance. Subsequently, the EITI does not adhere to the ISEAL Alliance Code of Good Practice for Setting Social and Environmental Standards. As a consequence, the EITI does not employ similar formalized open comment periods as a constitutive part of the EITI stakeholder dialogue within the process of developing the EITI global standard.

⁶⁹⁰ EITI Workshop Report 2003: Annex I

^{691 &}lt;a href="http://eiti.org/eiti/principles">http://eiti.org/eiti/principles February 25, 2011

⁶⁹² EITI Rules 2010: 8

⁶⁹³ EITI Rules 2010: 49

⁶⁹⁴ EITI Rules: 50

⁶⁹⁵ EITI Rules 2010: 12

Finally, stakeholder consultation solely by means of physical presence at the EITI biennial conference and other meetings and not by other means such as online comment forms via the EITI homepage and the like resemble an institutionalized form of stakeholder consultation open only to selected stakeholders.

How is the process of stakeholder consultation organized?

- ad hoc; not institutionalized
- ✓ institutionalized, open to selected stakeholders
- institutionalized, open to all interested stakeholders

6.3.5 Final decision-making on the EITI global standard

The EITI board finally decides upon the global standard.

Albeit the EITI itself stipulates the EITI global conference as the highest governing body of the EITI, the responsibility of the conference is to merely pass the global standard. Statements such as "the EITI Board has agreed a number of clarifying rules, which have been communicated in EITI Policy Notes" or "the EITI Board agreed in May 2008 the Validation deadlines" underscores the pivotal stance of the EITI scheme management in regards to final decision-making in the developing the EITI global standard.

The EITI conference is encouraged to achieve consensual agreement on all resolutions. In case this cannot be achieved, it is up to the EITI chair to decide that a vote is required. All EITI stakeholders present at the conference, except the EITI board and secretariat members, have one vote. In case of a vote, simple majority is sufficient for adopting resolutions⁶⁹⁷.

How are final decisions on the EITI global standard made?

- near consensus among members
- voting among members
- ✓ decision by scheme management (board decision)

6.4 Conformity assessment in the EITI

6.4.1 Auditing in the EITI

The EITI board as the standard setting body on a global level is primarily responsible for auditing in the EITI.

The methodology for validation is the EITI's quality assurance mechanism in place of an audit as understood here⁶⁹⁸. The methodology offers relatively specific guidance on how to assess implementing countries' progress towards compliance with the EITI. Further documents support the EITI validation guide such as parts of the recent EITI requirements and the *Implementing the EITI document* or the *EITI Good Practice notes*⁶⁹⁹. The

⁶⁹⁶ EITI Rules 2011: 8

⁶⁹⁷ EITI Rules 2010: 50

⁶⁹⁸ http://eiti.org/Validation February 18, 2011

⁶⁹⁹ EITI Rules 2011: 13

EITI developed the validation guide as alternate to the audit and does not designate the form of third party certification common for other global standards and certification schemes.

Different actor groups are involved in the conformity assessment process in the EITI. When completing the sign-up steps, e.g., the appointed senior individual of the EITI applicant formally lodges a *Candidate Application* in writing to the EITI chairman. It is the EITI board in form of the *Outreach and Candidacy Committee* made up of EITI board members involving the EITI international secretariat who will evaluate the consistency of the EITI applicant with the EITI sign-up requirements and finally decide whether the EITI applicant achieves candidate status⁷⁰⁰. After the EITI candidate country has fulfilled the EITI requirements of publishing an EITI report and finally submitting the complete validation report within the set time frame "the Board will designate that country as EITI Compliant"⁷⁰¹.

The EITI validation constitutes the process from a candidate country to an EITI compliant and is structured in six steps⁷⁰². In the first step, the national multi-stakeholder group agrees to commence validation. In the second step, the implementing country "must procure an EITI Validator from a list of accredited organizations and individuals pre-approved by the EITI Board" The third step comprises the actual process of validation resulting in a draft report in step four. In step five the validator produces a final validation report and in the final step six the EITI board analyses the report and decides on the status of the country. Despite the EITI's statement "[v]alidation is in essence an external, independent evaluation mechanism", at the end of the day, "the EITI Board, with the support of the International EITI Secretariat, exercises its mandate as the custodian of the EITI principles, criteria and Validation methodology" ⁷⁰⁴.

The EITI validation process has broader objectives than an audit: it evaluates EITI implementation in consultation with stakeholders, it verifies agreements with reference to the EITI global standard, and it identifies opportunities to strengthen the EITI process⁷⁰⁵.

Which actor carries out the auditing in the EITI?

- ✓ standard setting body on global level (centralized structure)
- standard setting body on regional or national level (federal structure)
- independent third party

6.4.2 Monitoring actors in the EITI

The EITI board representing the standard setting body on the global level is responsible for monitoring EITI compliance.

As with *auditing*, the EITI validation also is in place for *monitoring*. Subsequently, the procedures described in the preceding also apply to monitoring. A validator, appointed by the multi-stakeholder group installed by the government of the EITI implementing country monitors EITI compliance according to the validation methodology. On the basis of the validator's results the EITI board evaluates the status of the implementing country.

⁷⁰⁰ EITI Rules 2011: 16

⁷⁰¹ EITI Rules 2011: 16

⁷⁰² EITI Rules 2011: 35 – 36

⁷⁰³ EITI Rules 2010: 36

⁷⁰⁴ EITI Rules 2011: 34

⁷⁰⁵ Koechlin et al. 2009: 99

Which actor monitors compliance with the EITI global standard?

- ✓ standard setting body on global level (centralized structure)
- standard setting body on regional or national level (federal structure)
- independent third party

6.4.3 Modes of monitoring in the EITI

Reporting is a key requirement of the EITI and forms the basis of the EITI board's evaluation of the implementing countries' status. Additionally, monitoring respectively validation is institutionalized on a five year basis after achieving EITI compliant status and earlier, upon requirement of the EITI Board⁷⁰⁶.

"[M]aking data of revenue flows from oil, gas and mining activities publicly available [reporting] is a key activity in the EITI process"⁷⁰⁷. This is further underscored by the prominent role ascribed to publications as stated already in EITI Criteria 1, "Regular publication of all material oil, gas and mining payments to governments [...] and all material revenues received by governments from oil, gas and mining companies [...] to a wide audience in a publicly accessible, comprehensive and comprehensible manner"⁷⁰⁸. Furthermore, reporting is dealt with in several indicators in the Validation Grid requiring reporting templates (indicator 9), governments to ensure that all companies will report (indicator 11), that both company and government reports are based on audited accounts to international standards (indicator 12, 13), that all material oil, gas and mining payments by companies to government/ received by the governments [...] disclosed to the organization contracted to reconcile figures and produce the EITI report (14) and finally indicator 15 required the EITI report to identify discrepancies and make recommendations for actions to be taken. All EITI reports are available on the EITI homepage and are listed by EITI implementing country⁷⁰⁹. The required country work plan for fulfilling the EITI criteria is also part of the EITI report, as well as self-assessment forms on country and international level⁷¹⁰.

The difference between EITI and other initiatives requiring reporting such as the GRI, is that EITI requires publication of payments of the extractive industries per country of operation, whereas the GRI e.g. advances corporate-level reporting including environmental, and social performance in reports next to pure economic performance⁷¹¹.

Which mode of monitoring is institutionalized in the EITI?

- fire alarm
- ✓ police patrol
- √ company reporting

^{706 &}lt;a href="http://eiti.org/eiti/implementation">http://eiti.org/eiti/implementation February 19, 2011

⁷⁰⁷ http://eiti.org/document/eitireports February, 21, 2010

⁷⁰⁸ EITI Rules 2010: 16

^{709 &}lt;a href="http://eiti.org/document/eitireports">http://eiti.org/document/eitireports February, 21, 2010

⁷¹⁰ EITI Rules 2010: 12, 28 – 29

⁷¹¹ Advancing the EITI in the Mining Sector 2009: 42

6.4.4 Accreditation in the EITI

The EITI board, i.e. the standard setting body on the global level is also primarily responsible for accrediting the validator for undertaking EITI validation.

Seven companies and partnerships have been accredited to undertake EITI validation, "[f]ollowing an international competitive bid process, including through the Official Journal of the European Union, the UK Department for International Development, on behalf of the International EITI Secretariat, and led by a committee of the EITI Board (Validation Committee)"⁷¹². The EITI board pre-approved the list of accredited organizations and individuals via the secretariat. Only accredited validators listed here can be procured by the EITI implementing country for carrying out the EITI validation. "The independence of the Validator is paramount"⁷¹³.

Accreditation in the EITI can also apply in cases when the EITI acknowledges audits undertaken by international standard bodies and these bodies are accredited.

Who is responsible for accreditation?

- ✓ standard setting body on global level (centralized structure)
- standard setting body on regional or national level (federal structure)
- independent third party

6.4.5 Dispute-settlement in the EITI

In the case of a dispute, the disputants, i.e. the EITI board and the EITI implementing country engage in bargaining.

The EITI Policy Note #5 Temporary Suspension and Delisting of EITI Implementing Countries deals with questions of dispute. As for the actual process, "[w]here the Board is concerned that adherence to the EITI Principles and EITI Criteria is compromised it shall task the International EITI Secretariat with gathering information about the situation and submit a report to the EITI Board"⁷¹⁴. In case the EITI board determines offenses of an EITI implementing country, the country concerned may petition the EITI board to review its decision. The country may also appeal a decision of the EITI board made in accordance with the first paragraph to the next ordinary members' meeting. At all stages in the process, the EITI board shall ensure its concerns and decisions are clearly communicated to the implementing country⁷¹⁵.

How is dispute-settlement organized in the EITI?

- ✓ only bargaining between disputants
- also mediation by "political" body
- also adjudication by independent judicial body

⁷¹² EITI Rules 2010: 36

⁷¹³ EITI Rules 2011: 36

⁷¹⁴ EITI Rules 2010: 42

⁷¹⁵ EITI 2010: 42 – 44

6.4.6 Means of enforcement in the EITI

In the event of non-compliance the EITI board can decide upon withdrawing privileges such as EITI compliant status and membership.

The EITI board may temporarily suspend or de-list an EITI implementing country in cases that are "manifestly clear that the EITI Principles and Criteria are not in a significant aspect adhered to and honored by an Implementing Country⁷¹⁶. Having achieved candidate status and after elapse of the set time limit a country can be delisted from the EITI in case 1) validation has not started, 2) validation has started but not completed and 3) validation completed but 3a) no meaningful progress can be depicted. In the case 3b) validation completed and the candidate country can demonstrate meaningful progress yet does not fully fulfill the requirements for compliant status, the candidature can be renewed via application through the national multi-stakeholder group; 3c) validation completed, the candidate is close to compliance, compliant status will follow an EITI secretariat review and finally in best case 3d) validation completed and the EITI board verifies compliance, compliant status is granted for five years⁷¹⁷. Suspension is temporary with a time limit set by the EITI board for the implementing country to address breaches with corrective measures. The board lifts suspension when satisfied with the measures undertaken by the country within the given timeframe. If the country does not implement corrective measures satisfactorily by the agreed deadline the board will decide that the country will be de-listed. In that case, the country loses its status as an EITI implementing country as well as its right for membership within the EITI association. The reputational damage can be high because the suspended or de-listed status will be clearly indicated on the EITI website and elsewhere.

Countries may also opt for voluntary temporary suspension for up to one year for reasons of e.g. political instability or conflict. The country is free to apply to lift the suspension at any time. In case voluntary suspension is in effect for more than a year, the EITI board will consider whether to de-list the country⁷¹⁸. Guinea is an example of a country currently suspended from the EITI after applying for voluntary suspension December 2009⁷¹⁹. Unless Guinea has already introduced procedures for reentering the EITI, according to EITI policy it must be delisted in short.

Any means of enforcement primarily affect the national countries and not the companies operating there.

How is non-compliance in the EITI dealt with?

- no means of enforcement
- ✓ withdrawal of privileges
- sanctions

7 THE INTERNATIONAL ORGANIZATION FOR STANDARDIZATION'S TECHNICAL COMMITTEE 207 (ISO/TC 207)

As a global standard and certification scheme the ISO distinguishes itself from the other cases under study by its high number of standards resulting from its operations in an array of industry sectors and other areas of application. In its over 60 years existence ISO has developed over 18,500 standards to date and produces ca 1,100 new standards annually⁷²⁰. Most other GSCSs looked at here, emerged around one single issue and as a consequence are designed around one core document of a standard such as the Forest Stewardship Council for sustainable forestry management, the Kimberley Process Certification Scheme for eliminating the trade in conflict diamonds, or the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative for disclosing revenues in oil, gas and mining. In order to provide for comparability between the GSCSs under study, the empirical analysis of the ISO is primarily based on the ISO Technical Committee 207 (ISO/TC 207) as a GSCS of its own unless overall ISO provisions apply. The ISO/TC 207 is responsible for "[s]tandardization in the field of environmental management systems and tools in support of sustainable development", i.e. the ISO 14000 standard series, introduced in 1996⁷²¹. Among the ISO standards the ISO 14000 family's ultimate objective of contributing to sustainable development fits best with the research project's focus on sustainability issues⁷²². The approach of treating one ISO technical committee as an organization of its own is not new in the Social Sciences. It has also been employed in the context of the ISO Technical Committee 176 responsible for developing the ISO 9000 quality management standard series⁷²³.

7.1 General aspects of the ISO/TC 207

7.1.1 Actors involved in founding the ISO/TC 207

The three actor groups; civil society, private businesses and public authorities were involved in the foundation of the ISO Technical Committee 207.

In the run up to the United Nations Conference on Environment and Development in Rio de Janeiro in 1992, the newly founded Business Council for Sustainable Development approached the two main international standardization bodies, the International Organization for Standardization and the International Electrotechnical Commission with the objective of promoting sustainability issues in private businesses. This interaction resulted in the two latter organizations developing the Strategic Advisory Group on the Environment 1991. The strategic advisory group was commissioned with the task of assessing the need for a global standard for environmental management. The advisory group established six task groups for the exercise and submitted its recommendations late 1992 to the ISO technical management board, resulting in the creation of ISO/TC 207 environmental management⁷²⁴. The ISO and the International Electrotechnical Commission created the new ISO/TC 207 in January 1993 and it was formally inaugurated in the following June⁷²⁵.

⁷²⁰ http://www.iso.org/iso/iso_catalogue March 15, 2011

^{721 &}lt;a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/standards_development/technical_committees/list_of_iso_technical_committees/iso_technical_committee.htm?commid=54808">http://www.iso.org/iso/standards_development/technical_committees/list_of_iso_technical_committees/iso_technical_committees/list_of_iso_technic

⁷²² http://www.tc207.org/About207.asp March 16, 2011

⁷²³ Tamm Hallström 2000: 85 - 99

^{724 &}lt;u>http://www.tc207.org/About207.asp</u> March 16, 2011

^{725 &}lt;u>http://www.tc207.org/About207.asp</u> April 18, 2011

As for the two international standardization organizations behind the launching of the ISO/TC 207, their history is strongly intertwined. As the first international organization for industrial standardization ever, founded 1906, the International Electrotechnical Commission served as a role model for creating the ISO in the aftermath of the Second World War⁷²⁶. The process of creating the ISO, "while certainly not exclusively or even primarily governmental, involved national interests and even government bodies"⁷²⁷. The American Engineering Standards Committee, e.g. represented the United States, formed in 1918 by professional associations who in turn invited representatives of U.S. Navy, War and Commerce Departments to join the organization explicitly characterized by a high level of inclusion among the range of its members⁷²⁸. When the ISO emerged in the 1940s the phenomenon *civil society*, understood as social advocacy groups was not yet prevalent. The situation was a different one in the 1990s, exemplified by the involvement of the Business Council for Sustainable Development in creating the ISO/TC 207. The ISO officially began operations on 23 February 1947, in Geneva, Switzerland. At the founding conference of the ISO, London 1946, the objective of the newly created organization was "to facilitate the international coordination and unification of industrial standards"⁷²⁹.

Which actors were involved in the ISO/TC 207's foundation?

- ✓ civil society actors
- ✓ private businesses
- ✓ public authorities

7.1.2 Membership structure of the ISO/TC 207

Like in the ISO as a whole all three actor groups of civil society, private businesses and public authorities can become members in the ISO/TC 207.

ISO/TC 207 membership comprises participating members, observing members and liaison members. Generally for ISO as a whole, countries' national certification bodies constitute the members in the overall ISO as well as in the ISO/TC 207. Currently, 76 ISO members are involved in the TC 207 as participating members and 32 ISO members as observing members. All 76 ISO/TC 207 participating members are full members in the ISO as a whole. Out of the 32 observing members 23 have full membership status and nine a correspondent status. No ISO members with merely subscriber status are included in the ISO/TC 207⁷³⁰. The significance of the ISO membership categories is explained in the following point.

The national standardizing bodies making up ISO members and respectively the TC/207 membership differ in terms of their categorization in the threefold distinction here. Some are governmental agencies and belong to national ministries, e.g. in Afghanistan and Angola⁷³¹. Others, such as the *Deutsches Institut für Normung*, established 1917 as the *Normenausschuß der deutschen Industrie*, are private organizations registered as a non-profit association including members from industry, associations, public authorities, commerce, the trades and research organizations⁷³². Similarly, the 1918 established American Engineering Standards Committee,

⁷²⁶ Yates et al. undated: 8

⁷²⁷ Yates et al. undated: 3

⁷²⁸ Yates et al. undated: 11 - 12

⁷²⁹ Friendship Among Equals 1997: 15

^{730 &}lt;a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/standards_development/technical_committees/list_of_iso_technical_committees/iso_techn

^{731 &}lt;a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/about/iso_members/iso_member_body.htm?member_id=513271">http://www.iso.org/iso/about/iso_members/iso_member_body.htm?member_id=313271, http://www.iso.org/iso/about/iso_members/iso_member_body.htm?member_id=316519 March 14, 2011

⁷³² http://www.iso.org/iso/about/iso_members/iso_member_body.htm?member_id=1511_March 14, 2011

today the American National Standards Institute, is comprised of businesses and industrial organizations, standards setting and conformity assessment bodies, trade associations, labor unions, professional societies, consumer groups, academia, and government organizations⁷³³.

The ISO/TC 207 is further structured in eleven subcommittees or working groups: The *chairman's advisory group*, a *portfolio task force* within the chairman's advisory group, a *terminology coordination group*, a group dealing with the *combat of desertification* and a working group dealing with *material flow cost accounting* as well as *general principles and framework*. Furthermore six subcommittees complement the ISO/TC 207. These are 1) environmental management systems, 2) environmental auditing and related environmental investigations, 3) environmental labeling, 4) environmental performance evaluation, 5) lifecycle assessment and finally greenhouse gas management and related activities, listed as subcommittee 7⁷³⁴. All groups and subcommittees have their own secretariats and are further structured in subdivisions. The ISO/TC 207 subcommittee 1 e.g. is further structured in three working groups⁷³⁵. Its' secretariat is administered by the British Standards Institution⁷³⁶.

Which actors constitute the ISO/TC 207 membership?

- ✓ civil society actors
- ✓ private businesses
- ✓ public authorities

7.1.3 Members' representation in the ISO/TC 207

No special interest representation is institutionalized in the ISO/TC 207.

Within its membership, the ISO/TC 207 stipulates "a meaningful representation from developed countries, developing countries and countries with economies in transition in all major geographical regions"⁷³⁷. Furthermore the ISO/TC 207 "encourages its members to ensure that their delegations and positions reflect openness and represent broad constituencies, especially the concerns of environmental and consumer public interest groups and small and medium sized enterprises⁷³⁸. In order to fulfill these requirements, the committee has institutionalized the five following groups; the developing country contact group, the chairman's advisory group task force, the Spanish translation task force, the joint Arabic translation task force and the subcommittee 1 – strategic small and medium sized enterprises⁷³⁹. Notwithstanding these claims and the respective groups and task forces for achieving broad participation in the activities of the ISO/TC 207, no provisions stipulating modes of special interest representation are institutionalized in the actual membership base of the technical committee. Participation in all ISO technical committees is open to all ISO member bodies⁷⁴⁰.

⁷³³ http://www.iso.org/iso/about/iso_members/iso_member_body.htm?member_id=2188 March 14, 2011

^{734 &}lt;a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/standards_development/technical_committees/list_of_iso_technical_committees/iso_technical_committee.htm?commid=54808">http://www.iso.org/iso/standards_development/technical_committees/list_of_iso_technical_committees/iso_technical_comm

^{735 &}lt;a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/standards_development/technical_committees/list_of_iso_technical_committees/iso_technical_committee.htm?commid=54818">http://www.iso.org/iso/standards_development/technical_committees/list_of_iso_technical_committees/iso_technical_committees/list_of_iso_technic

^{736 &}lt;a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/standards_development/technical_committees/list_of_iso_technical_committees/te

⁷³⁷ Business Plan ISO/TC 207 2005: 3

⁷³⁸ Business Plan ISO/TC 207 2005: 4

⁷³⁹ Business Plan ISO/TC 207 2005: 4

⁷⁴⁰ ISO/IEC Directives, Part 1 2004: 10

Similar to the categorization of the overall ISO membership in full members, correspondent members and subscriber members, the ISO/TC 207 membership comprises participating members, observing members and liaison members. When expressing its interest in participating in an ISO technical committee, the national body must clearly indicate according to which status it intends to participate⁷⁴¹. Participating technical committee members "represent countries who wish to vote, participate actively in discussions and have access to all relevant documentation". Observing members "represent countries not wishing to vote, but rather only to participate in discussions and receive all relevant information". Liaison members are "international or broadly based regional organizations who are invited to take part in discussions and are permitted to receive all information from the TC but are not granted voting status"⁷⁴². These include major international business-sector organizations, nongovernmental organizations, regional, consumers and certification organizations⁷⁴³. Irrespective of their membership status within the specific ISO/TC all ISO full member bodies have the right to vote on the global standard developed by the technical committee. Member bodies with participating status are obliged to vote and will be degraded to observing members if they fail to fulfill this obligation⁷⁴⁴.

As for the ISO as a whole, from the start of its operations to date, national standards bodies constitute ISO members⁷⁴⁵. The ISO defines it member body as the national body "most representative of standardization in its country"⁷⁴⁶. Only one member body for each country is accepted for membership of ISO. By the end of October 2010, ISO membership consisted of 163 members listed by country. ISO membership is structured in the three groups of member bodies, correspondent bodies and subscriber members⁷⁴⁷. Member bodies are full members and are entitled to participate and exercise full voting rights on any technical committee and policy committee of ISO. A correspondent member is usually an organization in a country which currently does not have a fully-developed national standards activity. Correspondent members do not take an active part in the technical and policy development work, but are entitled to be kept fully informed about the work of interest to them⁷⁴⁸. Subscriber members are countries with very small economies. Subscriber members pay reduced membership fees that nevertheless allow them to maintain contact with international standardization⁷⁴⁹. 2009, ISO had 162 members in total, the bulk 105 were full members, 47 correspondent members, and ten subscriber members⁷⁵⁰. The subscriber members were Antigua and Barbuda, Burundi, Cambodia, the Central African Republic, Dominica, Eritrea, Guyana, Honduras, the Lao People's Republic, and Saint Vincent and the Grenadines⁷⁵¹. Although no special interest representation per se is installed besides the fact that only member bodies have a vote, the members are represented to highly varying degrees in technical committees⁷⁵².

How are member groups represented in the ISO/TC 207?

- federal structure
- corporatist structure
- ✓ no special interest representation

⁷⁴¹ ISO/IEC Directives, Part 1 2004: 10

⁷⁴² http://www.tc207.org/about207.asp#membership April 18, 2011

⁷⁴³ Business Plan ISO/TC 207 2005: 4

⁷⁴⁴ ISO/IEC Directives, Part 1 2004: 11

⁷⁴⁵ Yates et al. undated: 8

^{746 &}lt;a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/about/iso_members/member_bodies.htm">http://www.iso.org/iso/about/iso_members/member_bodies.htm April 29, 2011

^{747 &}lt;a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/about/iso_members.htm">http://www.iso.org/iso/about/iso_members.htm March 14, 2011; ISO 2010 – 2011:

^{748 &}lt;a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/about/iso_members/correspondent_members.htm">http://www.iso.org/iso/about/iso_members/correspondent_members.htm March 14, 2011

⁷⁴⁹ http://www.iso.org/iso/about/iso_members/subscriber_members.htm March 14, 2011

⁷⁵⁰ ISO Annual Report 2009: 26

^{751 &}lt;a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/about/iso_members.htm">http://www.iso.org/iso/about/iso_members.htm March 14, 2011

^{752 &}lt;a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/about/iso_members.htm">http://www.iso.org/iso/about/iso_members.htm March 14, 2011

7.1.4 Congruence among rule-makers and rule-takers in the context of the ISO/TC 207

The groups of rule-makers and rule-takers are congruent in the ISO/TC 207.

Similar to the GRI guidelines, any organization – be they private businesses, nongovernmental organizations or public agencies – can constitute the rule-takers in the context of the ISO environmental management standard. As all of these groups also can be represented in the ISO/TC 207 as the rule-making body, the groups of rule-takers and rule-makers are congruent in the ISO/TC 207.

Are the groups of rule-makers and rule-takers congruent in the context of the ISO/TC 207?

- √ congruent
- partial overlap
- no overap

7.1.5 Mode of installing the ISO/TC 207 board of directors⁷⁵³

The ISO/TC 207 is led by a chair and a vice chair and also has a chair advisory group similar to a board of directors. The ISO/TC 207 only states that it has "chosen to establish a Chair's Advisory Group"⁷⁵⁴ but does not specify the modes underlying the establishment of the office. As its title implies, the group holds advisory functions in the technical committee and does not make any decisions for the TC.

The ISO as a whole has five principal officers, president, vice-president (policy), vice-president (technical management), treasurer and a secretary-general. Additionally, an ISO council exists consisting of the five officers and 20 elected member bodies⁷⁵⁵. The division of labor between the council and the secretariat lies therein that ISO operations are *governed* by the council and *managed* by the secretariat.

The council appoints the treasurer, the fourteen members of the technical management board, and the chair-persons of the policy development committees. It also decides on the annual budget of the central secretariat. The council is chaired by the president or vice-president (policy)⁷⁵⁶. The *ISO statutes* stipulate that, "while the general assembly is the ultimate authority of the organization, most of the governance functions of ISO are performed by the council in accordance with the policy laid down by the member bodies"⁷⁵⁷. The council meets twice a year and its membership is rotated to ensure that it is representative of ISO's membership. All member bodies are eligible for appointment/election to the council⁷⁵⁸.

⁷⁵³ On the basis of the resources at my disposal, this point is so far indeterminate and will be completed in case it turns out to be central for the further analysis.

⁷⁵⁴ http://www.tc207.org/faq.asp?Question=11 April 18, 2011

⁷⁵⁵ http://www.iso.org/iso/about/structure/structure_council.htm March 14, 2011

^{756 &}lt;u>http://www.iso.org/iso/about/structure/structure_council.htm</u> March 14, 2011

^{757 &}lt;a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/about/governance_and_operations.htm">http://www.iso.org/iso/about/governance_and_operations.htm March 16, 2011

⁷⁵⁸ http://www.iso.org/iso/about/governance_and_operations.htm March 16, 2011

How is the ISO/TC 207 board of directors put in place?

- self-appointment
- appointment by membership groups (federal/corporatist)
- election by members

7.1.6 The ISO/TC 207 secretariat

The secretariat of ISO/TC 207 carries out administrative tasks for the committee.

Each technical committee and subcommittee has a secretariat assigned to an ISO member body⁷⁵⁹, generally a national standardizing organization. The ISO TC 207 secretariat is held by the Standards Council of Canada and administered by the Canadian Standards Association, a member body of the ISO as a whole⁷⁶⁰. In opposition to the ISO central secretariat, the tasks of the technical committee secretariat resemble purely *administrative tasks*. The codification here indicating administrative tasks applies in specific to the ISO/TC 207 secretariat and not to the tasks of the ISO central secretariat commissioned also with substantive tasks for ISO.

The secretary-general, based at the ISO central secretariat in Geneva, manages operations as the ISO chief executive officer and reports to the ISO members, coordinating the decentralized standards' development program of the worldwide activities of more than 3,200 technical groups that develop the standards in collaboration with the 160 ISO members, and for publishing the output. It is also the secretariat of the governing bodies, the general assembly, the council, the policy development committees (committee on conformity assessment, committee on consumer policy and the committee on developing country matters) and their subsidiary bodies, the technical management board and the committee on reference materials⁷⁶¹. The central secretariat has grown from a staff of 15 in the 1950s to 170 in the 1990s, from 16 countries. The secretariat's staff numbers doubled in 1966 – 1967, four technical divisions were set up, each headed by an appointed engineer. In the respective time period the budget of the secretariat increased from CHF 340,000 to CHF 29,890,000⁷⁶². The youngest figures for 2010 on full time staff write 154⁷⁶³.

What is the capacity of the ISO/TC 207's secretariat?

- no permanent secretariat
- ✓ secretariat with administrative tasks
- secretariat with substantive tasks

^{759 &}lt;a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/standards_development/technical_committees.htm">http://www.iso.org/iso/standards_development/technical_committees.htm April 20, 2011

^{760 &}lt;a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/standards_development/technical_committees/list_of_iso_technical_committees/te

^{761 &}lt;a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/about/structure/iso_central_secretariat.htm">http://www.iso.org/iso/about/structure/iso_central_secretariat.htm March 14, 2011

⁷⁶² Friendship Among Equals 1997: 83

⁷⁶³ http://www.iso.org/iso/iso_in_figures.htm March 17, 2011

7.1.7 The ISO/TC 207's relation to other GSCSs

The ISO/TC 207 like the ISO as a whole operates in nested cooperation with other standardizing bodies.

The ISO partnerships as a whole also apply to the ISO/TC 207. Additionally, the ISO/TC 207 lists 33 partnering organizations outside of ISO including other GSCSs as well as intergovernmental bodies. Furthermore, the ISO/TC 207 also lists 22 other technical committees within the ISO as partnering institutions⁷⁶⁴. Nested cooperation is especially distinctive in the context of cooperation between the TC 207 for environmental management systems and technical committees developing other ISO managerial standards such as the ISO/TC 176 responsible for the ISO quality management standard series 9000. The standard series ISO 9000 for quality management and the ISO 14000 family have served as a blueprint for the development of other ISO requirements or guidelines for good management practices.

The ISO strategic plan 2011 – 2015 states, "ISO effectively promotes and manages partnership with international organizations, standards developing organizations [...]"⁷⁶⁵. Five additional actions are outlined for promoting collaboration in standardization, specifically by enhancing cooperation with other international standardizing bodies such as the International Electrotechnical Commission and the International Telecommunication Union. Together with the two organizations the ISO forms the World Standards Cooperation. The ISO issues standards and numerous other publications in cooperation with the International Electrotechnical Commission. The joint ISO/IEC Information center further exemplifies cooperation between the two organizations and "serves as a portal to the main information given on various pages of the ISO and IEC Web sites e.g. the ISO and IEC Catalogues" ISO President 2005 – 2006 stated at his inauguration [n]ew developments and synergies should be fostered in areas such as standards for converging technologies, training and technical assistance or issues of intellectual property rights related to standards" [767].

On the level of the technical committees ISO has formal liaison relations with over 600 international and regional organizations and has further reinforced its links with international organizations representing different groups of stakeholders, such as the World Economic Forum, Consumers International, World Business Council for Sustainable Development, and the International Federation of Standards Users⁷⁶⁸. ISO also cooperates with regional partners representing Africa, the Arab countries, Europe, the Americas and Asia⁷⁶⁹. The list of organizations cooperating with ISO is very long⁷⁷⁰.

How does the ISO/TC 207 interrelate with other GSCSs?

- no relations (monopoly)
- ✓ nested cooperation
- open competition

^{764 &}lt;a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/standards_development/technical_committees/list_of_iso_technical_committees/iso_technical_committee.htm?commid=54808">http://www.iso.org/iso/standards_development/technical_committees/list_of_iso_technical_committees/iso_technical_comm

⁷⁶⁵ ISO Strategic Plan 2011 – 2015

⁷⁶⁶ http://www.standardsinfo.net/info/index.html March 16, 2011

^{767 &}lt;a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/pressrelease.htm?refid=Ref944">http://www.iso.org/iso/pressrelease.htm?refid=Ref944 March 16, 2011

^{768 &}lt;a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/about/discover-iso_isos-international-partners.htm">http://www.iso.org/iso/about/discover-iso_isos-international-partners.htm March 14, 2011

^{769 &}lt;a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/about/discover-iso_isos-regional-partners.htm">http://www.iso.org/iso/about/discover-iso_isos-regional-partners.htm March 14, 2011

⁷⁷⁰ http://www.iso.org/iso/about/organizations_in_liaison.htm?filter=A March 14, 2011

7.1.8 The ISO/TC 207's relation to (inter-)governmental organizations

International organizations delegate authority to the ISO in general and to the ISO/TC 207 in specific.

The most renowned international organizations among the 33 item long list constituting the ISO/TC partner organizations are the European Commission, the United Nations Environment and Development Program, the World Health Organization or the World Trade Organization or the European Union delegate authority to the ISO/TC 207 to develop or harmonize standards for global application. The European Union employs the ISO 14001 standard as the environmental management system of the European Union eco-management and audit scheme⁷⁷².

The ISO/IEC information center informs on the relationship between WTO, ISO and IEC with regard to world trade and on standardizing bodies which have accepted the *World Trade Organization's Technical Barriers to Trade Code of Good Practice for the Preparation, Adoption and Application of standards*⁷⁷³. Accordingly, ISO has built a strategic partnership with WTO entailing political agreements within the framework of WTO underpinned by technical agreements.

ISO also collaborates with the United Nations and its specialized agencies and commissions, particularly those involved in the harmonization of regulations and public policies, such as the CODEX Alimentarius, on food safety measurement, management and traceability, the UN Economic Commission for Europe on the safety of motor vehicles and the transportation of dangerous goods, the World Health Organization on health technologies the International Maritime Organization on transport security, or the World Tourism Organization on the quality of tourism services. In addition, ISO cooperates with United Nations organizations that provide assistance and support to developing countries, such as the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development, the United Nations Industrial Development Organization and the International Trade Centre⁷⁷⁴.

How does the ISO/TC 207 interrelate with international organizations?

- no relations
- orchestration
- ✓ delegated authority

7.1.9 Financing of the ISO/TC 207's activities

The ISO primarily finances its activities by members' regular contributions. Additionally, ISO generates revenues through marketing activities. As part of ISO, these financing mechanisms also apply to the ISO/TC 207.

The main costs of the ISO system's operations are borne by the member bodies that manage the specific standards development projects and the business organizations that provide experts to participate in the technical work. These organizations are, in effect, subsidizing the technical work by paying the travel costs of the experts and allowing them time to work on their ISO assignments. 2009, the 39 member bodies holding the ISO committee secretariats financed their operations. 2010, the operational costs of ISO's central secretariat

^{771 &}lt;a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/standards_development/technical_committees/list_of_iso_technical_committees/iso_technical_committee.htm?commid=54808">http://www.iso.org/iso/standards_development/technical_committees/list_of_iso_technical_committees/list_of_

⁷⁷² Perez et al. 2009: 594

 $^{773 \ \}underline{http://www.standardsinfo.net/info/index.html} \ March \ 16, 2011$

http://www.iso.org/iso/about/discover-iso_isos-international-partners.htm March 14, 2011

were covered to 53% by ISO's national members' subscriptions paid by each member country in proportion to its gross national income and trade figures and by 47% through sales of publications and other income from services such as the sale of standards is another source of revenue⁷⁷⁵.

How are the ISO/TC 207's activities financed?

- voluntary donations
- ✓ regular contributions
- ✓ marketing of the GSCS's activities

7.1.10 ISO/TC 207 scheme evaluation⁷⁷⁶

Evaluating the ISO is institutionalized as one agenda item among others of the general assembly and is administered by an ISO body such as a technical committee or if it is not related to a specific work area, the ISO technical management board.

Reviewing ISO's activities of the past and outlining the future strategy is among the general assembly's items of the agenda "with a view to taking the decisions that will ensure the Organization fulfils its goals and objectives and therefore continues to be relevant to its member's needs in the future" A strategic plan is set up for a period of five years and entails general prospects rather than precise actions An example of a recently undertaken evaluation, the ISO Technical Management Board formed a Process Evaluation Group to review the ISO standards development processes with the main focus on stakeholder participation in the ISO system 779.

Has the ISO/TC 207 institutionalized procedures for evaluating the scheme?

- no institutionalized evaluation
- institutionalized scheme evaluation by management, members and/or stakeholders
- institutionalized scheme evaluation by an autonomous body

7.2 Characteristics of the ISO/TC 207 global standard

7.2.1 Subject of the ISO/TC 207 global standard

In the ISO family 14000, the standard ISO 14001:2004⁷⁸⁰ demands procedural changes relating to managerial aspects as the name environmental *management* system implies and is the basis for certification.

ISO itself explains why ISO 14001 focuses on procedures and not levels of environmental performance as follows: "If it specified levels of environmental performance, they would have to be specific to each busim

^{775 &}lt;a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/iso_in_figures.htm">http://www.iso.org/iso/iso_in_figures.htm March 17, 2011

⁷⁷⁶ On the basis of the resources at my disposal, this point is so far indeterminate and will be completed in case it turns out to be central for the further analysis.

⁷⁷⁷ ISO 2001: 2

⁷⁷⁸ ISO Strategic Plan 2011 – 2015

⁷⁷⁹ ISO Guidance for ISO Liaison Organizations 2010

⁷⁸⁰ In the following referred to as ISO 14001

ness activity and this would require a specific EMS standard for each business. That is not the intention"⁷⁸¹. Rather, the system requires changes in organizational routines, information management, and decision-making processes. These requirements can lead to "regular meetings, formal and systematic managerial influence, monitoring, and clear plans" or to the installment of new functions such as "environment and safety officers" or "improvement and environmental quality teams" as examples have shown⁷⁸².

The subject of certification, the environmental management system in line with the requirements outlined in ISO 14001:2004 is a *management tool*, by its own account, enabling an organization to:

- "identify and control the environmental impact of its activities, products or services, and to
- improve its environmental performance continually, and to
- implement a systematic approach to setting environmental objectives and targets, to achieving these and to demonstrating that they have been achieved"⁷⁸³.

Standardizing products is explicitly excluded from the scope of work of the ISO/TC 207⁷⁸⁴.

Other ISO standards outside of the ISO 14000 series target specific environmental issues as well as product standards targeting the product characteristics in quality and safety respect⁷⁸⁵.

In contrast to the management and leadership standards ISO 26000 on social responsibility and ISO 31000 which serve as guidelines and cannot be certified, the environmental management standards in focus here as well as its predecessor, ISO 9000, are certifiable⁷⁸⁶.

What is subject to the ISO/TC 207 global standard?

- ✓ procedures (production/process management)
- results (product/performance)
- origin of product

7.2.2 Chain of custody certification in the ISO/TC 207

Certificate of the ISO 14001:2004 standard is first and foremost a *business to business* certificate not visible to the end consumer.

Chain of custody certification is not relevant for the ISO 14001 because the standard neither relates to the trading chain of commodities nor can environmental management systems be applied to a(n end) product. This aspect is underscored by the process-based nature of the standard. The *business to business* approach is also evident in the objective of the ISO 14001:2004, proclaiming that the standard "provides a framework for demonstrating conformity via suppliers" declarations of conformity, assessment of conformity by an external

^{781 &}lt;a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/iso_catalogue/management_and_leadership_standards/environmental_management/iso_14000_essentials.htm">http://www.iso.org/iso/iso_catalogue/management_and_leadership_standards/environmental_management/iso_14000_essentials.htm

March 15, 2011

⁷⁸² Perez et al. 2009: 615 – 616

^{783 &}lt;a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/iso_catalogue/management_and_leadership_standards/environmental_management/iso_14000_essentials.htm">http://www.iso.org/iso/iso_catalogue/management_and_leadership_standards/environmental_management/iso_14000_essentials.htm

March 15, 2011

^{784 &}lt;a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/standards_development/technical_committees/list_of_iso_technical_committees/iso_technical_committee.htm?commid=54808">http://www.iso.org/iso/standards_development/technical_committees/list_of_iso_technical_committees/iso_technical_comm

⁷⁸⁵ http://www.standardsinfo.net/info/aboutstd.html March 16, 2011

^{786 &}lt;a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/iso_catalogue/management_and_leadership_standards.htm">http://www.iso.org/iso/iso_catalogue/management_and_leadership_standards.htm March 15, 2011

stakeholder – such as a business client – [...]"⁷⁸⁷. The chain of custody issue is approached directly in its own management systems standard the ISO 28000 *supply chain security*. Nevertheless, among its external objectives the ISO includes providing assurance on environmental issues also to "external stakeholders – such as customers, the community and regulatory agencies". The ISO/TC 207 task group on small- and medium-sized enterprises focuses on promoting recognition of environmental management systems in the supply chain by second parties, namely customers again indicating a tendency towards enhancing consumer visibility⁷⁸⁸.

At which stage in the chain of custody does certification apply?

- certificate visible for end consumer
- certificate included in other end consumer visible certificate
- ✓ business to business certificate not visible to end consumer

7.2.3 Precision of the ISO/TC 207 global standard

The ISO 14000 standard series also includes measurable rules.

The ISO management system standards provide a framework allowing the organization to consistently achieve the requirements set out in other product and process standards⁷⁸⁹. The ISO standard on environmental management system comprises a family of standards encompassed in the ISO 14000 series. To date, the ISO/TC 207 has developed 23 standards on environmental management in total⁷⁹⁰. The first standard ISO 14001:2004 provides requirements for certification of the environmental management system and the second standard ISO 14004:2004 offers general guidelines on principles, systems and support techniques. ISO 14001 entails generic requirements and also serves as a common reference for communication⁷⁹¹. The ISO 14000 series encompasses further standards and guidelines addressing specific environmental aspects, including labeling, regards of evaluation of performance, life cycle analysis, communication and auditing⁷⁹².

To which degree of precision is the ISO/TC 207 global standard formulated?

- √ also measurable rules
- also specific norms
- only general principles

7.2.4 Context sensitivity of the ISO/TC 207 global standard

The ISO standard series 14000 is a global standard with no national specifics.

^{787 &}lt;a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/iso_catalogue/management_and_leadership_standards/environmental_management/iso_14000_essentials.htm">http://www.iso.org/iso/iso_catalogue/management_and_leadership_standards/environmental_management/iso_14000_essentials.htm

March 15, 2011

⁷⁸⁸ ISO/TC 207 Environmental management ISO/TC 207 N932: 3

^{789 &}lt;a href="http://www.standardsinfo.net/info/aboutstd.html">http://www.standardsinfo.net/info/aboutstd.html March 16, 2011

^{790 &}lt;a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/standards_development/technical_committees/list_of_iso_technical_committees/iso_technical_committee.htm?commid=54808">http://www.iso.org/iso/standards_development/technical_committees/list_of_iso_technical_committees/iso_technical_committees/list_of_iso_technic

^{791 &}lt;a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/iso_catalogue/management_and_leadership_standards/environmental_management/iso_14000_essentials.htm">http://www.iso.org/iso/iso_catalogue/management_and_leadership_standards/environmental_management/iso_14000_essentials.htm
March 15, 2011; DIN EN ISO 14001:2009–11

^{792 &}lt;a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/iso_catalogue/management_and_leadership_standards/environmental_management/iso_14000_essentials.htm">http://www.iso.org/iso/iso_catalogue/management_and_leadership_standards/environmental_management/iso_14000_essentials.htm
March 15, 2011

The ISO 14000 series is a universal standard. On its own account, the reason for focusing on procedures rather than on levels of environmental performance is that "they would have to be specific to each business activity and this would require a specific EMS standard for each business. That is not the intention". Rather, ISO 14000 intends to offer a "framework for a holistic, strategic approach" This approach mirrors the core objective of the organization formulated at the London founding conference as "to facilitate the international coordination and unification of industrial standards" in 1946⁷⁹⁴. In regards to environmental management, "[i] nternational standards are becoming increasingly important for organizations to work towards common and comparable environmental management practices" further stressing the argument for one uniform global standard. Again highlighting this point, the ISO states, "governments and regulatory bodies are increasingly looking to ISO standards to provide a framework to ensure alignment and consistency both nationally and internationally" National member institutes participate in the ISO standards development process for facilitating the development of uniform requirements⁷⁹⁷.

Is the ISO/TC 207 global standard context sensitive?

- ✓ only global standard
- global standard takes regional/national specifics into consideration
- global standard as framework for local/national/regional standard

7.2.5 Minimum or maximum standard in the context of the ISO/TC 207

The ISO 14000 standard series demands continual progress of its clients.

The ISO standard 14005:2004 offers guidelines for a phased implementation of an environmental management system. Furthermore, the ISO requires "a commitment to continual improvement – for which the EMS provides the framework"⁷⁹⁸.

How ambitious is the ISO/TC 207 global standard?

- minimum standard
- ✓ progressively demanding standard
- maximum ("gold") standard

7.2.6 Incentives for client participation of the ISO/TC 207 global standard

The incentive to implement an ISO 14001 based environmental management system is first and foremost of reputational nature. Yet, the ISO is also in a position to offer legal incentives to its clients.

^{793 &}lt;a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/iso_catalogue/management_and_leadership_standards/environmental_management/iso_14000_essentials.htm">http://www.iso.org/iso/iso_catalogue/management_and_leadership_standards/environmental_management/iso_14000_essentials.htm March 15, 2011

⁷⁹⁴ Friendship Among Equals 1997: 15

⁷⁹⁵ ISO Environmental Management 2009: 3

⁷⁹⁶ ISO Environmental Management 2009: 3

⁷⁹⁷ ISO Environmental Management 2009: 3

^{798 &}lt;a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/iso_catalogue/management_and_leadership_standards/environmental_management/iso_14000_essentials.htm">http://www.iso.org/iso/iso_catalogue/management_and_leadership_standards/environmental_management/iso_14000_essentials.htm

March 15, 2011; DIN EN ISO 14001:2009 – 11

In regards to their motivation for implementing ISO 14001, "managers [...] emphasized the value of certification as a vehicle for improving the firm's reputation through the creation of a green image" The study also depicted ideological incentives such as "a sense of commitment toward the environment and the neighboring community" underlying the decision to apply ISO 14001. Other managers stressed "instrumental considerations, such as pressure by clients [...], regulatory bodies, and insurance companies" again underscoring the notion of reputational incentives.

Environmental goals are at the heart of the ISO 14000 standards family. Accompanying environmental benefits the ISO markets its activities with emphasizing also economic incentives such as reduced raw material/resource use, reduced energy consumption, improved process efficiency, reduced waste generation and disposal costs, and the utilization of recoverable resources⁸⁰².

On its own account, the ISO international standards on e.g. monitoring of environmental aspects serve as the technical basis for a number of domestic environmental regulations and are thus incorporated in national legislation⁸⁰³. Like the FSC, ISO 14001 has been accorded legal recognition by some national and local governments⁸⁰⁴. ISO 14001 has been adopted as a national standard by more than half of all ISO member countries and its use is encouraged by their governments⁸⁰⁵. Taking into account deterrents entailed in not installing sound environmental management systems, producing pollution can cost companies fines for infringing environmental legislation⁸⁰⁶. The other way around, applying ISO based environmental management systems requires compliance with domestic regulation and thus is also a legal incentive⁸⁰⁷.

What are clients' incentives to participate in certification against the ISO/TC 207 global standard?

- ✓ reputational incentive
- price premium
- ✓ legal incentive

7.2.7 Industry scale of the ISO/TC 207 global standard

The ISO emphasizes the universality of the ISO 14000 standards series explicitly not specifying its application for a certain industry scale.

Generally, the ISO 14000 stresses that the environmental management systems required by the standard have been designed in such a way that they can be implemented "in any type of organization in either public or private sectors – from companies to administrations to public utilities"⁸⁰⁸. At another occasion, it explicitly states "[a]n EMS meeting the requirements of ISO 14001:2004 is a management tool enabling an organization

⁷⁹⁹ Perez et al. 2009: 615

⁸⁰⁰ Perez et al 2009: 615

⁸⁰¹ Perez et al. 2009: 615

⁸⁰² ISO Environmental Management 2009: 8

⁸⁰³ ISO Environmental Management 2009: 2

⁸⁰⁴ Vogel 2009: 156

⁸⁰⁵ ISO Environmental Management 2009: 6

^{806 &}lt;a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/iso_catalogue/management_and_leadership_standards/environmental_management/business_benefits_of_iso_14000.htm">http://www.iso.org/iso/iso_catalogue/management_and_leadership_standards/environmental_management/business_benefits_of_iso_14000.htm March 16, 2011

^{807 &}lt;a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/iso_catalogue/management_and_leadership_standards/environmental_management/iso_14000_essentials.htm">http://www.iso.org/iso/iso_catalogue/management_and_leadership_standards/environmental_management/iso_14000_essentials.htm

March 16, 2011

⁸⁰⁸ ISO Environmental Management 2009: 2

of any size or any type [...]"⁸⁰⁹. ISO offers further recommendations for small and medium-sized enterprises in a specific section on their homepage titled *ISO 14001:2004 and SME's*⁸¹⁰. Acknowledging that "EMS implementation in smaller enterprises can present significant challenges", the ISO has installed a *SME task group* which has "developed recommendations to change that perception, and make it easier for SMEs to benefit from implementing EMS based on ISO 14001:2004"⁸¹¹. The ISO/TC 207 plenary meeting 2009, opened with a presentation of an initiative aimed at greening Egypt's small- and medium-sized enterprises, illustrating ISO's outreach also to industry of smaller scale⁸¹².

Not differentiating in terms of industry scale, the ISO 14001:2004 environmental management system standard is implemented by some 200,000 organizations in 155 countries⁸¹³.

Which scale of industry does the ISO/TC 207 global standard address?

- large-scale (state) companies
- small-scale and artisanal producers
- ✓ no specification in industry scale

7.3 Developing the ISO/TC 207 global standard

7.3.1 Procedures for evaluating the ISO/TC 207 global standard

In the context of the standards family ISO 14000, evaluation is institutionalized on a regular basis by management, members and stakeholders.

As a general rule applying to all ISO global standards, the first review is carried out after three years. Thereafter systemic reviews are institutionalized for every five years. The review period is designated to take five months. The technical committees responsible for an issue area – ISO/TC 207 for environmental issues – are also primarily responsible for regularly evaluating the standard⁸¹⁴.

In the first step of developing a new standard, the respective technical committee, prepares "a strategic plan for its own specific field of activity", "giving a prospective view on emerging needs"⁸¹⁵. When developing the work program, the TC takes the business environment in which it is operating into account. In the context of preparing the strategic plan, the TC must also "evaluate revision work needed"⁸¹⁶. The strategic plan must be formally agreed upon within the TC 207. The strategic plan is also included in the technical committee's report for review and approved by the technical management board on a regular basis⁸¹⁷.

^{809 &}lt;a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/iso_catalogue/management_and_leadership_standards/environmental_management/iso_14000_essentials.htm">http://www.iso.org/iso/iso_catalogue/management_and_leadership_standards/environmental_management/iso_14000_essentials.htm
March 15, 2011

^{810 &}lt;a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/iso_catalogue/management_and_leadership_standards/environmental_management/iso_14001_2000_and_smes.htm">http://www.iso.org/iso/iso_catalogue/management_and_leadership_standards/environmental_management/iso_14001_2000_and_smes.htm March 16, 2011

⁸¹¹ http://www.iso.org/iso/iso_catalogue/management_and_leadership_standards/environmental_management/iso_14001_2000_and_smes.htm March 16, 2011

⁸¹² ISO/TC 207 Environmental Management ISO/TC 207 N932 2009: 1

^{813 &}lt;a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/iso_catalogue/management_and_leadership_standards/environmental_management.htm">http://www.iso.org/iso/iso_catalogue/management_and_leadership_standards/environmental_management.htm March 15, 2011

^{814 &}lt;a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/standards_development/technical_committees.htm">http://www.iso.org/iso/standards_development/technical_committees.htm March 16, 2011

⁸¹⁵ ISO/IEC Directives, Part 1 2004: 19

⁸¹⁶ ISO/IEC Directives, Part 1 2004: 19

⁸¹⁷ ISO/IEC Directives, Part 1 2004: 19

The actual project stages in the ISO standard development process commence first after the strategic plan has been passed. The project stages comprise five stages; preliminary stage, proposal stage, preparatory stage, committee stage and enquiry stage⁸¹⁸. The proposal stage refers to the proposal of a new item in form of a new standard, a new part of an existing standard, revision of an existing standard or part, an amendment to an existing standard or part, or a technical specification or a publicly available specification⁸¹⁹.

What are the evaluation procedures for the ISO/TC 207 global standard?

- regular evaluation through autonomous body
- ✓ regular evaluation through management, members and stakeholders
- "spontaneous" evaluation through management, members and stakeholders

7.3.2 Actors responsible for initiating revision of the ISO/TC 207 global standard

In the ISO system, stakeholders can also influence the introduction of a new standard or the initiation of its revision.

Proposals for new work items can be made by a national body, i.e. an ISO member body, the secretariat of the ISO/TC 207 or respective subcommittees, another technical committee or subcommittee, an organization in liaison, the technical management board or one of its advisory groups, and the chief Executive officer⁸²⁰. The Business Council for Sustainable Development e.g. induced the ISO to create an environmental management standard resulting in the ISO 14000 series.

In the case of systemic reviews of ISO standards, the secretariat of the responsible committee, here the TC 207 secretariat is responsible for formally initiating the review process at the specified time. The ISO central secretariat takes this task upon itself if the TC secretariat fails to do so. Reviews can also be initiated at the request of one or more national body, or at the request of the ISO chief executive officer⁸²¹. Stakeholders are indirectly included in the process via their representation in the respective ISO national member body.

In the context of the ISO as a whole, the development of new standards is initiated in response to sectors and stakeholders that express a clearly established need for them. An industry sector or other stakeholder group will communicate its requirement for a standard to the ISO as a whole which then proposes the new work item to the relevant ISO technical committee developing standards in that area. New work items may also be proposed by organizations in liaison with such committees. When work items do not relate to existing committees, proposals may also be made by ISO members to set up new technical committees to cover new fields of activity⁸²². In case the work item does not demand for the installment of a permanent or long term technical committee but rather of a one time working group *project committees* are established for the cause. Project committees work according to the same principles and rules as the technical committees but are not allowed to approve new work and are disbanded once the international standard for which it was established is published⁸²³.

⁸¹⁸ ISO/IEC Directives, Part 1 2004: 20

⁸¹⁹ ISO/IEC Directives, Part 1 2004: 23

⁸²⁰ ISO/IEC Directives, Part 1 2004: 23

⁸²¹ $\,$ ISO/IEC Directives, Supplement – Procedures specific to ISO 2011: 8

^{822 &}lt;a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/about/how_iso_develops_standards.htm">http://www.iso.org/iso/about/how_iso_develops_standards.htm March 16, 2011

⁸²³ http://www.iso.org/iso/standards_development/technical_committees.htm March 16, 2011

Who can initiate revisions of the ISO/TC 207 global standard?

- only scheme management
- also members
- ✓ also stakeholders

7.3.3 Actors responsible for preparing the ISO/TC 207 global standard

The ISO/TC 207 members are responsible for preparing the standards constituting ISO 14000. Stakeholders are represented through the ISO member bodies.

The ISO Technical Committee 207 is responsible for developing standards on environmental management systems, greenhouse gas accounting and verification, environmental auditing, environmental labeling, life-cycle assessment, and environmental performance evaluation. The most recent work of ISO/TC 207 relates to issues such as carbon footprint quantification⁸²⁴. From the start ISO/TC 207 cooperated closely with ISO/TC 176 responsible for ISO 9000 quality management. The actors participating in ISO/TC 207 come from broad and diverse backgrounds including national delegations from over 100 countries⁸²⁵.

Generally, for developing new ISO standards, experts are drawn upon on loan from the industrial, technical and business sectors which have asked for the standards and which subsequently put them to use. Thus, these experts constitute stakeholders and include ISO members. "These experts may be joined by other stakeholders such as representatives of government agencies, testing laboratories, consumer associations and academia, and by nongovernmental or other stakeholder organizations that have a specific interest in the issues addressed in the standards"⁸²⁶. In regards to the *Knowledge base of standards*, academia has criticized that "an ideal, rather than the findings of scholarly research, has been established as a standard and [...] what laymen are currently saying, rather than what managers are actually doing, has been formally codified"⁸²⁷.

On a more general level in the ISO, a number of policy development committees exist in order to provide strategic guidance for the standards' development work on cross-sectoral aspects under the council. They are: the committee on conformity assessment; committee on consumer policy, and the committee on developing country matters. The policy development committees are open to all member bodies and correspondent members⁸²⁸.

Who is preparing the content of the ISO/TC 207 global standard?

- technical bodies of external experts
- scheme management
- √ members and stakeholders

⁸²⁴ ISO Environmental Management 2009: 8

⁸²⁵ ISO Environmental Management 2009: 4

⁸²⁶ ISO Environmental Management 2009: 2

⁸²⁷ Furusten 2000: 84

^{828 &}lt;a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/about/governance_and_operations.htm">http://www.iso.org/iso/about/governance_and_operations.htm March 16, 2011

7.3.4 Stakeholder consultation on the ISO/TC 207 global standard

Stakeholder consultation in the ISO is institutionalized and is open to selected stakeholders.

The respective technical committees, in the context of the ISO 14000 family ISO/TC 207, hold annual meetings serving also as a forum for stakeholder consultation. 2009, ISO/TC 207 held its 16th annual plenary meeting. 250 participants from 45 member bodies and eleven liaison organizations convened for the event, held in Cairo, Egypt, hosted by the Egyptian Organization for Standardization⁸²⁹.

The *ISO technical enquiry* is a public comment phase also part of stakeholder consultation on the ISO global standard⁸³⁰. It is one out of five stages constituting the ISO standard development process. The draft of the ISO global standard in development is circulated for enquiry – once or more times – for a voting period of two respectively five months depending on the significance of the changes to the document. The ISO has a special form, *Form 13*, for submitting the revised standard to the ISO central secretariat including "a detailed indication of the decisions taken for each comment" ⁸³¹.

Stakeholders are involved in the development of the ISO standards on a national level via their national ISO member bodies. All ISO members are invited to respond to reviews of an ISO standard⁸³². As a general rule for the ISO and its technical committees such as the ISO/TC 207, "the ISO member bodies are ultimately responsible for communication in their respective countries"833. ISO organizes consultation with stakeholders on the basis of the national delegation principle. National delegations are required to bring to the work of ISO/ TC 207 national consensus derived from a process of consultation with interested parties and stakeholders in each country⁸³⁴. The strategic plan for the current five-year period 2011 – 2015 outlines several actions related to stakeholder consultation. They constitute guidelines for the member bodies on how to provide for broad and relevant stakeholder inclusion in their national countries in the process of standard development⁸³⁵. The first of the actions entailed in the chapter holds, "[i]dentify, develop and promote best practice for effective guidance and monitoring tools that assist ISO members and liaisons in engaging stakeholders from each of the relevant stakeholder groups"836. Delegating stakeholder consultation primarily to the authority of the national member standardization body has the consequence that the quality of the stakeholder consultation process of the ISO as a whole depends on the motivation of the individual national members. To counteract the contingency of national members or liaison organizations disrespecting the ISO principle of stakeholder participation entailed in its Code of Ethics⁸³⁷, ISO issued two publications on guidance for enhancing stakeholder consultation in the process of standard development within liaison organizations and respectively the national standardizing bodies in 2010⁸³⁸. Besides reviewing the current situation, another core task of the process evaluation group established for the exercise relates precisely to assessing the stakeholder consultation processes carried out within the national members and liaison organizations⁸³⁹. The evaluation brought about several principles and respective guidance relating to stakeholder engagement for approved ISO projects, stakeholder engagement and consensus decision-making on ISO work, participation at ISO standards development meetings, and the establishment and operations of internal mirror committees⁸⁴⁰.

```
R29 ISO/TC 207 Environmental Management ISO/TC 207 N932 2009: 1
R30 ISO/TC 207 Draft BP – Version 3-2005-06-28: 2
R31 ISO/IEC Directives, Supplement – Procedures specific to ISO 2011: 7 – 8
R32 ISO/IEC Directives, Supplement – Procedures specific to ISO 2011: 8
R33 http://www.tc207.org/faq.asp?Question=13 April 21, 2011
R34 ISO Environmental Management 2009: 5
R35 ISO Strategic Plan 2011–2015: ch. 4
R36 ISO Strategic Plan 2011–2015: ch. 4
R37 ISO 2004 Code of Ethics
R38 http://www.iso.org/iso/free_pubs#STANDARDS_DEVELOPMENT March 17, 2011
R39 ISO 2010 Guidance for ISO Liaison Organizations
R40 ISO 2010 Guidance for ISO Liaison Organizations
```

The annual general assembly can also serve as a forum for stakeholder consultation. Direct participation in this convention is albeit limited to the ISO principal officers and delegates nominated by the member bodies. Correspondent members and subscriber members may attend as observers. The agenda of the meeting includes actions related to the ISO annual report, the *strategic plan* with financial implications, and the treasurer's annual financial status report on the ISO central secretariat⁸⁴¹.

How is the process of stakeholder consultation organized?

- ad hoc: not institutionalized
- ✓ institutionalized, open to selected stakeholders
- institutionalized, open to all interested stakeholders

7.3.5 Final decision-making on the ISO/TC 207 global standard

Final decisions on the standard are made by voting among the members of the ISO/TC 207.

A decision upon a new work item proposal for further development into a new ISO global standard can be taken either by correspondence or at a meeting of a technical committee or subcommittee. In case the decision is taken by correspondence votes must be returned within three months after circulation of the proposal. A simple majority of the participating members of the technical committee or subcommittee voting is necessary for approval of the new work item proposal⁸⁴². The ISO technical committee verifies, among other criteria, the "global relevance" of the proposed item – this means that it responds to an international need and is suitable for implementation on a broad basis worldwide. ISO offers guidance on how to evaluate the global relevance of a proposed standard⁸⁴³.

Once a new work item has been decided upon and further developed in a new ISO standard the process of standard development concludes with the final phase of formally approving the resulting draft international standard. Two-thirds approval of the ISO/TC members participating actively in the standards development process as well as 75% approval of all ISO full members with the right of vote are necessary for publishing the agreed text as an ISO international standard. Subsequently, in ISO final decisions on developing certain standards are made by the members of the technical committee responsible for developing the standard as well as by the member bodies of the overall organization. This had been considered "a double level of consensus – among market players and experts at the drafting stages of the standards, and among countries at the formal voting stages of the standards" but has lately been subject to critique resulting in an evaluation of the respective processes⁸⁴⁴.

How are final decisions on the ISO/TC 207 global standard made?

- near consensus among members
- ✓ voting among members
- decision by scheme management (board decision)

^{841 &}lt;a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/about/governance_and_operations.htm">http://www.iso.org/iso/about/governance_and_operations.htm March 16, 2011

⁸⁴² ISO/IEC Directives, Part 1 2004: 24

⁸⁴³ http://www.iso.org/iso/standards_development/governance_of_technical_work/global_relevance_policy.htm March 16, 2011

⁸⁴⁴ ISO 2010 Guidance for ISO Liaison Organizations

7.4 Conformity assessment in the context of the ISO/TC 207 global standard

7.4.1 Auditing in the context of the ISO/TC 207 global standard

In the context of ISO, auditing is carried out by independent third party bodies outside of the international standardizing body.

On ISO's own account, certification, by definition, "refers to the issuing of written assurance (the certificate) by an *independent external body* that it has audited a management system and verified that it conforms to the requirements specified in the standard" (emphasis added)⁸⁴⁵. Furthermore, ISO 19011 defines an audit "as a systematic, independent and documented process for obtaining *audit evidence* and evaluating it objectively [...]"⁸⁴⁶. Auditing and certification of ISO's management systems are carried out independently of ISO by more than 2,500 certification bodies issuing certificates under their own responsibility and not under ISO's name⁸⁴⁷. "ISO has no authority to control their activities"⁸⁴⁸. On the ground, ISO does not influence the respective company's choice of certification body. Notwithstanding this, ISO has extended its responsibility to the process of conformity assessment by developing guidelines for auditing environmental and respectively quality management systems in the common standard ISO 19011:2002 *guidelines for quality and/or environmental management systems auditing*⁸⁴⁹. The document serves as guidance for auditors and certification bodies and relates to principles of auditing, managing audit programs, the conduct of audits and to the competence of auditors⁸⁵⁰.

The ISO defines itself solely as a standard setting body, elements relating to the process of conformity assessment lie beyond its reach and responsibility⁸⁵¹. This applies even more so for the ISO technical committees like the ISO/TC 207. The ISO itself does not carry out audits of environmental management systems nor does it issue certificates. ISO's activities are limited to operations relating to "developing, maintaining and publishing the ISO 9000 and ISO 14000 families of standards" 852.

Certification of the ISO 14001:2004 based environmental management system is voluntary and not required by the standard itself. Nevertheless, the ISO managerial standards emphasize the importance of audits as a management tool for monitoring and verifying effective implementation⁸⁵³. Despite it lying outside of ISO's direct responsibility, ISO pro-actively markets the process of conformity assessment, "[c]onformity to, and assessment based on, International Standards give confidence and facilitate access to world markets" and encourages companies to employ the process within its standard implementation through the ISO committee on conformity assessment⁸⁵⁴.

 $[\]underline{\texttt{845}} \ \underline{\texttt{http://www.iso.org/iso/iso_catalogue/management_and_leadership_standards/certification.htm} \ March \ 17, 2011$

 $^{\,}$ 846 $\,$ ISO UNIDO The Conformity Assessment Toolbox: 37 $\,$

^{847 &}lt;a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/iso_catalogue/management_and_leadership_standards/certification/iso_does_not_carry_out_certification.htm">http://www.iso.org/iso/iso_catalogue/management_and_leadership_standards/certification/iso_does_not_carry_out_certification.htm

March 15, 2011

^{848 &}lt;a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/iso_catalogue/management_and_leadership_standards/certification/iso_does_not_carry_out_certification.htm">http://www.iso.org/iso/iso_catalogue/management_and_leadership_standards/certification/iso_does_not_carry_out_certification.htm

March 15, 2011

⁸⁴⁹ http://www.iso.org/iso/search.htm?qt=ISO+19011&published=on&active_tab=standards_March_17, 2011

⁸⁵⁰ ISO Environmental Management 2009: 6

^{851 &}lt;a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/iso_catalogue/management_and_leadership_standards/certification/iso_does_not_carry_out_certification.htm">http://www.iso.org/iso/iso_catalogue/management_and_leadership_standards/certification/iso_does_not_carry_out_certification.htm

March 15, 2011

^{852 &}lt;a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/iso_catalogue/management_and_leadership_standards/certification/iso_does_not_carry_out_certification.htm">http://www.iso.org/iso/iso_catalogue/management_and_leadership_standards/certification/iso_does_not_carry_out_certification.htm

March 15, 2011

⁸⁵³ ISO UNIDO The Conformity Assessment Toolbox: 36

⁸⁵⁴ ISO and Conformity Assessment 2005

Which actor carries out the auditing against the ISO/TC global standard?

- standard setting body on global level (centralized structure)
- standard setting body on regional or national level (federal structure)
- ✓ independent third party

7.4.2 Monitoring actors in the context of the ISO/TC 207 global standard

As with auditing, monitoring compliance of the ISO environmental management standard is carried out by an independent third party.

As with auditing, monitoring also lies beyond ISO's scope of activities which directly relate to the standard setting process. If a client seeks certification, the same stipulations in regards to third party independence in the conformity assessment process described above will apply here also.

Which actor monitors compliance with the ISO/TC global standard?

- standard setting body on global level (centralized structure)
- standard setting body on regional or national level (federal structure)
- ✓ independent third party

7.4.3 Modes of monitoring in the context of the ISO/TC 207 global standard

Evidence of all *determination activities*, i.e. all activities undertaken to develop information regarding conformity such as testing or inspection is required, usually in the form of a report or a *technical file*. Assessing the report is one component of monitoring in ISO⁸⁵⁵.

Which mode of monitoring is institutionalized in the context of the ISO/TC 207 global standard?

- · fire alarm
- police patrol
- · company reporting

7.4.4 Accreditation in the context of the ISO/TC 207 global standard

The ISO does not require accreditation. In the case of accreditation, national accreditation bodies are consulted but these are independent of the standard setting body.

Like certification, accreditation also lies beyond the responsibility of ISO. ISO offers services only relating to standard development and does not offer accreditation services. The enterprise or organization seeking

certification decides individually if it specifically chooses a certification body that is accredited at a national accreditation body. Nevertheless ISO deals with the issue of accreditation and explains the concept: "accreditation, in simple terms, means that a certification body has been officially approved as competent to carry out certification in specified business sectors by a national accreditation body" 656 — not acknowledging the validity of international accreditation agencies. The focus on national accreditation bodies is explained by the weight and autonomy of the individual member bodies each representing one nation-state and their autonomy in deciding upon the question of certification and respectively accreditation. Furthermore, ISO offers recommendations on steps for companies or organizations seeking certification of a management system developed by ISO, such as "to clarify is whether or not the certification body has been accredited and, if so, by whom", or "the fact that a certification body is not accredited does not, by itself, mean that it is not a reputable organization", or "[t]hat said, many certification bodies choose to seek accreditation, even when it is not compulsory, in order to be able to demonstrate an independent confirmation of their competence" 857.

- Who is responsible for accreditation in the context of the ISO/TC 207 global standard?
- standard setting body on global level (centralized structure)
- standard setting body on regional or national level (federal structure)
- ✓ independent third party

7.4.5 Dispute-settlement in the context of the ISO/TC 207 global standard

Dispute-settlement in the ISO can also include adjudication by an independent judicial body.

Like in regards to all aspects of conformity assessment ISO also offers recommendations in regards to dispute settlement. According to ISO's recommendations, in case evidence of conformity is incomplete the report will be returned to the person responsible for the determination activities for him/her to take remedial action⁸⁵⁸. In this case, the company is prompted to make necessary changes in order to achieve conformity⁸⁵⁹. In its recommendations, ISO brings in administrative sanctions as one necessary component in the process of conformity assessment. Furthermore, in case administrative sanctions fail to bring about the desired effects ISO also advances the utilization of courts of law as an ultimate means for bringing about compliance with the standard⁸⁶⁰.

Due to the complete outsourcing of the auditing, monitoring and certification processes beyond the responsibility of the ISO, dispute-settlement will differ depending on the procedures installed in the respective bodies involved in the various stages of conformity assessment.

^{856 &}lt;a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/iso_catalogue/management_and_leadership_standards/certification/choosing_a_certification_body.htm">http://www.iso.org/iso/iso_catalogue/management_and_leadership_standards/certification/choosing_a_certification_body.htm

March 15, 2011

^{857 &}lt;a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/iso_catalogue/management_and_leadership_standards/certification/choosing_a_certification_body.htm">http://www.iso.org/iso/iso_catalogue/management_and_leadership_standards/certification/choosing_a_certification_body.htm

March 15, 2011

⁸⁵⁸ ISO UNIDO The Conformity Assessment Toolbox: 41

 $^{859\;}$ ISO UNIDO The Conformity Assessment Toolbox: 42

⁸⁶⁰ ISO UNIDO The Conformity Assessment Toolbox: 113

How is dispute-settlement organized in the ISO?

- only bargaining between disputants
- also mediation by "political" body
- ✓ also adjudication by independent judicial body

7.4.6 Means of enforcement in the context of the ISO/TC 207 global standard

The ISO encourages sanctions as a means of enforcement in the case of non-compliance.

ISO provides for extensive information and guidance on how compliance should be attained, verified and respectively on how eventual non-compliance can be dealt with. ISO brings in sanctions as a core element of conformity assessment in the context of legal metrology. In regards to the legal metrology regime, the "national measurement system", central to the process of conformity assessment ISO states, "will only be as effective as the way in which sanctions are applied" (emphasis added). Administrative *sanctions* are first and foremost implied.

How is non-compliance dealt with?

- no means of enforcement
- withdrawal of privileges
- √ sanctions

8 REFERENCES

Scholarly references

AULD, G.; GULBRANDSEN, L. H.; McDERMOTT, C. L. (2008): Certification Schemes and the Impacts on Forests and Forestry. In: Annual Review of Environment and Resources, volume 33: 187 – 211.

Auty, R. M. (2007): Natural Resources, Capital Accumulation and the Resource Curse. Special Issue on Environmental Accounting: Introducing the System of Integrated Environmental and Economic Accounting 2003 – SEEA-2003 S.I. In: Ecological Economics, volume 61, issue 4: 627 – 634.

AUTY, R. M.; LE BILLON, P. (2007): Managing Revenues from Natural Resources and Aid. In: Oli Brown (Hg.): Trade, Aid and Security. An Agenda for Peace and Development. London; Sterling, VA: Earthscan, 158 – 189.

Bartley, T. (2003): Certifying Forests and Factories: States, Social Movements, and the Rise of Private Regulation in the Apparel and Forest Products Fields. In: Politics and Society, volume 31, issue 3: 433 – 464.

Bartley, T. (2007a): How Foundations Shape Social Movements: The Construction of an Organizational Field and the Rise of Forest Certification. In: Social Problems, volume 54, issue 3: 229 – 255.

Bartley, T. (2007b): Institutional Emergence in an Era of Globalization: The Rise of Transnational Private Regulation of Labor and Environmental Conditions. In: American Journal of Sociology, volume 113, issue 2: 297 – 351.

Basedau, M.; Lay, J. (2005): Conceptualising the "Resource Curse" in Sub-Saharan Africa: Affected Areas and Transmission Channels. In: Basedau, M.; Mehler, A. (eds.): Resource Politics in Sub-Saharan Africa. Hamburg African Studies, 14: 9 – 24.

Bernstein, S.; Cashore, B. (2004): Non-State Global Governance: Is Forest Certification a Legitimate Alternative to a Global Forest Convention? In: Kirton, J. J.; Trebilcock, M. J. (eds.): Hard Choices, Soft Law; Voluntary Standards in Global Trade, Environment, and Social Governance. Aldershot [i.a.], Ashgate: 33 – 63.

Boström, M.; Klintman, M. (2008): Eco-Standards, Product Labelling and Green Consumerism. Houndmills [et al.]: Palgrave Macmillan.

Cashore, B.; Auld, G.; Bernstein, S.; McDermott, C. (2007): Can Non-state Governance 'Ratchet Up' Global Environmental Standards? Lessons from the Forest Sector. In: Review of European Community & International Environmental Law, volume 16, issue 2: 158 – 172.

CONROY, M. E. (2007): Branded! How the Certification Revolution is Transforming Global Corporations. Gabriola Island, New Society Publishers.

CORREIA, D. (2010): The Certified Maine North Woods, Where Money Grows from Trees. Critical Review Forum: Behind Enemy Lines: Reflections on the Practice and Production of Oppositional Research. In: Geoforum, volume 41, issue 1:66-73.

DINGWERTH, K. (2007): The New Transnationalism: Transnational Governance and Democratic Legitimacy. Basingstoke, Hampshire: Palgrave Macmillan.

DINGWERTH, K. (2008a): North-South Parity in Global Governance: The Affirmative Procedures of the Forest Stewardship Council. In: Global Governance, volume 14: 53 – 71.

DINGWERTH, K. (2008b): Private Transnational Governance and the Developing World: A Comparative Perspective. In: International Studies Quarterly, volume 52, issue 3: 607 – 634.

DINGWERTH, K.; PATTBERG, PH. (2009): World Politics and Organizational Fields: The Case of Transnational Sustainability Governance. In: European Journal of International Relations, volume 15, issue 4: 707 – 743.

Domask, J. (2003): From Boycotts to Global Partnership: NGOs, the Private Sector, and the Struggle to Protect the World's Forests. In: Doh, J. P; Teegen, H. (eds.): Globalization and NGOs: Transforming Business, Government, and Society. Westport, Connecticut, Praeger: 157 – 185.

EDEN, S.; BEAR, CH. (2010): Third-Sector Global Environmental Governance, Space and Science: Comparing Fishery and Forestry Certification. In: Journal of Environmental Policy and Planning, volume 12, issue 1: 83 - 106

Freer-Smith, P.; Carnus, J. M. (2008): The Sustainable Management and Protection of Forests: Analysis of the Current Position Globally. In: AMBIO, volume 37, issue 4: 254 – 262.

FURUSTEN, St. (2000): The Knowledge Base of Standards. In: Brunsson, N.; Jacobsson, B. (eds.): A World of Standards. Oxford: Oxford University Press: 71 – 84.

GARSTEN, CH.; LINDH DE MONTOYA, M. (2008): Introduction: Examining the Politics of Transparency. In: Garsten, Ch.; Lindh de Montoya, M. (eds.): Transparency in a New Global Order; Unveiling Organizational Visions. Cheltenham [et al.], Elgar: 1-

GOOCH, T. M. (2008): Conflict Diamonds or Illicit Diamonds: Should the Difference Matter to the Kimberley Process Certification Scheme? In: Natural Resources Journal, volume 48, issue 1: 189 – 214.

GOYERT, W.; SAGARIN, R.; ANNALA, J. (2010): The Promise and Pitfalls of Marine Stewardship Council Certification. In: Marine Policy, volume 34, issue 4: 1103 – 1109.

GROSSMAN, E.; LUQUE, E.; MUNIESA, F. (2008): Economies through Transparency. In: Garsten, Ch.; Lindh de Montoya, M. (eds.): Transparency in a New Global Order; Unveiling Organizational Visions. Cheltenham [u.a.]: Elgar: 97 – 121.

Guenéau, St. (2009): Certification as a New Private Global Forest Governance System: the Regulatory Potential of the Forest Stewardship Council. In: Peters, A.; Koechlin, L.; Förster, T. (eds.): Non-State Actors as Standard Setters. Cambridge, Cambridge Univ. Press: 379 – 408.

HAUFLER, V. (2009): The Kimberley Process Certification Scheme: An Innovation in Global Governance and Conflict Prevention. In: Journal of Business Ethics, volume 89, supplement issue 4: 403 – 416.

HAUFLER, V. (2010): Disclosure as Governance: The Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative and Resource Management in the Developing World. In: Global Environmental Politics, volume 10, issue 3: 53 – 73.

HENS, L.; NATH, BH. (eds.) (2005): The World Summit on Sustainable Development. The Johannesburg Conference. Dordrecht, Springer.

HILSON, G.; CLIFFORD, M. J. (2010): A "Kimberley Protest": Diamond Mining, Export Sanctions, and Poverty in Akwatia, Ghana. In: African Affairs, volume 109, issue 436: 431 – 450.

HILSON, G.; MACONACHIE, R. (2009): "Good Governance" and the Extractive Industries in Sub-Saharan Africa. In: Mineral Processing and Extractive Metallurgy Review: An International Journal, volume 30, issue 1: 52 – 100.

HUGHES, T. (2006): Conflict Diamonds and the Kimberley Process: Mission Accomplished or Mission Impossible. In: South African Journal of International Affairs, volume 13, issue 2: 115 – 130.

JOJARTH, CH. (2009): Crime, War and Global Trafficking. Designing International Cooperation. Cambridge (et al.), Cambridge University Press.

KLOOSTER, D. (2006): Environmental Certification of Forests in Mexico: The Political Ecology of a Nongovernmental Market Intervention. In: Annals of the Association of American Geographers, volume 96, issue 3: 541 – 565

KOECHLIN, L.; CALLAND, R. (2009): Standard Setting at the Cutting Edge: an Evidence-Based Typology for Multi-Stakeholder Initiatives. In: Peters, A.; Koechlin, L.; Förster, T. (eds.): Non-State Actors as Standard Setters. Cambridge, Cambridge University Press: 84 – 112.

Kolstad, I.; Wiig, A. (2009): Is Transparency the Key to Reducing Corruption in Resource-Rich Countries? In: World Development, volume 37, issue 3: 521 – 532.

LE BILLON, Ph. (2001): The Political Ecology of War: Natural Resources and Armed Conflicts. In: Political Geography, volume 20, issue 5: 561 – 584.

LE BILLON, Ph. (2006-2007): Securing Transparency: Armed Conflicts and the Management of Natural Resource Wars. In: International Journal, volume 62: 93 –

OVERDEVEST, CH. (2010): Comparing Forest Certification Schemes: the Case of Ratcheting Standards in the Forest Sector. In: Socio-Economic Review, volume 8, issue 1: 47 – 76.

Paes, W.-Ch. (2005): "Conflict Diamonds" to "Clean Diamonds": The Development of the Kimberley Process Certification Scheme. In: Basedau, M.; Mehler, A. (eds.): Resource Politics in sub-Saharan Africa. Hamburg African studies, 14: 305 – 323.

PATTBERG, Ph. (2006): Private Governance and the South: Lessons from Global Forest Politics. In: Third World Quarterly, issue 27, issue 4: 579 – 593.

Perez, O.; Amichai-Hamburger, Y.; Shterental, T. (2009): The Dynamic of Corporate Self-Regulation: ISO 14001, Environmental Commitment, and Organizational Citizenship Behavior. In: Law and Society Review, volume 43, issue 3: 593 – 629.

Ross, M. L. (2001): Does Oil Hinder Democracy? In: World Politics, volume 53: 325 – 361.

Sachs, J. D.; Warner, A. M. (December 1995): Natural Resource Abundance and Economic Growth, National Bureau of Economic Research. Cambridge, Massachusetts (NBER Working Paper Series, 5398).

Schepers, D. (2010): Challenges to Legitimacy at the Forest Stewardship Council. In: Journal of Business Ethics, volume 92, issue 2: 279 – 290.

Schiertz, M. (2009): Unternehmen oder Staat? Der Beitrag der Corporate Social Responsibility zur Transparenz in der Rohstoffindustrie. In: Bleischwitz, Raimund (ed.): Globale Rohstoffpolitik. Herausforderungen für Sicherheit, Entwicklung und Umwelt. Baden-Baden, Nomos: 113 – 125.

SMILLIE, I. (2005): What Lessons from the Kimberley Process Certification Scheme? In: Ballentine, K.; Nitzschke, H. (eds.): Profiting from Peace; Managing the Resource Dimension of Civil War. Boulder, Colorado [et al.], Lynne Rienner: 47 - 67.

TAMM HALLSTRÖM, K. (2000): Organizing the Process of Standardization. In: Brunsson, N.; Jacobsson, B. (eds.): A World of Standards. Oxford, Oxford University Press: 85 – 99.

Tamm Hallström, K.; Boström, M. (2010): Transnational Multi-Stakeholder Standardization. Organizing Fragile Non-State Authority. Cheltenham [et al.]: Edward Elgar Publishing.

THIES, W.; PFEIL, E. VON; REICHE, M. et al. (2006): Forest Strategy of German Development Cooperation with Africa. In: International Forestry Review, volume 8, issue 1: 167 – 176.

Vogel, D. (2005): The Market for Virtue: The Potential and Limits of Corporate Social Responsibility. Washington, DC: Brookings Institution Press.

Vogel, D. (2009): The Private Regulation of Global Corporate Conduct. In: Mattli, W.; Woods, Ng. (eds.): The Politics of Global Regulation. Princeton, New Jersey, Princeton University Press: 151 – 188.

ZIMMER, M. (2010): Oil Companies in Nigeria: Emerging Good Practice or Still Fuelling Conflict? In: Deitelhoff, N.; Wolf, K. D. (eds.): Corporate Social Responsibility? Corporate Governance Contributions to Peace and Security in Zones of Conflict. Houndmills [et al.], Palgrave Macmillan: 58 – 84.

ZULU, L. C.; WILSON, S. A. (2009): Sociospatial Geographies of Civil War in Sierra Leone and the New Global Diamond Order: Is the Kimberley Process the Panacea? In: Environment and Planning C, volume 27, issue 6: 1107 – 1130.

Gray literature

Advancing EITI in the Mining Sector 2009, http://eiti.org/files/MINING%20Compressed.pdf last consulted April 30, 2011.

AGUILAR, S.; ASHTON, M.; COSBEY, A.; PONTE, ST. (2009): Environmental Goods and Services. Negotiations at the WTO: Lessons from Multilateral Environmental Agreements and Ecolabels for Breaking the Impasse. Draft for discussion, International Institute for Sustainable Development, Winnipeg, Manitoba.

Bundesverband der Deutschen Industrie (2006): Bericht zur Verfügbarkeitssituation metallischer Rohstoffe und ihren Auswirkungen auf die deutsche Wirtschaft, BDI: Berlin.

Business Plan ISO/TC 207 2005, http://isotc.iso.org/livelink/livelink/fetch/2000/2122/687806/ ISO_TC_207_Environmental_management_.pdf?nodeid=999214&vernum=-2 last consulted April 18, 2011.

DIN EN ISO 14001:2009-11 Umweltmanagementsysteme – Anforderungen mit Anleitung zur Anwendung (ISO 14001; 2004 + Cor 1:2009); Deutsche und Englische Fassung EN ISO 14001:2004 + AC 2009, eingesehen im Deutschen Patent- und Markenamt München, 24.02.2012.

EIGEN, P. (2006): Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative. In: Oil for Development: Proceedings of the Panel Discussion on Getting Poor by Oil? February, Berlin: 57 – 63.

EITI Constituency Guidelines 2011, http://eiti.org/files/Process%20for%20EITI%20Constituency %20Selection%202011.pdf last consulted April 29, 2011.

EITI Policy Note #3 2008, http://eiti.org/files/document/PolicyNoteNo03.pdf last consulted April 29, 2011.

EITI Rules 2010, http://eiti.org/files/2010-02-24%20EITI%20Rules.pdf last consulted April 17, 2011.

EITI Rules 2011, http://eiti.org/files/EITI Rules 2011.pdf last consulted April 17, 2011.

EITI Workshop Report 2003, http://collections.europarchive.org/tna/20070701080507 /http://www.dfid.gov.uk/pubs/files/eitiworkshopreportfeb03.pdf last consulted April 28, 2011.

FLO Annual Report 2006/2007, http://www.fairtrade.net/fileadmin/user_upload/content /Final_FLO_AR 2007 03.pdf last consulted April 30, 2011.

FLO Annual Report 2009/2010, http://www.fairtrade.net/fileadmin/user_upload/content/ 2009/resources/ FLO Annual-Report-2009 komplett double web.pdf last consulted April 30, 2011.

FLO Development of Fairtrade Standards 2011, http://www.fairtrade.net/fileadmin/user_upload/content/2009/standards/documents/20110110 SOP Development Fairtrade Standards.pdf last consulted March 24, 2011.

FLO Fairtrade and Fairmined Standard for Gold 2010, http://www.fairtrade.net/fileadmin/ user_upload/content/2009/standards/documents/Gold_Standard_Mar2010_EN.pdf last consulted April 29, 2011.

FLO Geographical Scope 2009 http://www.fairtrade.net/fileadmin/user_upload/content/ 2009/standards/documents/Aug09 Geographical scope.pdf last consulted April 29, 2011.

FLO List of all FLO Standards 2011, http://www.fairtrade.net/fileadmin/user_upload/content/ 2009/standards/documents/2011-03-15_LIST_OF_FLO_Standards.pdf last consulted April 30, 2011.

FLO-Cert Appeal and Review 2010, http://www.flo-cert.net/_admin/userfiles/file/Downloads/QM %20 Appeal&Review%20SOP%2025%20en.pdf last consulted April 29, 2011.

FLO-Cert Certification 2011, http://www.flo-cert.net/_admin/userfiles/file/CERT%20Certification %20 SOP%2021%20en.pdf last consulted April 29, 2011.

FLO-Cert Complaints 2010, http://www.flo-cert.net/_admin/userfiles/file/Downloads/QM% 20Complaints%20 SOP%2014%20en.pdf last consulted April 29, 2011.

Friendship Among Equals 1997, http://www.iso.org/iso/work.pdf last consulted April 29, 2011.

FSC Annual Report 2005, http://www.fsc.org/fileadmin/web-data/public/document_center/publications/Annual Reports/Annual Report 2005.pdf last consulted April 30, 2011.

FSC Annual Report 2007, http://www.fsc.org/fileadmin/web-data/public/document_center/publications/Annual Reports/Annual Report 2007.pdf last consulted April 30, 2011.

FSC Annual Report 2008, http://www.fsc.org/fileadmin/web-data/public/document_center/publications/Annual Reports/Annual Report 2008.pdf last consulted April 19, 2011.

FSC Annual Report 2009, http://www.fsc.org/fileadmin/web-data/public/annual_report_2009/ index.html last consulted April 30, 2011.

FSC By-Laws 2009, http://www.fsc.org/fileadmin/web-data/public/document_center/institutional _documents/1_1_FSC_By-Laws_2009.pdf last consulted April 30, 2011.

FSC Development and Approval of FSC Social and Environmental International Standards 2006, http://www.fsc.org/fileadmin/web-data/public/document_center/Standard_development/FSC_PRO_01_001_V2_0_EN_Development_and_Approval_of_FSC_Social_and_Environmental_Int_Stds.pdf last consulted April 30, 2011.

FSC Dispute Resolution System 2009, http://www.fsc.org/fileadmin/web-data/public/document_center/international_FSC_policies/standards/FSC-STD-01-005_V1-0_EN_Dispute_resolution_system_01.pdf last consulted April 30, 2011.

FSC Financial Report 2003, http://www.fsc.org/fileadmin/web-data/public/document_center /publications/ Annual Reports/Financial Report 2003.pdf last consulted April 30, 2011.

FSC Financial Report 2004, http://www.fsc.org/fileadmin/web-data/public/document_center /publications/ Annual_Reports/Financial_Report_2004.pdf last consulted April 30, 2011.

FSC General requirements for FSC accredited certification bodies – application of ISO/IEC Guide 65: 1996, http://www.fsc.org/fileadmin/web-data/public/document_center/accreditation_documents/ certification_bodies/FSC-STD-20-001 V3-0 EN General Requirements for FSC CBs.pdf last consulted April 30, 2011.

FSC Glossary of Terms 2009, http://www.fsccanada.org/docs/fsc-std-01-002%20.pdf?LanguageID= EN-US last consulted April 30, 2011.

FSC Membership List 2009, http://www.fsc.org/fileadmin/web-data/public/document_center/ institutional_documents/FSC_Membership_List_-_ENG.pdf last consulted April 14, 2011.

FSC Principles and Criteria 1996, http://www.fsc.org/fileadmin/web-data/public/document_center /international_FSC_policies/standards/FSC_STD_01_001_V4_0_EN_FSC_Principles_and_Criteria.pdf last consulted April 30, 2011.

FSC Standard for Chain of Custody Certification 2004, http://www.fsc.org/fileadmin/web-data/public/document_center/international_FSC_policies/standards/FSC_STD_40_004_V2_0_EN_Standard_for_CoC_Certification 2008 01.pdf last consulted April 30, 2011.

FSC Statutes 2009, http://www.fsc.org/fileadmin/web-data/public/document_center/institutional_ documents/1 3 FSC Statutes 2009.pdf last consulted April 30, 2011.

Garrett, N. (2008): Certified Trading Chains in Mineral Production & the Extractive Industry Transparency Initiative. Synergies and Scope for Collaboration, Resource Consulting Service: London.

GRI Annual Report 2008/2009, http://www.globalreporting.org/NR/rdonlyres/E8B6ED9E-1A29-4154-A6DA-F14E6F71A2C9/3830/GRI Year In Review 241209.pdf last consulted April 30, 2011.

GRI Board Resolutions 2002, http://www.globalreporting.org/NR/rdonlyres/87D87506-55D9-48E7-A027-79127D50BE52/0/2002 GRI Board Resolutions.pdf last consulted April 6, 2011.

GRI G3.1 2000-2011, http://www.globalreporting.org/NR/rdonlyres/660631D6-2A39-4850-9C04-57436E4768BD/0/G31GuidelinesinclTechnicalProtocolFinal.pdf last consulted April 6, 2011.

GRI Rotation of Stakeholder Council Members 2011, http://www.globalreporting.org/AboutGRI/WhoWeAre/GovernanceBodies/StakeholderCouncil/ last consulted April 18, 2011.

GRI Rules and Procedures for the GRI Stakeholder Council 2009, http://www.globalreporting.org/NR/rdon-lyres/A68B0C2B-1487-4080-81B6-80604925F073/5381/SC_RulesProcedures2009.pdf last consulted April 18, 2011.

GRI Small, Smart and Sustainable 2008, http://www.globalreporting.org/NR/rdonlyres/13865428-9EAC-4EB0-A8E3-A31AA2F5C38C/3473/GRISSSReport.pdf last consulted April 29, 2011.

GRI Sustainability Report 2008/2009, http://www.globalreporting.org/NR/rdonlyres/41AED497-2BB5-4E7A-9D4A-F52B17B36967/0/SR2009FINALNEW.pdf last consulted April 5, 2011.

Guesnet, L.; Müller, M., Schure, J. (2009): Natural Resources in Côte d'Ivoire: Fostering Crisis or Peace? The Cocoa, Diamond, Gold and Oil Sectors, BICC Brief 40.

Implementing the EITI 2008 http://siteresources.worldbank.org/INTOGMC/ Resources/implementing_eiti_final.pdf last consulted April 29, 2011.

ISEAL Emerging Initiatives Module 2 Setting Standards 2007, http://www.isealalliance.org/sites/default/files/E025_ISEAL_Emerging_Initiatives_Module_2.SettingStandards_July07_318KB.pdf last consulted April 30, 2011.

ISEAL Emerging Initiatives Module 3 Models of Verification 2007, http://www.isealalliance.org/sites/default/files/E026_ISEAL_Emerging_Initiatives_Module_3.Verification_July07_315KB.pdf last consulted April 30, 2011.

ISEAL Emerging Initiatives Module 4 Models of Governance 2007, http://www.isealalliance.org/sites/default/files/E027_ISEAL_Emerging_Initiatives_Module_4.Governance_July07_524KB.pdf last consulted April 30, 2011.

ISEAL Emerging Initiatives Module 6 Engaging Stakeholders 2007, http://www.isealalliance.org/sites/default/files/E029_ISEAL_Emerging_Initiatives_Module_6_Engaging_Stakeholders_Feb08_318KB.pdf last consulted April 30, 2011.

ISEAL Standard-Setting Code 2010, http://www.isealalliance.org/content/standard-setting-code last consulted April 29, 2011.

ISO 2001, http://www.iso.org/iso/search.htm?qt=statutes&published=on&active_tab=standards last consulted March 16, 2011; http://www.iso.org/iso/about/iso_members/member_bodies.htm March 14, 2011.

ISO 2001, http://www.iso.org/iso/search.htm?qt=statutes&searchSubmit=Search&sort=rel&type=simple&published=on last consulted March 16, 2011.

ISO 2004 Code of Ethics, http://www.iso.org/iso/codeethics 2004-en.pdf last consulted April 30, 2011.

ISO 2010 Guidance for ISO Liaison Organizations, http://www.iso.org/iso/guidance_liaison-organizations.pdf last consulted April 29, 2011.

ISO and Conformity Assessment 2005 http://www.iso.org/iso/search.htm?qt=ISO+19011&published=on&active tab=standards last consulted March 17, 2011.

ISO Annual Report 2009, http://www.iso.org/iso/annual_report_2009.pdf last consulted April 30, 2011.

ISO Environmental Management 2009, http://www.iso.org/iso/theiso14000family_2009.pdf last consulted April 29, 2011.

ISO Strategic Plan 2011-2015, http://www.iso.org/iso/iso_strategic_plan_2011-2015.pdf last consulted April 30, 2011.

ISO UNIDO The Conformity Assessment Toolbox: 37, http://www.iso.org/iso/casco_building-trust.pdf last consulted April 29, 2011.

ISO/IEC Directives, Part 1 2004, http://publicaa.ansi.org/sites/apdl/Documents/Standards %20 Activities/International%20Standardization/ISO/ISO IEC Directives Part1.pdf last consulted April 29, 2011.

ISO/IEC Directives, Supplement – Procedures specific to ISO 2011, http://isotc.iso.org/live-link/livelink/fetch/2000/2122/3146825/4229629/4230450/4230452/Supplement_%2D_Procedures_specific_to_ISO_%28the__ISO_Supplement_%29_2nd_edition_%28PDF_format%29_.pdf?nodeid=10579742&vernum=-2 last consulted April 30, 2011.

ISO/TC 207 Draft BP – Version 3-2005-06-28, http://isotc.iso.org/livelink/livelink/fetch/2000/2122/687806/ ISO_TC_207__Environmental_management_.pdf?nodeid=999214&vernum=-2 last consulted March 17, 2011.

ISO/TC 207 Environmental management ISO/TC 207 N932 2009, http://www.tc207.org/PDF /N932Comm unique_16_207PlenaryCairo.pdf last consulted March 17, 2011.

KPCS Document 2002, http://www.kimberleyprocess.com/home/index en.html last consulted April 29, 2011.

KPCS Final communique – Plenary 2003, http://www.kimberleyprocess.com/ documents/plenary_intersessional meeting en.html last consulted April 30, 2011.

KPCS Final communique – Plenary 2009, http://www.kimberleyprocess.com/ documents/plenary_intersessional_meeting_en.html last consulted April 30, 2011.

KPCS Participation Committee Interim Measures 2008, http://www.kimberleyprocess.com/structure /working_group_en.html#5 last consulted April 30, 2011.

KPCS Rules of Procedure 2003, http://www.kimberleyprocess.com/ structure/working_group_en.html#7 last consulted April 30, 2011.

KPCS Rules of Procedure Amendment 2003 http://www.kimberleyprocess.com/ structure/working_group_en.html#7 last consulted April 29, 2011.

KPCS Terms of Reference Ad hoc Working Group on the Review of the KPCS 2005, http://www.kimberley-process.com/documents/third_year_view_en.html last consulted April 30, 2011.

KPCS Third Year Review 2006 http://www.kimberleyprocess.com/documents/third_year_view_en.html last consulted April 30, 2011.

KPCS WGAAP Terms of Reference 2007, http://www.kimberleyprocess.com/structure /working_group_en.html#7 last consulted April 30, 2011.

MSC Annual Report 2009/2010, http://www.msc.org/documents/msc-brochures/annual-report-archive/MSC_AnnualReview_final_web.pdf/view last consulted March 28, 2011.

MSC Articles of Association, http://www.msc.org/documents/institutional/MSC-Articles-of-association.pdf/view last consulted March 28, 2011.

MSC Fisheries Assessment Methodology 2010, http://www.msc.org/about-us/standards/ methodologies/fam/msc-fishery-assessment-methodology#download-the-fisheries-assessment last consulted March 30, 2011.

MSC Fisheries Certification Methodology 2010, http://www.msc.org/about-us/standards/methodologies/msc-fishery-certification-methodology last consulted March 30, 2011.

MSC Fishery Standard 2010, http://www.msc.org/documents/scheme-documents/msc-standards/ MSC_environmental standard for sustainable fishing.pdf last consulted March 29, 2011.

MSC Joint Marketing 2010, http://www.msc.org/documents/msc-brochures/MSC_Joint_Marketing _Case_ Study EN.pdf/view last consulted April 29, 2011.

MSC Policy Development Cycle Work Plan 2011, http://www.msc.org/documents/consultations/MSC_Policy_Development.pdf last consulted March 29, 2011.

MSC Standard Setting Procedure 2.0, http://www.msc.org/documents/consultations last consulted April 28, 2011.

Partnership Africa Canada Annual Report 2009, http://www.pacweb.org/Documents/ year_in_review/YinR-2009-eng.pdf last consulted April 30, 2011.

Shaxson, N. (2009): Nigeria's Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative. Just a Glorious Audit? Chatham House (the Royal Institute of International Affairs), http://eiti.org/files/NEITI%20 Chatham%20house_0.pdf last consulted April 30, 2011.

United Nations General Assembly resolution A/RES/55/56, http://undemocracy.com/A-RES-55-56.pdf last consulted April 30, 2011.

USGS Minerals Yearbook Ghana 2009, http://minerals.usgs.gov/minerals/pubs/country/2009/myb3-2009-gh. pdf last consulted April 29, 2011.

YATES, J. et al. undated, http://www.iso.org/iso/about/the_iso_story/iso_story_founding.htm last consulted April 29, 2011.



Deutsche Rohstoffagentur in der Bundesanstalt für Geowissenschaften und Rohstoffe (BGR) Federal Institute for Geosciences and Natural Resources Wilhelmstraße 25 – 30 13593 Berlin Germany

Tel: +49 (0)30 36993 – 226 Fax: +49 (0)30 36993 – 100 E-Mail: kontaktbuero-rohstoffe@bgr.de Internet: www.deutsche-rohstoffagentur.de

ISSN: 2193-5319